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DAVID J ROSEWARN   RUDI J ROSINSKI   DARREN A ROSS   DONNY W ROSS JR   GEORGE ROSS   JEFFREY M ROSS   JEFFREY M ROSS   JEVON D ROSS   JOSEPH P ROSS   MICHAEL L ROSS   NEAL C ROSS   RUSSELL S ROSS   TIMOTHY R ROSS   
WILLIAM ROSS   WILLIAM R ROSS   KYLE ROSSALL   MARK ROSSALL   JAMES ROSSER   JENNIFER L ROSSITER   JARED L ROSSMAN   JASON ROSSOTTI   DEREK ROTH   FRED T ROTH   GRANT J ROTH   KENT M ROTH   MICHAEL R ROTH   ROBERT A ROTH   
SKYLER S ROTH   TROY B ROTH   TYLER L ROTH   LAWRENCE EDWARD ROTHELL   ANTHONY L ROTHERHAM   TERRY L ROTHERHAM   GREGORY A ROTHERMICH   PAUL N ROTHFELD   SHARON N ROTROFF   BRENT A ROTTE   ROGER A ROUNDS   
HUNTER GLEN ROUNSAVILLE   BRIAN K ROUNTREE   MICHAEL RAY ROUNTREE   ERICK S ROUSE   ETHEL MARIA ROUSE   KEVIN S ROUSE   STEVEN DELOYAL ROUSE   ELIZABETH A ROUSH   TODD ROUSH   GAETAN ROUSSEL   MARCEL ROUSSEL   
NORBERT ROUSSEL   MARCEL ROUSSELLE   JAMES C ROVITO   NORMAN J ROWAN   DAVID W ROWDEN   JOHN ROWDEN   CHRIS ROWE   JASON L ROWE   KENNETH ROWE   MARY ROWE   MICHAEL ROWE   MICHAEL D ROWE   WILLIE F ROWE   
DAVID E ROWELL JR   JACKIE D ROWELL   STEVEN J ROWLAN   AARON ROWLAND   CHRIS ROWLAND   DANIEL ROWLAND   HERBERT D ROWLAND JR   JENNIFER ROWLAND   JON D ROWLEY   IRENIS ROWLISON   ALLISON K ROWNTREE   LYNDA D ROWSOM   
ALEXENDRE ROY   KEN R ROY   MARC ROY   ROBERT W ROY   SHANE M ROY   KITTY ROYCROFT   WENDY L ROYEA   RICHARD Y ROYER   JAMIE ROYS   RICK ROZON   MAREK S ROZWOOD   KATHERINE M RUANO-CASTILLO   DALE W RUARK   
EUGENE A RUARK JR   JOSHUA D RUARK   CHRISTOPHER ALFONSO RUBIO   JOHN E RUBLE   CHRISTOPHER RUCCO   ANGELICA RUCKER   CARLOS J RUCKER   JEFFREY V RUCKER   KENNETH MICHAEL RUCKER   LAVEIL RUCKER   SEAN RUCKLE   
ANGELA M RUCKMAN   JEFFREY N RUCKMAN   KERRY RUCKMAN   KEVIN J RUCKMAN   TIMOTHY J RUDDICK   BRYAN C RUDLOFF   DAN RUE   MARK A RUEL   DENNIS K RUFF   JUDY A RUFF   KIM BRITT RUFFIN   TIMOTHY G RUGE   BRETT A RUGG   
DOLAN J RUGGLES   MICHAEL D RUGGLES   BRENT A RUHL   LLOYD RUHL   ROBERT RUHL   ABEL RUIZ   ALFONSO S RUIZ   CAIN A RUIZ   DAVID RUIZ   ISMAEL RUIZ   JESUS RUIZ   JOE RUIZ   JOSE G RUIZ   JOSE SANTOS RUIZ   LEO RUIZ   LUIS RUIZ   
MANUEL RUIZ   MICHAEL A RUIZ JR   QUIRINO MONTES RUIZ   SALVADOR D RUIZ   RAUL RUIZ ANGEL   ALEJANDRO RUIZ PEREZ   HARRY L RUMPH IV   TREVOR J RUNDE   MARK A RUNDLES   HERBERT L RUNNELS   LORI LEE ANN RUNYON   NAVIN RUPAN   
BRENT D RUPERT   KENNETH RUPIL   DEAN M RUPP   JOSHUA M RUPPERT   MICHAEL L RUPPERT   RODNEY L RUPPERT   ANTHONY A RUSH   DEBI LYNN RUSH   JEANNE F RUSH   JUSTIN S RUSH   MICHAEL B RUSH   O’NEAL RUSH   SUSAN ANNE RUSH   
BEN T RUSHING   JOHN W RUSHING   DONNA RUSHTON   TRAVIS D RUSIN   ROBERT RUSS   PAUL D RUSSEL   BRYAN K RUSSELL   DARRELL RUSSELL   EDWARD E RUSSELL   FORREST J RUSSELL   GENE DILLARD RUSSELL   GILES W RUSSELL   
JACK B RUSSELL   JOEL W RUSSELL   LARRY D RUSSELL   MICHAEL STEVE RUSSELL JR   NEIL D RUSSELL   PATRICK RUSSELL   PAULA N RUSSELL   R ANDREW RUSSELL   RICHARD RUSSELL JR   RICHARD L RUSSELL   ROBERT L RUSSELL   
ROMAN L RUSSELL   SCOTT A RUSSELL   SHARON L RUSSELL   TYLER RUSSELL   WILLIAM R RUSSELL   WILLIE T RUSSELL   MICHAEL A RUSSILLO   JEFFREY D RUSSO   DANIEL C RUST   LYNN R RUSTIGIAN   HERB RUTH   NICHOLAS Q RUTH   ROGER RUTHER   
ANTHONY SCOTT RUTHERFORD   DONNA M RUTHERFORD   JAMES MATTHEW RUTHERFORD   MARK R RUTHERFORD   RICHARD L RUTHERFORD   JASON S RUTLAND   WILBERT E RUTLAND   CHRISTOPHER D RUTLEDGE   DAVID FAITH RUTLEDGE   
GREGORY A RUTLEDGE   NICKIE J RUTLEDGE   WESLEY RAY RUTLEDGE   BRIAN RUTTER   MICHAEL R RUTTER   CHARLES H RUTZ   AMANDA N RYAN   ANDREW RYAN   CHARLES E RYAN   CRAIG L RYAN   DAN W RYAN   DENNIS D RYAN   EDWARD J RYAN   
ENRIQUE RYAN   HEATHER N RYAN   JAMES RODNEY RYAN   JASON M RYAN   LEON MARSHALL RYAN III   LORI L RYAN   MATHEW N RYAN   MATTHEW J RYAN   MICHAEL RYAN   MICHAEL J RYAN   PIUS RYAN   RICHARD P RYAN   ROBERT RYAN   
ROBERT E RYAN   ROBERT PATRICK RYAN   RONALD A RYAN   SCOTT RYAN   STEVEN M RYAN   TOM RYAN   WESLEY RYAN   PATRICK H RYBICKI   JOHN RYCHLIK   MARK S RYDELL   GEOFFREY S RYDER   JOHN M RYDER   LANCE RYGIEL   KYLE R RYKER   
RACHAEL I RYLAND   TYRONE RYLAND   CHRISTINE JOHNSON RYMER   CHRISTOPHER M RYON   MARCIN T RZEPECKI   DAVID J SABADOS   NICK SABATINO   COSME E SABLADA   MARILOU C SABLADA   ANDRE SABOURIN   ALDINO SACCHETTI   
JAIMIN N SACCHETTI   JOHN P SACCO   ABOU SACKO   CLIFFORD SACKS   WALTER SACKS   CAYLEE B SACQUITNE   BILLY K SADDLEBACK   CLEMMON D SADLER   CYNTHIA SADLER   MEGHAN A SADLER   RONALD A SADLER   WILLIAM SADLER   
BRANDON SAENZ   OCIEL SAENZ   JEFFREY A SAENZ DE VITERI   DEREK SAEPOUNG   JERRY SAGER   WILLIAM J SAGER   BRAULIO SAGRERO SANCHEZ   RICO P SAHAGUN   JOSHUA SAINT   DONALD NICHOLAS SAKO   KYLE P SAKOS   
SELVAGANAPATHI SAKTHIVEL   KWAME OPARE SAKYI BEKOE   MASOUD SALAH   ALFREDO SALAS   MARTIN SALAS   TIBURCIO SALAS   JORGE SALAS GONZALES   ALEXANDRA SALAZAR   BERNARDINO SALAZAR   ISAIAH SALAZAR   JUAN ANTONIO SALAZAR   
JUAN ANTONIO SALCIDO   JUAN E SALCIDO TORRES   JAMES K SALE II   SHAMSUDEEN SALEEM   TIM P SALES   MANUEL SALGADO   JOSE L SALGUERO   TIMOTHY D SALHEISER   AMY KATHERINE SALIB   LORENZE SALISBURY   MARTIN SHANE SALISBURY   
JAMIE L SALM   ESLAM SALMAN   SAEED SALMAN   WILLIAM T SALMON   JENNIFER J SALO   KEVIN L SALTERN   PEDRO OCAMPO SALTILLO   JASON BYRON SALTZMAN   RICHARD SALTZMAN   JAY DEE SALVESEN   CHERYL A SALVO   MICHAEL SALVO   
MICHAEL J SALVO   LAKSHMI SAMANTHI   KURT SAMAROO   EDWARD A SAMBERSON   KEVIN R SAMFORD   JERRY V SAMONTE   CHRISTOPHER SAMPLE   JASON L SAMPLE   AMY L SAMPSON   IAN P SAMPSON   JENNIFER H SAMPSON   KEVIN M SAMPSON   
KIRK S SAMPSON   LEO SAMPSON   LORI M SAMPSON   PETER SAMPSON   CRAIG A SAMSON   ASHLEIGH J SAMUEL   DAMIEN C SAMUEL   ROY E SAMUELS JR   DAVID L SAMUELSON   MIGUEL ANGEL SAN MARTIN   ZULEYKA SANABIA   ALEJANDRO J SANCHEZ   
ANEL SANCHEZ   ANTONIO SANCHEZ   BRYAN SANCHEZ   C NICHOLE SANCHEZ   CARLOS SANCHEZ   CRISTOBAL SANCHEZ   DANIEL SANCHEZ   FLORENTINO SANCHEZ   JORGE SANCHEZ   MICHAEL A SANCHEZ   PEDRO J SANCHEZ   RAUL SANCHEZ   
SAMUEL A SANCHEZ   SAUL M SANCHEZ   STEPHANIE D SANCHEZ   VICTOR F SANCHEZ   PEDRO SANCHEZ FELIPE   MERKYS G SANCHEZ-CABRERA   BENJAMIN M SANDERS   CHRISTOPHER A SANDERS   CHRISTOPHER M SANDERS   DERRICK SANDERS   
DONNY J SANDERS   GARY SANDERS   HERMAN SANDERS   HERSCHEL L SANDERS   JOHN S SANDERS   JOHNNY F SANDERS   LARRY D SANDERS   MACK D SANDERS   PAUL M SANDERS   RAYMOND SANDERS   RICHARD N SANDERS   RYAN B SANDERS   
TRACY W SANDERS   TREVOR SANDERS   WESLEY RICHARD SANDERS   WILLIAM W SANDERS JR   BRITTANY S SANDERSON   JO ANN SANDERSON   MICHAEL T SANDLIN   KIRK G SANDMAN   RICHARD SANDOR   ALBERTO A SANDOVAL   KENNETH R SANDS   
TERRY L SANDUSKY   RINA N SANE   BRIAN KEITH SANFORD   JAMES A SANFORD JR   KEVIN G SANFORD   ROBERT O SANFORD   RONALD EUGENE SANFORD   BALAMURUGAN SANGARALINGAM   ADAM SANKEY   LEVERN SANSBURY   PATRICK R SANSOTTA   
PRESTON R SANSOUCIE   GABRIEL G SANTA   MARIA ELENA SANTAMARIA   ERIC J SANTANA   GUILLERMO SANTANDER   DENNIS L SANTEE   ZACHARY L SANTERRE   SABARINATHANI SANTHI   ANGEL D SANTIAGO   RICHARD J SANTIAGO   
ARMANDO SANTILLAN JR   CHRISTIAN SANTILLANA   ERASMO O SANTILLANO   MICHAEL J SANTILLO   GILBERTO SANTILLO-ORTIZ   HLB S SANTIYAGO   ANDERSON GERALDO SANTO   CHRISTOPHER J SANTORELLY   JUAN F SANTOS   CESAR SANTOS MEDINA   
VICTOR M SANTOS-CORALES   JOSE L SANTOYO   JOSE LUIS SANTOYO   GREG PATRICK SANTUCCI   JOHN F SARGENT   KIM J SARIEGO   STEPHEN C SARINE   PAVEL SARKISYAN   REIMAN SARMIENTO   PETER L SARNO   JASON SCOTT SARRATT   
JAMES C SARTIN JR   JOSEPH N SARTINI   DOUGLAS SASSE   CARLOS E SATIZABAL   ROBERT E SATTERFIELD   BRENDA SAUCEDO   MIGUEL M SAUCEDO   AMY NICOLE SAUCEMAN   HERMAN SAUCIER   JAMES W SAUER   BOBBY RAY SAULS   
RICHARD SAULT   CASEY SAUNDERS   CHASE L SAUNDERS   MAURICE L SAUNDERS   MICHAEL L SAUNDERS   NATHAN AVERY SAUNDERS   PAUL K SAUNDERS   ROGER SAUNDERS   TREVOR L SAUNDERS   JOSEPH A SAUSER   WILLIAM J SAUTER   
ANNE M SAVAGE   TRACIE SAVAGE   WILLIAM W SAVAGE   ANTON R SAVERIMUTHU   HUGO SAVOIE   JEAN-GUY SAVOIE   JOE SAVOIE   MICHAEL SAVOIE   WILLIAM J SAVOIR JR   KEVIN A SAWCHYN   SHELLEY L SAWRAN   ADDISON B SAWYER   
DERRICK L SAWYER   JODY S SAWYER   KEVIN JAMES SAWYER   LARRY MATTHEW SAWYER   WILLIAM B SAWYER   MARTHA L SAXENMEYER   DANIEL M SAXTON   GAYLAND C SAYLES   DEREK J SCAFF   THOMAS P SCALES   JAMES S SCALISE   
ROBERT S SCALISE   JOSEPH V SCARANE   JUSTIN SHAY SCARBOROUGH   DAVID L SCARBROUGH   DAVE SCARLETT   CRAIG SCARR   MATT SCARR   DOUGLAS A SCHAAD   JANICE ELAINE SCHAAD   JOHN J SCHAAD   JASON W SCHAAF   KEITH L SCHAECHER   
PATRICK J SCHAECHER   CHRISTIAN A SCHAEFER   MARK D SCHAEFER   MICHAEL WILLIAM SCHAEFER   ROBERT J SCHAEFER   MARK J SCHAFER   DAVID D SCHAFF   GARETT M SCHAFFER   JOHN A SCHAFFER   MORTON SCHAFFER   CAROL A SCHALKEWITZ   

KEITH J SCHALL   STEVEN A SCHAMP   RODNEY A SCHANEMAN JR   TERRY CLAYTON SCHARCKLET   SCOTT SCHARETT   BRANDON SCHARFETTER   JAMES P SCHARNER   BERNARD H SCHARR   BRIAN T SCHART   MICHAEL P SCHATT   
WALTER B SCHATT   HOLLY A SCHAUBERT   MICHAEL C SCHEDLER   WILLIAM SCHEEL   JUSTIN G SCHEITHAUER   LEROY H SCHEIWE   TRICIA A SCHEIWE   MICHAEL J SCHELL   WENDELL A SCHELL   TERRENCE SCHELLENBERG   
DANITA M SCHELLPEPER   RODNEY A SCHENCK   KIMBERLY M SCHENK   DEBORAH SCHENKEL   JACK B SCHERER   CRAIG SCHERSCHEL   JANET SCHERTZINGER   RICHENA C SCHEU   MARA SCHICKLING   SCOTT A SCHIEL   COLT SCHIELKE   
JAMES J SCHIFFLI   DIANE M SCHILLAWSKI   JOHN R SCHILLAWSKI   JOSEPH A SCHILPP   ROY SCHIMMING   DAYMON W SCHINBECKLER   ROBERT B SCHINDLEDECKER   DONNA C SCHINKEL   RYAN H SCHIPAANBOORD   JONATHAN W SCHLEHER   
JASON W SCHLEIZER   JEFFREY SCHLEMMER   LYNETTE L SCHLEMMER   ANDREW ELY SCHLESS   MARK R SCHLICHTING   THOMAS SCHLICKBERND   CHAD M SCHLIE   MICHAEL J SCHLIEWE   CAROLYN E SCHLOTE   STEVEN O SCHMEDER   
ADALBERT SCHMIDT   ADALBERT M SCHMIDT   CHARLES A SCHMIDT   DENNIS R SCHMIDT   GEORG F SCHMIDT   JOSEPH A SCHMIDT   KELLY R SCHMIDT   KRISTEN M SCHMIDT   MARK J SCHMIDT   NELSON RAYMOND SCHMIDT   
TIMOTHY G SCHMIDT JR   JEFFREY A SCHMITT   ANDREW F SCHMITTER   JOHN SCHMITZ   ROBERT KURT SCHMITZ   RANDEL S SCHNEBEL   DARLA R SCHNEIDER   DEAN R SCHNEIDER   RORIC H SCHNEIDER   BRENDA C SCHNELL   JOHN SCHNELL   
SCOTT A SCHNELLER   LARRY SCHNITTKER   CHAD M SCHNOOR   JASON D SCHNOOR   RICKY D SCHNOOR   SHAWN J SCHNOOR   ROMAN A SCHOCK   SUSAN W SCHOELLE   GREG SCHOEN   JAMES L SCHOEN   JOHN W SCHOENAUER   
DOUGLAS SCHOENE   DENNIS R SCHOFIELD   JOSHUA R SCHOFIELD   STEVE SCHOLL   DUSTIN RAY SCHOLLIAN   JO-DEE SCHOMAKER   MURRAY K SCHOMAKER   PERI S SCHOMAKER   ROBERT SCHONDEL   AMANDA PAIGE SCHOOLCRAFT   
JASON SCHOOLEY   MATTHEW P SCHOOLEY   JACK SCHOONOVER   WILLIAM LOGAN SCHOPPERT   ANNA M SCHORR   NICHOLAS W SCHRADER   TONY R SCHRADER   GENE A SCHREIBER   PETER W SCHREINER   VERNON JOESPH SCHREMMER   
CHRISTOPHER J SCHRIMP   TODD P SCHRIMPF   DARIN S SCHROEDER   JEFFREY M SCHROEDER   PATRICIA A SCHROEDER   RYAN W SCHROEDER   THOMAS J SCHROEDER   CHAD SCHROER   TODD SCHROER   MIRIAM SCHROETER   
DONNA SCHROUF   MATTHEW G SCHRUM   STEPHANIE M SCHUBERT   MICHAEL SCHUEREN   DOUGLAS S SCHUETTE   MATTHEW S SCHUETTE   BRENDA LEE SCHULER   MICHAEL J SCHULLER II   DALE M SCHULTE   RONALD P SCHULTE   
DONALD J SCHULTHEIS JR   DAVID E SCHULTZ   LAUREN M SCHULTZ   LAWRENCE L SCHULTZ   MICHAEL SCHULTZ   NICHOLAS SCHULTZ   NORMAN SCHULTZ   WALTER E SCHULTZ   BRENDA SCHULZ   BRIAN R SCHULZ   TRACEY L SCHUMACHER   
TRACY L SCHUTZ   KENNETH EDWIN SCHWAB   CARL R SCHWABE   JAMES G SCHWADER   JESSICA L SCHWARM   JASON C SCHWARTING   CHRISTOPHER V SCHWARTZ   ROBERT E SCHWARTZ   ROBERT J SCHWARTZ   RODNEY L SCHWARTZ   
RUBEN L SCHWARTZ   TIMOTHY M SCHWARTZ   TONY M SCHWARTZ   WILLIAM L SCHWARTZ   DAVID SCHWEHN   JOHN H SCHWEINSBERG JR   ERIC SCHWEIZER   NICOLE A SCHWEIZER   MATTHEW D SCHWICKRATH   JOSEPH SCIBETTA   
CARLOS J SCIPIO   SCOTT SCOBEE   CASEY R SCOBIE   PHILLIP R SCOFIELD   JASON D SCOGGINS   STEPHEN CHRISTOPHER SCOGIN   CODY C SCOTHERN   CHARLES C SCOTLAND   ADAM D SCOTT   ADAM E SCOTT   ADAM NICHOLAS SCOTT   
BOBBY D SCOTT   CARLOS D SCOTT   CAROL C SCOTT   DAVID A SCOTT   DAVID E SCOTT SR   DAVID J SCOTT   DENISE C SCOTT   DENNIS SCOTT   EDWARD G SCOTT   FRAZIER L SCOTT   FRIEL A SCOTT   GARY R SCOTT SR   HAROLD G SCOTT   
HAZEL M SCOTT   HORACE SCOTT   IDA SCOTT   JAMES C SCOTT   JAMES E SCOTT   JESSE L SCOTT   JIM A SCOTT   JOE C SCOTT III   JOHN H SCOTT   JOHN LEE SCOTT   JOHN T SCOTT   KENNETH SCOTT   KENT D SCOTT   KYLE D SCOTT   
LAWRENCE SCOTT   LETITIA R SCOTT   MICHAEL B SCOTT   MICHAEL L SCOTT   MITCHEL F SCOTT   QUANDRAY L SCOTT   RANDOLPH N SCOTT   RICHARD C SCOTT   RICHARD L SCOTT   RICHARD W SCOTT   RICK W SCOTT   RICKY L SCOTT   
RUSSELL L SCOTT   RYAN L SCOTT   SHAWN B SCOTT   STEVEN C SCOTT   TERRI SCOTT   TIM H SCOTT   TROY C SCOTT   WILLIAM E SCOTT   WILLIAM L SCOTT   WILLIE L SCOTT   STONEY S SCOTT SR   MACELLA SCOTTDAVIS   BENJAMIN ROSS SCOVEL   
TREVOR SCOWEN   ELVIS SCREWS   GIOVANNA SHANTA SCREWS   PATRICKS S SCREWS   WILLIAM SCREWS   JASON SCRIBNER   LANA S SCRIVNER   BENJAMIN M SCROGGINS   EDDY SCULLY   GARY SCURK   EARNEST B SCURRY   BRIAN M SEABOLT   
GREGORY E SEAGLE   J DAVID SEAGRAVES   ADAM GLENN SEALE   THOMAS JOEL SEALE   CYNTHIA L SEAL-HOLLOWAY   BRENT A SEALS   WILLIE JAMES SEALS JR   MICHAEL A SEAMANS   SETH D SEAMONS   TRAVIS B SEAMONS   JOHN D SEARCY   
ROBERT E SEARCY   THERESA SEARCY   GREGORY A SEARING   ALAN B SEARS   ANTONIO E SEARS   CHADWICK B SEARS   RICHARD A SEARS   MATTHEW D SEASE   KENNETH E SEAY   JOSH SEBASTIAN   JUSTIN SAMUEL SEBRING   BOBBI J SECK   
CHADWICK SECREST   KEEGAN J SECRIST   TERRI J SECRIST   ZACHAIRE KIRK SECRIST   MARK SEDGEWICK   LEOPOLDO SEDILLO   KATI J SEDLACEK   JEFFERY C SEEBACH   THOMAS SEEGMILLER   KRISHNA SEEGOOLAM   MICHAEL L SEELMEYER   
NATHAN C SEELYE   THOMAS SEEMEYER   GREG A SEGARS   STEPHEN R SEGARS   DUANE I SEGER   GARY W SEGER   STEFAN L SEGER   ABRAHAM M SEGOVIA   JULIO SEGURA   RAFAEL SEGURA   ANSHUMAN SEHDEV   LARRY WAYNE SEIBERT   
PAUL DAVID SEIBERT   RONALD A SEIBERT   JACOB T SEIBRING   BRIAN A SEIDEL   ROBERT M SEIFERT   ERIK W SEIFFERT   WILLIAM G SEIPEL   ELANGO SEKAR   MELISSA SEKULICH   MICHAEL SHAWN SELBY   SCOTT E SELF   TRAVIS SELF   
BOBBY D SELLARS   ANTONIO D SELLERS   BILLY RAY SELLERS   JACK REYNOLDS SELLERS   MICHELLE SELLERS   PERRY B SELLERS III   CLAYTON R SELLIN   TODD M SELLIN   KEVIN SELLS   RANDALL L SELMAN   KIRUBARAJ SELVARAJ   
PRABU SELVARAJ   QUINCY TERON SELVY   JOSEPH JOHN SEMAN   LEE SEMOTIUK   WALTER J SEMPLOWSKI   PHILLIP M SEMRICK   DMA SENARATNA   BIRANE C SENE   WALTER SENENKO   MICHAEL C SENN   MURUGAN SENTHILVEL   CHRIS SEON   
CARLOS A SEPULVEDA   KEVIN J SEPULVEDA   ALEJANDRO SEPULVEDA LOZANO   ANN S SERAFIN   SAMUEL P SERATT JR   CHRISTOPHER D SERING   SERGIO SERNA   NOEL SERRANO   DANIEL SERRE   DENIS SERRE   MELISSA A SESSIONS   
ILMARAN SETHU RAMAN   PANDIAN SETHURAJ   MICHAEL SETTERDAHL   MICHAEL D SETTLES   JASON L SEVEDGE   DANIEL L SEVERE   NICHOLAS L SEVERNS   DIANE SEVIGNY   MATTHEW N SEVY   GREG SEWARD   JEREMY SEWARDS   
MICHAEL D SEXTON   SCOTT E SEXTON   STACEY A SEXTON   DUANE L SEYL   THAD D SEYL   CHRISTOPHER G SEYMOUR   WAYNE M SEYMOUR   PATRICIA A SEYMOUR-ZECHMAN   WAEL E SHABANA   SHELDON J SHADY   STANLEY H SHADY   
PATRICIA SHAFER   ROBERT A SHAFER   KEVIN L SHAFFER   MARK D SHAFFER   MONA SHAFFER   RICKY J SHAFFER   JIGAR ROHITKUMAR SHAH   DONALD A SHAHAN   FARHEENUL H SHAIKH   JOSEPH R SHALLEY   KARL J SHAMLEE   
ROBERT K SHANKLES   GOPALAKRISHNAN SHANMUGAM   N SHANMUGAVADIVU   DAVID SHANNON   EDWARD T SHANNON   JAMES A SHANNON   JOHN M SHANNON   LLOYD SHANNON   MATTHEW SHANNON   MATTHEW H SHANNON   
ERIC R SHANTON   ROD SHANTZ   RIDGELY W SHARIETT   VAHID N SHARIFI   DUSTIN C SHARLEY   DHARAMVIR SHARMA   SANJEEV SHARMA   ANDREW H SHARP   EMMA K SHARP   JEREMY DUANE SHARP   KENDRA K SHARP   KURT J SHARP   
LAURA SHARP   QUINTIN F SHARP   ROBERT E SHARP   CRAIG E SHARPE   JOHN SHARPE   JUSTIN SHARPE   WILLIAM CHUCK SHARPE   MICHAEL D SHARRAR   BRIAN J SHARROCK   BRYAN SHATTLER   KURT A SHATTO   DAVID SHATTUCK   
JEFFREY SHAUERS   PAUL SHAVER   ADAM M SHAW   DALE T SHAW   JAMES V SHAW   JAMIE R SHAW   JEFFREY A SHAW   JIMMY E SHAW   JUSTIN SHAW   KELLEY B SHAW   KIMBERLY DENISE SHAW   SHAUN M SHAW   WAYNE KEITH SHAW   
WILLIAM SHAW   SHANE M SHAWHAN   RUSSELL SHAWN   CHARLES SHAY   CHARLES SHAY III   BECKY S SHEA   TIMMY D SHEA   SEAN K SHEAD   RYAN M SHEAHAN   ANTHONY A SHEARER   DANIEL SHEARER   KAREN SHEARER   HARRY B SHEARIN   
JAMES A SHEBLE   PAUL A SHECKELL   DOUGLAS R SHEFFER   JAMES A SHEFFIELD JR   TIMOTHY A SHEFFIELD   JAMES F SHEIFFELE   STEPHEN J SHEIFFELE   RIZWAN SHEIKH   JUSTIN M SHELBY   DAVID W SHELEFONTIUK   STEVE SHELEFONTIUK   
JAMES BURTON SHELL   JUSTIN SHELL   JAMES N SHELLEBY   DONALD E SHELLEY   ISHMAEL J SHELLEY JR   RALPH E SHELLEY   JOSHUA SHELLY   THOMAS D SHELP   BRIAN P SHELTON   BUSTER E SHELTON   JAMES W SHELTON   JOHN D SHELTON   
JONATHAN B SHELTON   JOSHUA WADE SHELTON   KEITH SHELTON   MICHAEL SHELTON   MITCHELL SHELTON   NATHAN SHELTON   NICHOLAS W SHELTON   NOAH L SHELTON II   TRAVIS C SHELTON   JASON DAVID SHEPARD   JOHNNY DWANE SHEPARD   
PHILLIP J SHEPARD   TIMOTHY A SHEPARD   GORDAN M SHEPEK   DANIAL D SHEPHERD   DAVID W SHEPHERD SR   MARK JASON SHEPHERD   RICHARD A SHEPHERD   RUSSELL T SHEPHERD   BURT F SHEPLER   KATHRYN JEAN SHEPLEY   
THOMAS L SHEPLEY   ALVIN SHEPPARD   DAVID SCOTT SHEPPARD   RICKY W SHEPPARD   WILLIAM F SHEPPARD JR   DARRYL J SHEPPS   MICHEL R SHERIDAN   BRANDON R SHERMAN   CARL J SHERMAN   FORREST MAJOR SHERMAN   
JENNIFER A SHERMAN   MARK FREDERICK SHERMAN   RAVON EARL SHERMAN   RICHARD G SHERMAN   CHRISTOPHER S SHERNESKY   MICHAEL P SHEROKOW   KENNETH SHERRATT   DALE SHERRILL   BETH SHERROD   RICKY SHERROD   
PATRICK C SHERWIN   PHILLIP L SHERWIN   MAX T SHERWOOD   WILLIAM D SHERWOOD   LESLIE SUZANNE SHEWBROOKS   GERALD SHEWCHUK   ANTHONY C SHIELDS   DAVID L SHIELDS   MALCOLM SHIELDS   WILLIAM SHIELDS   
EDWARD M SHILLEY   ERIC J SHILLING   KELLIE J SHINABARGER   JEFFREY R SHINGLER   JEFFREY T SHINGLER   JENNIFER K SHINPAUGH   DAVID S SHIPLEY   ANDREW J SHIPMAN   KEVIN C SHIPMAN SR   JOSHUA C SHIPP   DAVID P SHIREMAN   
LARRY D SHIREY   JAMES SHIRKS   COURTNEY E SHIRLAW   KEVIN SHIRLEY   LANCE EUGENE SHIRLEY   CARLA SHISLER   COREY B SHIVE   BRIAN L SHIVELY   ERIC W SHIVERS   KIM S SHIVERS   TOM LEE SHIVERS   WILLIAM H SHIVERS   
CURTIS R SHOAF   WILLIAM R SHOCK   KEVIN SHOCKEY   KERWIN L SHOCKLEY   CRAIG SHOEBOTTOM   CURTIS SHOEMAKER JR   PERRY R SHOEMAKER III   STEVEN S SHOEMAKER   DANIEL C SHOLES   ANTHONY SHOLL   DIANA L SHORE   
JAMES C SHORE   MATTHEW J SHORE   INGRID SHORES   JESSE SHORES   RYAN CHRISTOPHER SHORES   CHRISTOPHER D SHORT   DIANNE E SHORT   KEVIN M SHORT   ROBERT D SHORT   MARCEL J SHORTELL   JAMAAL CORTEZ SHORTER   
SCOTT G SHORTRIDGE   MICHAEL E SHORTS   DAVID L SHOTWELL   LORI SHOUGH   MONTEZ SHOULDERS   VIRGIL DOUGLAS SHOULDERS   TOMMY E SHOUP   WILLIAM L SHOUSE   ROBERT SHOW   LORALEE A SHOWALTER   SHAUN A SHOWALTER   
CHRISTIAN E SHOWELL   J MARK SHOWS   KEVIN W SHRADER   AUDREY SHREDER   STACEY SHREDER   BRIAN J SHREFFLER   BIMAL SHRESTHA   STUART M SHROYER   ROGER CLEVELAND SHRUM   ROY L SHRUM   JAMES R SHUBURTE   
KRISTOPHER KEVIN SHUCK   KRISTIN L SHUEY   MICHAEL L SHUEY   RAMSEY SHUGAIR   KORY L SHUGAR   ROBERT J SHUHERK   DERRICK J SHULER   JORGE D SHULER   GREGORY W SHULL   JOHNATHON D SHULL   JUSTIN SHULL   
RICHARD L SHULL   ROBBIN A SHULL   BRIAN B SHULTZ   CLAY S SHULTZ   COLE SHULTZ   DEREK A SHULTZ   JEFF L SHULTZ   MARY L SHULTZ   KENNETH EDWARD SHUMAN   TIMOTHY A SHUMAN   DAVID SHUMATE   JAMES W SHUMPERT   
BECKY S SHUMWAY   BRIAN ALLEN SHUPAK   AARON SHURTS   CHESTER W SHUSTER   MARK ANTHONY SHUTTLESWORTH III   ADAM J SHUTTS   JOHN R SHVEYDA   ROBERT SHY   CHERRI E SICARD   DOUGLAS E SIDDALL   GERALD SIDDALL   
MARK SIDDALL   JOSEPH SIDDLE   JEFF A SIDES   JOHN W SIDES JR   ROBERT E SIDES   WILLIAM R SIDES   STANLEY K SIDWELL   JASON DANIEL SIEBERT   JARROD L SIEBRANDT   JUSTIN G SIEBRANDT   RICK G SIEFERT   LYLE SIEG   PAUL SIEG   
JENNALEE J SIEGFRIES   ROBERT C SIEGFRIES   ERIK R SIEGLER   JOSHUA SIELOFF   MARK W SIERACKI   LOREN L SIEVERS   JAGDIT SIEW   RODNEY P SIFERS   PHILIPPE SIGGEN   JONATHAN M SIGMON   IAN SIGOUIN   RIYAZ A SIKKANDAR   
JOSEPH J SIKORA   CHRISTINE J SILA   RUSSELL L SILA JR   MARC SILBERBERG   BRIAN J SILHACEK   KEITH D SILHACEK   FERNANDO A SILIS   IGNACIO V SILIS   PETER E SILL   EBOU SILLAH   RYAN K SILLERY   DAVID W SILLS   JESUS SILOS   
JAY CHESTERFORD SILVA   JOSE A SILVA   LSP SILVA   TIBERIO SILVA   JAVIER SILVAN   JOHN LOUIS SILVEIRA JR   PATRICIA SILVERTHORNE   DAVID F SILVIA   ROMAO C SILVINO   JOHN F SIMEONE   JAMES SIMINGTON   ADAM RYAN SIMMONS   
ALEX K SIMMONS JR   ALVIN V SIMMONS   CHRISTOPHER W SIMMONS   COLTON D SIMMONS   ERIC N SIMMONS   GARY W SIMMONS   JAMES L SIMMONS   JASON S SIMMONS   JESSE SIMMONS   JONATHAN R SIMMONS   JOSEPH R SIMMONS   
KENT ALLAN SIMMONS   LESLEY K SIMMONS   LISA R SIMMONS   MARK EWING SIMMONS   MICHAEL C SIMMONS   MICHAEL G SIMMONS   ROSS C SIMMONS   STANLEY SIMMONS   TERRY L SIMMONS   VIRGIL SIMMONS JR   WENDELL A SIMMONS   
WILLIAM J SIMMONS   WILLIAM P SIMMONS JR   YANCEY DEWAYNE SIMMONS   MICHAEL SIMNOWITZ   BRENT L SIMON   JASON SIMON   KEVIN SIMON   REJEAN L SIMON   MAURICE SIMONEAU   ANGELA SIMONS   ERNEST J SIMONS   
JAMES ALLEN SIMONS JR   KATHI J SIMONS   BOB P SIMONSEN   ERIC SIMONSEN   DAVID GREGORY SIMONSON   KHOUNE SIMOUANG   KENNETH E SIMPER   CHARLES A SIMPKINS   AUNDREA L SIMPSON   CHARLES CRAWFORD SIMPSON   
CLIFFTON D SIMPSON   DAVID W SIMPSON   ELIJAH E SIMPSON   ERIN A SIMPSON   HARRY SIMPSON   HENRY M SIMPSON   JAMES R SIMPSON   JEROME D SIMPSON   JUSTIN D SIMPSON   KELLI D SIMPSON   MICHAEL K SIMPSON   
ROBERT J SIMPSON   ROBERT P SIMPSON   SETH K SIMPSON   STEVEN K SIMPSON   TIMOTHY G SIMPSON   WAYLON K SIMPSON   WENDY G SIMPSON   BARTLEY ADAM SIMS   CHAD D SIMS   DAVID M SIMS   DEWEY S SIMS   J R SIMS   JOHN B SIMS   
JOHN L SIMS III   MARVIN D SIMS   ROBBIE J SIMS   ROLPH SIMS   RONNIE E SIMS   SCOTT EDWARD SIMS   TIMOTHY H SIMS   WILLIAM J SIMS   WILLIAM R SIMS   JOHN H SINCERBEAUX   ALEXANDER G SINCLAIR   DANNY SINCLAIR   ROBERT SINCLAIR   
JAMES J SINEATH III   CARL BRANDON SING   BLAINE SINGER   CHRISTOPHER V SINGER   STEPHEN SINGER   ABHAY SINGH   JOSE R SINGH   MARCUS SINGH   PARBHJIT SINGH   TARA SINGH   VINTEE SINGH   VITRA SINGH   MARVIN E SINGLETARY   
RICHARD L SINGLETARY   BRYAN SINGLETON   JASON E SINGLETON   JEFFREY A SINGLETON   LEROY D SINGLETON   ROBERT L SINGLETON   WILLIAM SINGLETON   WYVONIA SINGLETON   GEORGE SINKINS   G THOMAS SINNET II   LEAH B SINNET   
RAY SINNOTT   ROBERT SINNOTT   OLAVI SIPARI   LARREGUI J SIPHO   TEOFLIO JR SIPRIANO   ARNULFO SIQUEIROS-SANCHEZ   PHILLIP A SIRMON   MATTHEW BEN SIRTEN   MELANIE M SISK   KEVIN SISSON   ROBERT W SISTRUNK   VALERIE SITAR   
JASON SITAREK   VASANTHAKUMAR SITHANATHAN   JAMES D SITTON   AARON R SIZEMORE   JAMES OLEN SIZEMORE II   RANDY C SKAGEN   AUSTIN S SKAGGS   STEVEN R SKEELS   MICHAEL E SKEEM   RUSSELL REED SKEEM   TRAVIS SKEEN   
PAULA SKEENS   MARK T SKELCHER   FOY ETCHIESON SKELTON   THOMAS ANDREW SKELTON JR   WILLIAM B SKELTON   ROBERT SKENANDORE   KEVIN M SKERO   DAVID W SKERRITT   JOHN F SKERRITT IV   ANDREW SKIBNIEWSKI   
MARIUSZ SKIBNIEWSKI   MATTHEW M SKILLSTAD   BIRCH K SKINNER   BROCK SKINNER   HEATHER SKINNER   JAMES T SKINNER   MARSHA A SKINNER   MICHAEL SKINNER   RON SKINNER   STACEY T SKINNER   JOHNNIE SKIPPER   
SCOTT A SKIPWORTH   LORNE D SKODE   STEVEN E SKROBISZEWSKI   ELIZABETH W SKUFCA   LESZEK E SKULSKI   BOBBY MIKE SLABAUGH   EDWARD SLACK   JOHN J SLADE   JOSEPH R SLADE   ERIC SLADKY   MARYEMILY SLATE   
NATHANAEL W SLATE   ADAM R SLATEN   TIMOTHY J SLATER   LEIGHR J SLATES   GARY T SLAUGHTER   JASON T SLAUGHTER   MARVIN Q SLAUGHTER   JESSE D SLAUTER   CATHARINE A SLAVENS   CHAD M SLAVENS   NATHAN T SLAVENS   
RYAN DAVID SLAVENS   THOMAS J SLAVENS   RICKIE L SLAWSON   ROBERT W SLAWSON   MIKE SLEAN   JAMES FLOYD SLEDGE   KRISTIN P SLEDGE   NICHOLAS A SLEGR   STEPHEN SLESINSKI   STEVEN D SLIDER   GARY A SLIFKA   MARK N SLINKARD   
STANISLAV SLIVCHENKO   LAURA L SLIVKA   JOSEPH J SLIWKA   ALAN SLOAN   MONTEVILLE L SLOAN   JERZY SLOMKA   JOSHUA D SLOSSON   BRANDON C SLOUCK   CHRISTOPHER D SLOVAK   MARK C SMAILES   CORY SMALL   DERRICK U SMALL   
JASON SMALL   MARK SMALL   JOHN SMALLEY   MICHAEL A SMALLEY   BRANDON J SMALLS   CURTIS SMALLS   MICHAEL SMALLS   MICHAEL L SMALLWOOD   TIMOTHY A SMALLWOOD   JEFFEREY G SMARDON   ROBERT WAYNE SMELLEY   
STEPHEN C SMELLEY   KAREN M SMID   JASON E SMILEY   WENDIE EVE SMILEY   ADAM J SMIT   HAROLD J SMIT   AARON M SMITH   AARON N SMITH   ALAN R SMITH   ALBERT SMITH   ALEX B SMITH   AMY CARR SMITH   ANDREW J SMITH   
ANNA M SMITH   ANTHONY L SMITH   ARTHUR W SMITH III   BARRY C SMITH   BENJAMIN E SMITH   BENJAMIN L SMITH   BILLY J SMITH   BLAKE SMITH   BRAD L SMITH   BRAD L SMITH   BRADY SMITH   BRANDON K SMITH   BRENT T SMITH   
BRENT W SMITH   BRETT SMITH   BRETT W SMITH   BRIAN L SMITH   BRIAN M SMITH   BRIAN W SMITH   BRYAN SMITH   BRYAN E SMITH   BRYAN L SMITH   BUCK B SMITH   CAMERON B SMITH   CAROLYN D SMITH   CAROLYN H SMITH   
CHARLES SMITH   CHARLES A SMITH JR   CHARLES ANTHONY SMITH   CHARLES DANIEL SMITH   CHARLES JASON SMITH   CHIP J SMITH   CHRIS SMITH   CHRIS T SMITH   CHRISTOPHER A SMITH   CHRISTOPHER G SMITH   CLAINE SMITH   
CLAUDE M SMITH   CLAYTON C SMITH   CLINT T SMITH   CLINT V SMITH   CODY SMITH   CONNIE S SMITH   COREY B SMITH   CORY A SMITH   CRAIG A SMITH   CRAIG B SMITH   CRAIG L SMITH   DANIEL L SMITH   DANIEL WESLEY SMITH   
DARRYL SMITH   DARYL SMITH   DAVE SMITH   DAVID ALVIN SMITH   DAVID ARTHUR SMITH   DAVID BOYD SMITH   DAVID L SMITH   DAVID R SMITH   DAVID RAY SMITH   DAVID W SMITH   DEAVEN SMITH   DELMAR L SMITH   DENEEKA S SMITH   
DERON SMITH   DERRICK SMITH   DEWAYNE SMITH   DONALD D SMITH JR   DONNA JEAN SMITH   DONZELL A SMITH   DOUGLAS M SMITH   DUSTIN SMITH   DUSTIN E SMITH   ELIJAH J SMITH   ESTA CHRISTINE SMITH   EVAN ANDREW SMITH   
FRANK SMITH   FRED SMITH   FREIDA M SMITH   GARY L SMITH   GARY L SMITH   GEORGE W SMITH   GRADY F SMITH   GREG SMITH   GUY A SMITH   HEATHER M SMITH   HOWARD M SMITH   IEON SMITH   ISAIAH S SMITH   JACK D SMITH   
JAMES B SMITH   JAMES E SMITH   JAMES G SMITH   JAMES G SMITH   JAMES H SMITH   JAMES KEITH SMITH   JAMES L SMITH   JAMES SCOTT SMITH   JAMES TYLER SMITH   JAMIE CRAIG SMITH   JAMISON R SMITH   JANICE G SMITH   
JANICE P SMITH   JARVIS SMITH   JASON A SMITH   JASON C SMITH   JASON D SMITH   JASON ROBERT SMITH   JAY R SMITH   JAY R SMITH   JEFFREY A SMITH   JEFFREY CRAIG SMITH   JEREMY SMITH   JERRIE L SMITH   JERRY J SMITH   
JIMMIE K SMITH   JIMMY F SMITH   JODY E SMITH   JOE LOUIS SMITH JR   JOEY D SMITH   JOHN ALAN SMITH   JOHN D SMITH   JOHNA T SMITH   JOHNNY BRENT SMITH   JOLEY SMITH   JOSEPH T SMITH   JUDITH G SMITH   JUDSON D SMITH   
JUSTIN C SMITH   KAREN LAGASSIE SMITH   KATIE E SMITH   KAY F SMITH   KEITH K SMITH   KENNETH A SMITH   KENNETH L SMITH   KENNETH M SMITH   KEVIN SMITH   KIMBERLY J SMITH   KRYSTAL SMITH   LARRY BRUCE SMITH   LEE A SMITH   
LEONA D SMITH   LEONARD A SMITH JR   LESLIE A SMITH   LESTER C SMITH JR   LEWIS H SMITH III   LORRAINE A SMITH   LUCAS SMITH   MARILYN A SMITH   MARK A SMITH   MARK A SMITH   MARK H SMITH   MARK H SMITH   MATTHEW L SMITH   
MATTHEW W SMITH   MELISSA M SMITH   MICHAEL A SMITH   MICHAEL C SMITH   MICHAEL J SMITH   MICHAEL S SMITH   MICHAEL W SMITH   MIKE D SMITH   NATHANIAL A SMITH   NEOMA RENEA SMITH   NICHOLAS S SMITH   NORMAN L SMITH   
PAUL SMITH   PAUL L SMITH   PAUL W SMITH   PAULINE SMITH   RANDALL C SMITH   RANDY C SMITH   RANDY J SMITH   RAY E SMITH   REG R SMITH   REGGIE A SMITH   REGINALD J SMITH   REYNALDO SMITH   RICHARD SMITH   RICHARD C SMITH JR   
RICKEY LYNN SMITH   RICKY G SMITH   RITA L SMITH   ROBB S SMITH   ROBERT SMITH   ROBERT SMITH   ROBERT A SMITH   ROBERT A SMITH   ROBERT G SMITH   ROBERT H J SMITH   ROBERT PATRICK SMITH   ROBERT STEPHEN SMITH   
RODNEY C SMITH   RODNEY D SMITH   ROGER A SMITH   ROGER D SMITH   ROGER P SMITH   RONALD B SMITH   RONNIE T SMITH   RYAN ROBERT DOILE SMITH   SAMMY L SMITH   SAMMY L SMITH   SARA SMITH   SCOTT SMITH   SCOTT L SMITH   
SHANE R SMITH   SHARON M SMITH   SHAUN SMITH   SHAWN C SMITH   SHAWN D SMITH   SHAWN ELLIS SMITH   SHELBY D SMITH   SHERRY D SMITH   STEPHEN SMITH   SUSAN SMITH   TED C SMITH   TERRY O SMITH   THAYNE B SMITH   
THOMAS C SMITH   THOMAS R SMITH   THOMAS R SMITH   THOMAS R SMITH   TIMOTHY A SMITH   TIMOTHY D SMITH   TIMOTHY W SMITH   TODD M SMITH   TOMMY J SMITH   TONY SMITH   TONY SMITH   TONY W SMITH   TRAVIS WADE SMITH   
TROY T SMITH   UNTON LUMONT SMITH   VANCE L SMITH   WALTER H SMITH   WALTER S SMITH   WARREN SMITH   WESLEY G SMITH   WILLIAM SMITH   WILLIAM C SMITH   WILLIAM D SMITH   WILLIAM J SMITH   WILLIE SMITH   ZACHARY A SMITH   
BRIAN A SMITHART   ASHLEY NICOLE SMITHERMAN   BETTY A SMITHERMAN   KEVIN M SMITHEY   DEREK CHARLES SMITHSON   BRIAN S SMITHWICK   DOUGLAS E SMITHWICK   JAMES H SMOAK   LONNIE C SMOKE   WILLIE C SMOKE   
KENDRICK SMOKEYDAY   ROBERT L SMOLA   DEDRICK SMOTHERMAN   HOWARD C SMOTHERS   SCOTTY L SMOTHERS   VIOLA P SMOTHERS   ROBERT SMUIN   RICK L SMUTNY   CONSTANCE R SNAPP   ADAM D SNAY   JIMMY SNELL   
DAVID A SNELLENBARGER   CASPAR M SNELLING   GEORGE T SNELLING   MICHAEL A SNELLING   YOLANDA DENISE SNELLING   FETIMA G SNIDER   NATHAN P SNIDER   EDWARD R SNIPES JR   BRADLEY E SNODDY   JAMIE J SNODGRASS   
STEVEN P SNODGRASS   ROBERT E SNOOK   DAVID RAY SNOW   GLENN K SNOW   HENRY S SNOW   MATTHEW D SNOW   WILLIAM J SNOW   RICKY J SNOWDEN   STEPHEN B SNOWDEN   JOSEPH S SNURKOWSKI   BRIAN K SNYDER   JEFFREY A SNYDER   
JIMMY L SNYDER   JOSEPH J SNYDER   LONNIE D SNYDER JR   ROBIN T SNYDER   STEVEN P SNYDER   TERRY L SNYDER   WALTER SNYDER   JOSEPH D SOARES III   JOSHUA SOARES   MARCO P SOARES   MESSIAS M SOARES   LEO J SOBCZAK   
ELIZABETH F SOBEY   BO SOBHANI   DALLAS M SOBOTKA   NORMAN SOCQUET   JOSEPH R SOETAERT   EMILE L SOFFNER   DIONE SOHN   THOMAS J SOJKA   KEVIN J SOKOL   HERBER M SOLANO   OCIEL SOLANO   JONATHAN R SOLES   
BARBARA MARY SOLFERINO   LARRY SOLID   ALFONSO SOLIS   FERNANDO SOLIS   JOHNNY L SOLIS   SUSANA SOLIS   ELIAS SOLIS-GOMEZ   ANDREW R SOLIZ   BARRY T SOLOMON   JASON WARNER SOLOMON   JOSEPH SOLOMON   
JOSEPH SOLOMON   MELVIN D SOLOMON   ANTONIO SOLORZANO   MIGUEL ANGEL SOLORZANO   TIMOTHY J SOLOS   PAUL J SOMERS   NADIR SOMJI   ANDREW SOMMER   JOEL D SOMMER   SUNIL A SONAWANE   DAVID SONDENO   
BRANDON S SONNENFELT   LAWRENCE H SONSEL   ELDON SOOP   ANIL SOORIM   ROBERT B SOPER   GREGORY SORA   PETER SORELL   BENJAMIN C SORENSEN   CARY SORENSEN   DEBRA SORENSEN   JARED L SORENSEN   JOSEY SORENSEN   
LAYNE C SORENSEN   NATHAN SORENSEN   SETH SORENSEN   WILL D SORENSEN   BRENT SORENSON   DARIN L SORENSON   KILAUEA SORGENT   THOMAS SORRELLS   JAMES W SORRELS   GIUSEPPE SORRENTO   SUSAN R SORRICK   
RONALD J SORTERS JR   DONALD D SORTOR   DAVID B SOSH   DAVID J SOSINSKY   PEGGY L SOSSAMON   ADAM SOTO   ANGELA SOTO   BONIFACIO SOTO   MADELINE SOTO   REBECCA INES SOTO   RHETT A SOUDER   KARL W SOUDERS   
JAMES R SOULE   THOMAS L SOULE   ANDREW L SOULIGNE   JOAO SOUSA   LEE SOUSA   JERED D SOUTH   PATRICK D SOUTH   RONALD SOUTH   DANA C SOUTHARD   STEVE SOUTHARD   WILLIAM B SOUTHER   WILLIAM R SOUTHERLAND   
ANNA DAWN SOUTHERN   DANA R SOUTHERN   FRANK A SOUTHERN   JAMES M SOUTHERN   JACOB S SOUTHERS   JOE C SOUTHWOOD   DANIEL SOUZA   AARON E SOVEREIGN   NICHOLAS J SOVEREIGN   COLLEEN K SOWDERS   DAVID G SOWELL   
JASON SOWELL   REGINALD LANG SOWELL   EDWARD A SOWLES   DENNIS J SPADER   JAMES M SPAGNUOLO   MICHAEL S SPALDING   ROBYN A SPANN   DANIEL SPANOS   DUANE SPARKMAN   JASON HARWOOD SPARKS   KIRK SPARKS   
OAKLEY SPARKS   PETER SPATOLA   TOM W SPATOLA   ADAM A SPAULDING   CHRISTOPHER SPAULDING   BILL SPEAK   KRISTAN ANN SPEAR   CHRISTY D SPEARS   ADAM J SPECE   DAVID R SPECHT   MARK SPECHT   THOMAS JEFFERSON SPEED   
DORSEY E SPEER JR   JEFFREY S SPEER   PAMELA J SPEIDEL   JIMMY L SPEIGHT   MICHAEL D SPEIGHTS   MARK J SPELLAR   BRENDA LYNN SPENCE   DONALD SPENCE   DOUGLAS G SPENCE   JONATHAN WILLIAM SPENCE   ROBERT E SPENCE   
SANDRA L SPENCE   ADAM C SPENCER   DANNY R SPENCER   DONALD R SPENCER   DOUGLAS A SPENCER   KEVIN ANTONIO SPENCER   MICHAEL SPENCER   MICHAEL W SPENCER   RYAN S SPENCER   TIM SPENCER   XENOPHON S SPEROS   
CATHERINE M SPETH   ELIZABETH GALE SPETH   KEVIN L SPETH   CHAD SPICER   DANNY R SPICER   RANDY SPICER   BARBARA F SPIEGEL   PHILLIP L SPIEGEL   TIMOTHY A SPIEGEL   BRYAN J SPIER   NICHOLAS S SPIGLE   DONNIE L SPIGNER   
KELLY D SPIKES   JOHN A SPILLERS   JAIME A SPINKS   WILLIAM L SPINKS III   STEVEN T SPIRES   TIMOTHY A SPIRES   BRIAN SPIRL   DENNIS G SPIRY   DAVID W SPISHOCK   THOMAS A SPISHOCK   IAN M SPITZER   JAN W SPITZER   JUSTIN SPITZER   
TIMOTHY J SPITZMUELLER   JAMIE R SPIVEY   JESSIE L SPIVEY   ALLEN SPOONER   KURT B SPRADER   LARRY G SPRAGUE   GREGORY L SPRAYBERRY   WAYNE V SPREITZER   JOHN SPRING   WILLIAM L SPRINGBORG   BENJAMIN FRANCIS SPRINGER   
CLARENCE P SPRINGER   JEFFREY L SPRINGER   LARRY J SPRINGER   STEPHANIE L SPRINGER   TIMOTHY J SPRINGER   JUDITH A SPRINGFIELD   JAMES T SPRINGS   WANDA E SPRINGS   RICKY STEVEN SPRINKLE   BENJAMIN A SPROAT   
MARTINA SPRONG   TRAVIS D SPROUSE   LORI L SPRY   PETER SQUIRES   PHILLIP AUDEAN SQUYRES   ARAMBU V SRIKANTHAN   ERIN M ST CLAIR   CRAIG ST JEAN   JEAN-RENE ST LAURENT   THOMAS E ST PETER   MATHIEU ST PIERRE   
PAUL ST PIERRE   BRANDON C STABBS   JACQUELYN R STACHOWSKI   BRANDY N STACKHOUSE   DAVID L STACKHOUSE   BONITA L STACY   DOUGLAS W STACY   MARSHALL R STADLER   VANESSA K STADLER   JAMES STAFFEN   RUTH STAFFEN   
ANTHONY STAFFORD   BRIAN E STAFFORD   CASEY STAFFORD   JAMES L STAFFORD   RAY LEE STAFFORD   RAYMOND M STAFFORD   RONALD W STAFFORD   THOMAS STAFFORD   THOMAS F STAFFORD   STEVEN STAGE   KIM R STAGGS   
BRIAN W STAHL   TODD STAHLMANN   MARK D STAIB   FELIPE R STA-JUANA   MERITHUS ANN STALEY   TERRELL STALEY   MICHELLE F STALLARD   BILLY R STALLINGS   CARSON L STALLINGS   JESSIE STALLINGS   LYNN SUZANNE STALLINGS   
MADISON BROOKS STALLINGS   RONALD E STALLINGS   WALTER MALONE STALLINGS   BRETT T STALNECKER   DARRIN L STALNECKER   CHRIS X L STAMAND   DUSTIN L STAMER   ROGER D STAMEY   JESSICA L STAMPS   AARON T STANCHIK   
ELBERT T STANDLEE   FLOYD EDWARD STANDRIDGE JR   JONATHAN R STANEK   GERASIMOS STANITSAS   BILLY RAY STANLEY   BRENDA K STANLEY   DONALD K STANLEY   JAMES C STANLEY JR   JAMES H STANLEY   JONATHAN N STANLEY   
JUSTIN D STANLEY   KIMBERLY V STANLEY   MICHAEL STANLEY   ROGER E STANLEY   JOHN STANONIS   MICHAEL L STANPHILL   EARL D STANSBURY   JAMES R STANTON   DANIEL W STANUSH   JARED STANWORTH   DANUAL T STAPLES   
MARK J STAPLETON   PAUL T STAPLETON   ALAN J STARK   BERNARD JOE STARK JR   CASEY R STARK   KENNETH E STARK   RAYMOND H STARK   SHAWNA M STARKS   TERRY STARKS   TODD L STARKS   TRAVIS L STARKS   WILBUR STARKS   
JAMES EARL STARLING   SAMUEL JAMES STARLING   AARON C STARNES   LARRY M STARNES   WILLIE J STARNES   CHRISTOPHER J STARR   LINDA M STARR   MARIA L STARR   WAYNE R STARRETT   PETER STARSZAK   HELEN A STASTNY   
RICHARD TYRON STATEN   MICHAEL R STATES   BRUCE STATHAM   FRANCIS A STATLER   MICHAEL R STATLER   JARED A STAUB   JOSHUA W STAUB   ROBERT W STAUB JR   JUSTIN R STAUFFENBERG   ALLEN E STAUFFER   DAVID STAUFFER   
DIRK A STAUFFER   ROBERT G STAVES   LARRY STAVINGA   GARRETT STAYTON   LORENZO ST-COEUR   JACQUES M STDON   BRANDON J STEACIE   TRAVIS STEAD   JOEY G STEADMAN   JAMES R STEARMAN   DOUGLAS F STEBBING   
ROBBIE STEBBINS   PATRICK J STECK   RYAN R STECKELBERG   ROBERT JOHN STECKLER   JARDEE C STEED   NICHOLAS A STEEDMAN   CHARLES W STEELE   JOSHUA C STEELE   MELINDA J STEELE   PAUL D STEELE   NATHAN H STEELMAN   
WILLIAM M STEEN   NICOLE STEERE   PAUL STEEVES   CHARLES B STEGALL   THOMAS B STEGALL   CURTIS W STEGER   LANCE J STEIGER   DAVID J STEIGERWALD   AARON DALE STEIN   ASHLEY D STEIN   CHAD E STEIN   GEORGE F STEIN   
CARSTEN STEINER   WARD B STEINER   ANTHONY STEINHAUSER   JOHN D STEINKAMP   DAVID P STEINMETZ   ANDREW STELLA   DAVID S STELLHORN   SCOTT A STELLHORN   JOHN C STEMANN   RAYMOND R STENDER   ROGER F STENDER   
SHAWN D STENNETT   BRITTNEY L STENSLAND   JAMES C STENSLAND   WALTER STENSLAND   JACKSON R STEOGER   ROBERT STEPAN   APRIL M STEPHENS   CHAROLETT D STEPHENS   CURTIS L STEPHENS   DANIEL WESTON STEPHENS   
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Co n t e n t s

Executive Officer Group from left to right: James R. Darsey, Executive Vice President; Ladd R. Hall, Executive Vice President;  
Hamilton Lott, Jr., Executive Vice President; R. Joseph Stratman, Executive Vice President; Daniel R. DiMicco, Chairman and  
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2 FInancial highlights2

F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s  � (dollar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS Certain statements made in this annual report are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.  
The words “believe,” “expect,” “project,” “will,” “should” and similar expressions are intended to identify those forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements reflect the Company’s best judgment based on current information, and although we base these statements on circumstances that 
we believe to be reasonable when made, there can be no assurance that future events will not affect the accuracy of such forward-looking information. 
As such, the forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, and actual results may vary materially from the projected results and 
expectations discussed in this report. Factors that might cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to: (1) the sensitivity of the results of our operations to prevailing steel prices and changes in the supply and cost 
of raw materials, including pig iron, iron ore and scrap steel; (2) availability and cost of electricity and natural gas; (3) market demand for steel products, 
which, in the case of many of our products, is driven by the level of nonresidential construction activity in the U.S.; (4) competitive pressure on sales and 
pricing, including pressure from imports and substitute materials; (5) impairment in the recorded value of goodwill, equity investments, inventory, fixed 
assets or other long-lived assets; (6) uncertainties surrounding the global economy, including the severe economic downturn in construction markets 
and excess world capacity for steel production; (7) fluctuations in currency conversion rates; (8) U.S. and foreign trade policies affecting steel imports or 
exports; (9) significant changes in laws or government regulations affecting environmental compliance, including legislation and regulations that result in 
greater regulation of greenhouse gas emissions, which could increase our energy costs and our capital expenditures and operating costs; (10) the cyclical 
nature of the steel industry; (11) capital investments and their impact on our performance; and (12) our safety performance.

2011 2010 % CHANGE

FOR THE YEAR

Net sales $20,023,564 $15,844,627 26%

Earnings:

Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests 1,251,812 267,115 369%

Provision for income taxes 390,828 60,792 543%

Net earnings 860,984 206,323 317%

Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests 82,796 72,231 15%

Net earnings attributable to Nucor stockholders 778,188 134,092 480%

Per share:

Basic 2.45 0.42 483%

Diluted 2.45 0.42 483%

Dividends declared per share 1.4525 1.4425 1%

Percentage of net earnings to net sales 3.9% 0.8%

Return on average stockholders’ equity 10.7% 1.8%

Capital expenditures 450,627 345,294 31%

Depreciation 522,571 512,147 2%

Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) 3,959 64,788 -94%

Sales per employee 974 777 25%

AT YEAR END

Working capital $4,312,022  $4,356,737 -1%

Property, plant and equipment, net 3,755,604 3,852,118 -3%

Long-term debt (including current maturities) 4,280,200 4,280,200 —

Total Nucor stockholders’ equity 7,474,885 7,120,070 5%

Per share 23.60 22.55 5%

Shares outstanding 316,749 315,791 —

Employees 20,800 20,500 1%



33to our stockholders

Fellow Stockholders:

I want to thank everyone on our teams at Nucor and our Harris Steel and David J. 
Joseph (DJJ) operations for their excellent work in an economic environment that 
remained extremely challenging in 2011. Together, we have continued to deliver on our 
goal of Taking Care of Our Customers, which include our fellow teammates, the people 
who buy and use our products, and you, our stockholders, who trust us to make the 
most valuable use of your capital. We have done this by working and succeeding at being 
the Safest, Highest Quality, Lowest Cost, Most Productive and Most Profitable steel and 
steel products company. 

The hard work of the Nucor team — along with our strong financial position and our 
business model with its flexibility, diversification and sustainability — drove us to 
improved results in 2011.

Financial Highlights
Earnings increased more than fivefold in 2011 to $778.2 million, or $2.45 per diluted share, compared with $134.1 million, or $0.42 per 
diluted share, in 2010. Earnings remain significantly lower than they were during the five-year cyclical peak that ended in 2008.

Consolidated net sales increased 26% to $20.02 billion, compared with $15.84 billion in 2010. Average sales price per ton increased 21%, 
while total tons shipped to outside customers increased 5%. The average scrap and scrap substitute cost per ton used increased 25% 
to $439 from $351. Overall operating rates at our steel mills increased to 74% from 70%, which is still well under the pre-recession 91% 
utilization rate for the first nine months of 2008.

In 2012, we expect to see continued growth in sales and earnings for Nucor, albeit in a slow-growth U.S. economy with a challenging 
regulatory and business environment. Uncertainties in Europe’s financial sector, and its potential to impact the banks in other regions of the 
world like the USA, will continue to weigh on global and domestic growth. 

In December 2011, the board of directors authorized an increase to the regular quarterly cash dividend on our common stock to $0.365 
per share from $0.3625 per share, continuing our record of increasing the base cash dividend every year since 1973, when Nucor began 
paying cash dividends. Through the end of 2011, 
Nucor has made 154 consecutive quarterly cash 
dividend payments.

Growing Stronger in Tough Times
The nation’s economy continued to stumble in 
2011, making this one of the longest and deepest 
slumps in several generations. At year end, the U-6 unemployment rate, which includes people who have given up looking for 
work or are underemployed, stood at 15.2%. That’s down from its peak in late 2010 but roughly double the rate in 2007. Adding 
college graduates in low skill positions that do not utilize their education, the unemployment rate is likely closer to 18%.

The U.S. monthly trade deficit widened to over $50 billion over the summer, its highest level in more than 2.5 years, though it narrowed 
somewhat later in the year. GDP growth was an anemic rate of under 2%. Nonresidential construction spending remained at 2010’s 
depressed levels. 

Daniel R. DiMicco
 Chairman and  

Chief Executive Officer

In 2012, we expect to see continued growth in Sales and 

earnings for Nucor, albeit in a slow-growth U.S. economy with a 

challenging regulatory and business environment. 

Earnings increased more than fivefold in 2011 to $778.2 million, 

or $2.45 per diluted share, compared with $134.1 million, or $0.42 

per diluted share, in 2010. 
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This disappointing economic performance is not surprising. Our nation has failed to implement real solutions to eliminate the unsustainable 
structural imbalances that are dragging our economy deeper and deeper into a hole of little or no growth and crushing debt. 

Under these extreme conditions, the Nucor team was still able to achieve a significant improvement in earnings compared with 
2010. Our objective is to deliver improved returns at every point in the economic cycle. We call it delivering higher highs and 
higher lows. In the last major economic slump, from 2001 through 2003, Nucor had a total net earnings of $339.8 million. During 
the even deeper slump of 2009 through 2011, Nucor earned $618.7 million, an increase of 82%. The most recent peak to peak 
earnings grew from $310.9 million in 2000 to $1.83 billion in 2008, an increase of 489%. We expect to see the full benefits of the 

$7 billion in investments made from 2007 through 
2011 (and what we will be investing in 2012 and 
2013) during the next cyclical peak in the economy.

This continual improvement, supported by our 
dedicated Nucor teammates and unique culture, 
has helped us deliver superior returns to our 

stockholders. From September 6, 2000, when Nucor’s new generation of leadership was put in place, through the end of 2011, Nucor 
delivered a total return of 463.9%, compared with 173.9% for Standard & Poor’s Steel Group Index and 4.3% for the S&P 500. 
This performance did not come without significant investment in our growth and continuous improvement initiatives of roughly $10 
billion — or without our strong efforts to hold our global trading “partners” accountable to both the U.S. and WTO trading rules. We 
have no doubt that our performance would have been significantly better if all of our nation’s global trading partners abided by these 
rules without having to be forced.

Nucor uses each economic downturn as an opportunity to grow stronger. We use the good times to prepare for the bad, and we 
use the bad times to prepare for the good. Emerging from downturns stronger than we enter them is how we build long-term value 
for our stockholders. We get stronger because our team is focused on continual improvement and because our financial strength 
allows us to invest in attractive growth opportunities throughout the economic cycle. 

At the end of 2011, cash, short-term investments and restricted cash totaled $3.15 billion. In December 2011, we entered into a 
new five-year revolving credit facility.  The new $1.5 billion facility is undrawn at year end and expires in December 2016.  We have 
no commercial paper outstanding. Long-term debt totaled $4.3 billion for a gross debt to capital ratio of 36%. Looking ahead, our 
debt to capital ratio is expected to decline as a result of upcoming long-term debt maturities of $650 million in 2012 and $250 

million in 2013. We expect to fund those maturities 
by drawing on our healthy liquidity position and 
continued strong operating cash flows. 

Standard & Poor’s (S&P), in its January 9, 2012 report 
“North American Metals and Mining Companies, 
Strongest to Weakest,” again ranked Nucor #1 for 
credit rating and credit outlook among a universe of 68 

companies. Nucor was also the only metals and mining company in the group that S&P awarded a strong business risk profile due to our 
competitive position and profit performance relative to our peers. 

Preparing for Growth
From this position of financial strength, we continue to successfully execute on our five-pronged growth strategy, even in the midst 
of a down economy. That strategy, in short, is:
•	 Optimize and continuously improve our existing operations and our teammates.
•	 Execute and grow our raw materials strategy. 
•	 Expand through greenfield growth, taking advantage of new technology and unique market niches.
•	 Seek international growth via joint ventures.
•	 Grow through strategic acquisitions. 

In the last major economic slump, from 2001 through 2003,  

Nucor had a total net earnings of $339.8 million. During  

the even deeper slump of 2009 through 2011, Nucor earned  

$618.7 million, an increase of 82%.

From September 6, 2000, when Nucor’s new generation of 

leadership was put in place, through the end of 2011, Nucor 

delivered a total return of 463.9%, compared with 173.9% for 

Standard & Poor’s Steel Group Index and 4.3% for the S&P 500.
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Highlighting a few key investments, construction began on Phase I of an ironmaking facility on 4,000 acres in St. James Parish, 
Louisiana, and is proceeding on schedule. We continue to expect start-up in mid-2013. This first phase, with an annual capacity of 
2.5 million tons per year, will bring us closer to our long-term objective to control between six and seven million tons of high-quality 
scrap substitutes, supplementing the expansion at our ironmaking facility in Trinidad from 1.8 million metric tons to 2.0 million 
metric tons. 
 
The new facility will use a proven technology to convert iron ore pellets, utilizing efficient, low-cost natural gas as the reductant, 
into high-quality direct reduced iron (DRI). DRI is used by our steel mills, along with recycled scrap, in producing numerous 
high‑quality steel products such as sheet, plate and special bar quality (SBQ) steel. Fracking, a process that fractures rock to 
release natural gas, promises to make natural gas even more plentiful and affordable. While we realize the fracking process has 
generated some recent controversy, we are confident that careful extraction practices will provide a valuable, plentiful, low-cost 
source of natural gas for generations to come. In fact, it is a major “game changer” for our country and U.S.-based manufacturing.

We commissioned a heat treating facility at our plate mill in Hertford County, North Carolina during 2011. The heat treat line has an 
estimated annual capacity of 125,000 tons and has the ability to produce heat treated plate from 3/16 of an inch through 2 inches thick. 

Our new Kingman, Arizona, wire rod and rebar mill and SBQ mill in Memphis, Tennessee, achieved profitability by the first quarter 
of 2011. We also installed a new quality assurance line at our SBQ mill in Norfolk, Nebraska, while our Darlington, South Carolina, 
mill implemented new casting practices that enabled it to expand its presence in higher quality SBQ applications. Our SBQ mills 
have been and will continue to be a source of growth as we grow our core product range and expand market penetration.

Our joint venture in Italy, Duferdofin Nucor, revamped the finishing rolling mill of its steel beam plant in Pallanzeno, Verbania, in the 
northwestern region of Piedmont. The project also included a state-of-the-art rolling mill control system.

DJJ continued its growth by completing four acquisitions since mid-2010. The DJJ team has also continued the development and 
refinement of new technologies to extract significantly higher ferrous and non-ferrous metal yields from shredded scrap.

These highlighted projects are just a sample of 
the many projects our teams are undertaking 
to grow our long-term earnings power in every 
part of the company. From 2008 through 2011, 
we invested more than $2 billion in projects 
to continually improve our existing operations 
at every level. Supported by our prudent 
investments, our product groups continue to 
expand further up the value chain, while retaining leadership positions in our current markets.  

While 2011 saw significant new regulations imposed on Nucor, our environmental performance continued to improve. We are 
pushing forward with innovative measures to ensure our continued full compliance with both existing and new regulations. In 
January 2011, Nucor Louisiana received the first major source permit issued in the United States under the new greenhouse 
gas rules imposed by the EPA, demonstrating our ability to permit projects that others view as extremely difficult or impossible. 
Our environmental staff continues to find economic opportunities to improve compliance and decrease costs while helping our 
operations manage the impact of new regulations on our company.   

Working Together
Our improved results in 2011 benefited greatly from our position as North America’s most diversified steelmaker. Product diversification is 
a critical building block in the business model that drives Nucor’s industry-leading, through-the-cycle return on capital performance. 

Our product diversity is evidenced by the fact that our largest product categories — sheet steel, steel bars, structural steel, steel 
plate, scrap and steel products — each represent more than 10% of our total sales tons.

These highlighted projects are just a sample of the many 

projects our teams are undertaking to grow our long-term 

earnings power in every part of the company. From 2008 through 

2011, we invested more than $2 billion in projects to continually 

improve our existing operations at every level. 
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Through initiatives such as “One Nucor” and “Commercial Excellence,” our team is working more closely together than ever to 
take care of our customers. For example, our HEAT team (Heavy Equipment, Agricultural and Transportation) is made up of sales 
leaders from multiple steel product groups and focuses on team selling to specific OEM customers.  In a number of examples, this 
team was able to more than double our sales tons with key OEM customers by taking a base position in a single product (such as 
sheet steel) and adding sales of plate, SBQ and structural steel products.  We expect further market penetration in 2012 as our 
HEAT, Power and Energy Infrastructure, Construction and Transportation Infrastructure and Automotive and Consumer Durable 
teams work to leverage our broad product offerings and network of customer relationships.

A more dramatic example of teamwork occurred this past spring, when a series of devastating tornadoes tore through the 
Southeast. Our Decatur, Alabama, sheet mill lost full electrical power for 29 days; however, in true Nucor fashion, our team 
responded immediately. Our Decatur team worked with their sister sheet mill divisions to successfully move all of Decatur’s 
orders to other Nucor sheet mills. Those orders were then produced and delivered on time. The change in production sourcing 
within the Nucor sheet mill group was seamless, if not invisible, to our customers. Meanwhile, many Nucor divisions, including 
Decatur, hustled to send supplies, equipment and volunteers to help nearby communities recover from the extensive tornado 
damage. The bottom line is that we use Nucor’s unrivaled position of strength and flexibility to take care of ALL of our 
customers. I want to again personally thank all of my teammates for the extraordinary efforts they put forth to help those in the 
communities devastated by the tornadoes — THANK YOU — I couldn’t be prouder!

U.S.-Based Manufacturing — The Way Forward
U.S.-based manufacturing will hold the key to continued domestic economic growth for years and decades to come. A move back 
to “creating, making and building” things as the major driver of our economy and growth of our middle class is long overdue! The 
idea that a services-dominated economy alone could provide lasting wealth creation (and good riddance to the manufacturing 
sector) is a hugely failed business model that depended on one phony wealth creation scheme after another to generate a 
“fool’s gold” wealth. The only way to build a long-lasting wealth creation cycle is to return to the business model based on sound 
economic fundamentals and to rely on “creating, making and building” things again, here at home. The answer is not to rely on the 
something-for-nothing government policy and financial business model that has created one major economic bubble after another, 
culminating with the “great financial collapse” of 2008. 

This is how we awaken the dream and rekindle the process that allows for future generations to have the opportunity — not the 
guarantee, but the opportunity — to improve upon previous ones. The time is right, the opportunity is here for us to seize, and 
the path forward is clear. The new opportunities in energy, infrastructure rebuilding, and revitalizing our manufacturing sector are 
shouting out to us as the path forward. This is the path that will create 30 million net jobs over the next five to seven years, rebuild 
our economy, our tax base, our middle class and our global competitiveness! We at Nucor and our partners in the domestic and 
multinational manufacturing community are committed to doing our part to shine a bright light on this path forward.

In closing, I would like to once again say thank you to all Nucor, Harris and DJJ teammates for their remarkable energy and 
commitment to working hard, working smart, working together and, most importantly, working safely; to our customers and 
suppliers for the strong relationships and the valued business we do together; and to our stockholders for your continued 
investment in and support for the Nucor team.

Nucor’s best is yet to come!

Let’s Continue To Do It Together,
 

Daniel R. DiMicco
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Peter C. Browning
Lead Director

Fellow Stockholders: 

The board of directors would like to recognize the strong performance of the entire 
Nucor team in what continues to be the greatest challenge the steel industry has 
experienced since the Great Depression.

One of the critical components of Nucor’s success is the ongoing commitment, 
regardless of circumstance, to invest in projects that support continued long-term 
growth. Dan has outlined a number of examples in his letter. 

Despite the extended period of economic distress, as part of Nucor’s commitment to 
shareholders, at the end of 2011 the board approved an increase in the company’s 
base dividend to $0.365 per share. In 2011, each share of Nucor stock paid more  
than 750% higher dividends than it did a decade earlier.

Nucor teammates help protect the company by protecting themselves. Throughout 
the year, they continued to make safety their top priority. In addition, Nucor continues 
to develop the talent of its exceptional group of teammates. As Nucor has grown, the 
Company has presented additional opportunities for its people to build and develop 
their leadership skills. Each December, the board reviews the process of hiring, 
leadership development and succession planning. With the retirement of several top 

executives in recent years, a new generation of leadership has stepped confidently and ably into place.

It’s always nice when others recognize the quality of Nucor’s leadership. IndustryWeek inducted Dan DiMicco into the respected 
magazine’s Manufacturing Hall of Fame. The magazine described Dan as “a leading voice for U.S. manufacturing and the nation’s 
steel industry” and acknowledged his commitment to Nucor teammates and “shepherding the company through a period of 
unprecedented growth as well as the harrowing recession of the late 2000s.” Congratulations to Dan and the entire Nucor team.
 

Peter C. Browning
Lead Director
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STEEL MILLS SEGMENT

BAR, SHEET, STRUCTURAL AND PLATE MILLS Nucor operates scrap-

based steel mills in 23 facilities and is North America’s largest recycler. 
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Bar MILLS 
Nucor has 13 bar mills located across the United States that produce concrete reinforcing bars, hot-rolled bars, rods, light shapes, 
structural angles, channels and guard rail in carbon and alloy steels. These products have a wide usage serving primarily the 
agricultural, automotive, construction, energy, furniture, machinery, metal building, railroad, recreational equipment, shipbuilding, 
heavy truck and trailer market segments. The total capacity of the bar mills is approximately 9,110,000 tons per year.

Four of the bar mills were constructed by Nucor between 1969 and 1981. Over the years, Nucor has completed extensive capital 
projects to keep these facilities modernized and globally competitive. Nucor acquired the remaining bar mills since 2000. 

In 2009, Nucor started up operations at the state-of-the-art SBQ mill in Memphis, Tennessee. The Memphis mill continues to 
expand its product offerings and is supplying high-quality steel for use in many demanding customer applications. Complementary 
to the product offerings of Nucor’s Nebraska and South Carolina SBQ mills, the Memphis mill has augmented Nucor’s growth in 
the automotive, energy, heavy equipment and service center markets. In addition, Nucor has recently announced plans to expand 
our SBQ and wire production capabilities by a combined one million tons over the next two years. This $290 million investment 
includes projects to be completed at our Memphis, Nebraska and South Carolina bar mills. 

In November 2009, Nucor recommissioned the Kingman, Arizona, wire rod and bar mill that we acquired in 2003. Production 
began during the second quarter of 2010. With a current annual operating capability of straight-length rebar, coiled rebar and 
wire rod of approximately 200,000 tons, Nucor has the ability to increase the annual production to 500,000 tons with minimal 
investment. This facility allows Nucor to better serve wire rod and rebar customers in the southwestern U.S. market.

SHEET MILLS 
Nucor’s four sheet mills utilize thin slab casters to produce flat-rolled steel for the automotive, appliance, construction, pipe and 
tube, and many other industries. Nucor constructed three of the sheet mills between 1989 and 1996, and Nucor’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, Nucor Steel Decatur, LLC, purchased substantially all the assets of Trico Steel Company, LLC in 2002. In 2009, Nucor 
began operations at the galvanizing facility at the Decatur sheet mill. This line has enabled Nucor to expand the products offered 
to the galvanized market and increased the sheet mills’ total coated capacity by one-third. All four of our sheet mills are now fully 
equipped with cold rolling mills and galvanizing lines for further processing of hot-rolled sheet. Through strategic investments 
and continuous process improvement efforts, Nucor continues to greatly expand our sheet product capabilities and offerings. 
During 2012, we are installing a vacuum degasser at Hickman, Arkansas. As the westernmost sheet facility in the United States 
with a vacuum degasser, Hickman will be strategically positioned to take advantage of the growing markets in the southwestern 
United States and Mexico. We have also recently announced plans to make an investment at the Berkeley, South Carolina, mill. 
This investment will provide Berkeley the capability to produce 74-inch wide hot band product, with downstream products being 
produced at a finished width of 72 inches. 

Nucor also operates two Castrip sheet production facilities. In May 2002, Nucor began operations at our first Castrip facility 
in Crawfordsville, Indiana. In 2009, Nucor commissioned our second Castrip production facility in Blytheville, Arkansas. The 
Castrip‑Arkansas team, supported by the Castrip-Indiana team, is experiencing a successful start-up and continues to make 
significant progress. These facilities use the breakthrough technology of strip casting, which involves the direct casting of molten 
steel into final shape and thickness without further hot or cold rolling. This process allows for lower capital investment, reduced 
energy consumption and smaller scale plants than can be economically built with current technology. This process also reduces 
the overall environmental impact of producing steel by generating significantly lower emissions.  

Nucor’s total sheet product annual capacity is approximately 11,300,000 tons. 

STRUCTURAL MILLS 
The structural mills produce wide-flange steel beams, pilings and heavy structural steel products for fabricators, construction 
companies, manufacturers and steel service centers. In 1988, Nucor and Yamato Kogyo Co. LTD., one of Japan’s major producers 
of wide-flange beams, completed construction of a beam mill located near Blytheville, Arkansas. Nucor owns a 51% interest in 
Nucor-Yamato Steel Company. During 1999, Nucor started operations at its wholly owned steel beam mill in South Carolina. Both 
mills use a special continuous casting method that produces a beam blank closer in shape to that of the finished beam than 
traditional methods. Current annual production capacity of our two structural mills is approximately 3,700,000 tons.

PLATE MILLS  
Nucor operates two plate mills. In 2000 Nucor completed construction of its first plate mill, located in North Carolina, and in 2004 
Nucor’s wholly owned subsidiary, Nucor Steel Tuscaloosa, Inc., purchased substantially all the assets of Corus Tuscaloosa. Our 
mills produce plate for manufacturers of barges, bridges, heavy equipment, rail cars, refinery tanks, ships, wind towers and other 
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items. Our products are further used in the pipe and tube, pressure vessel, transportation and construction industries. The current 
annual production capacity of our two plate mills is approximately 2,900,000 tons. 

In early 2011, Nucor started operations at a newly constructed 125,000-ton heat treating facility at the plate mill in North Carolina. 
Heat treated plate is used in applications requiring higher strength, abrasion resistance and toughness. This project has advanced 
Nucor’s strategy of expanding our value-added product mix in the plate market. 

OPERATIONS  
Nucor’s steel mills are among the most modern and efficient mills in the United States. Recycled steel scrap and other metallics 
are melted in electric arc furnaces and poured into continuous casting systems. Highly sophisticated rolling mills convert the 
billets, blooms and slabs into rebar, angles, rounds, channels, flats, sheet, beams, plate and other products.  

Steel production increased 7% from 18,258,000 tons in 2010 to 19,561,000 tons in 2011. Annual production capacity has grown 
from 120,000 tons in 1970 to 13,000,000 tons in 2000 to a present total of approximately 27,000,000 tons. 

Scrap and scrap substitutes are the most significant elements in the total cost of steel production. The average cost of scrap and 
scrap substitutes used increased 25% from $351 per ton in 2010 to $439 per ton in 2011. A raw material surcharge implemented 
in 2004 assists Nucor in maintaining operating margins and in meeting our customer commitments during periods of highly 
volatile scrap and scrap substitute costs.

Steel mills are large consumers of electricity and natural gas. Total energy costs increased approximately $1 per ton from 2010 to 
2011 primarily due to higher electricity unit costs. Because of the efficiency of Nucor steel mills, the 2011 energy costs were less 
than 6% of the net sales dollar. 

The operations in the steel mills are highly automated, resulting in employment costs of less than 7% of the net sales dollar in 
2011. Employee turnover in Nucor mills is extremely low. All employees have a significant part of their compensation based on 
their productivity. Production employees work under group incentives that provide increased earnings for increased production. 
This additional compensation is paid weekly. 

MARKETS AND MARKETING 
Approximately 86% of the steel mills’ production in 2011 was sold to outside customers, and the balance was primarily used 
internally by the steel products segment. Steel shipments to outside customers increased 6% from 15,821,000 tons in 2010 to 
16,796,000 tons in 2011.  

Our steel mill customers are primarily manufacturers, steel service centers and fabricators. The sheet mills continue to build long-
term relationships with contract customers who purchase more value-added products. We enter 2012 with approximately 50% of 
our estimated sheet mill volume committed to contract customers. Contract terms are typically less than twelve months in length 
with various renewal dates. These contracts are generally noncancelable agreements with a pricing formula that varies based on 
raw material costs and/or market-based indices. 

Sheet STEEL PROCESSING JOINT VENTURE  
In March 2010, Nucor entered into an agreement with Mitsui & Co. (U.S.A.) to form NuMit LLC. In April 2010, Nucor acquired a 
50% economic and voting interest in NuMit LLC for approximately $221.3 million. NuMit LLC owns 100% of the equity interest 
in Steel Technologies LLC, an operator of 25 sheet processing facilities throughout the United States, Canada and Mexico. 
Steel Technologies operates as an independent business, allowing Nucor to continue its long-standing relationships with other 
sheet processing companies while at the same time allowing Steel Technologies the ability to independently manage its supply 
needs. Nucor’s previously announced plans to construct a greenfield flat-rolled processing center in Monterrey, Mexico, will be 
implemented by Steel Technologies. This joint venture relationship is also supportive of Nucor’s growth strategy of finding the right 
partners to grow with internationally.

International Joint venture 
In 2008, Nucor acquired 50% of the stock of Duferdofin Nucor S.r.l., which operates a melt shop and bloom/billet caster in Brescia, 
Italy, with an annual capacity of 1,000,000 metric tons. The joint venture also operates three rolling mills in Italy including two beam 
rolling mills that have a combined capacity of approximately 1,000,000 metric tons and a 450,000‑metric ton bar mill started up in 
2009. Duferdofin Nucor also operates a 55,000-metric ton trackshoes/cutting edges mill. 
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STEEL PRODUCTS SEGMENT

 

reinforcing 
products 

buildings  
group
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REINFORCING PRODUCTS Harris Steel fabricates, installs, and 

distributes rebar for highways, bridges and other infrastructure, as well as 

commercial and multi-tenant residential construction markets. 

operations 
Acquired in March 2007, Harris Steel operates as a subsidiary of Nucor, fabricating, installing and distributing rebar in the United 
States and Canada. Harris Steel has provided a significant growth platform for Nucor in the rebar fabrication business. Since the 
acquisition of Harris, Nucor’s total rebar fabrication capacity has more than doubled to nearly 1,700,000 tons. Harris Steel continued 
to expand their strategically located facilities further in 2011 by opening new rebar fabrication facilities in Birmingham, Alabama, and 
San Antonio, Texas. Harris Steel obtains much of its steel requirements from the Nucor bar mills.

In 2011, fabricated rebar sales were 1,074,000 tons, an increase of 9% over 981,000 tons in 2010. 

MARKETS AND MARKETING
Reinforcing products are essential to concrete construction. They supply tensile strength, as well as additional compressive strength, 
and protect the concrete from cracking. Harris Steel bids on and executes a wide variety of construction work primarily classified as 
infrastructure, including highways, bridges, reservoirs, utilities, hospitals, schools, airports and stadiums. Harris Steel is also active in 
commercial office building and multi-tenant residential (high-rise) construction. In many markets, Harris Steel sells reinforcing products 
on an installed basis; i.e., Harris Steel fabricates the reinforcing products for a specific application and performs installation. Harris Steel 
operates over 70 fabrication facilities across the United States and Canada, with each facility serving a local market.  

STEEL MESH, GRATING AND FASTENERS Nucor manufactures wire 

products, grating and industrial fasteners.

STEEL MESH
Nucor produces mesh at Nucor Steel Connecticut, Inc., Nucor Wire Products of Pennsylvania Inc., and Nucor Wire Products Utah, Inc. Nucor 
also produces mesh in Canada at the Harris Steel operations of Laurel and Laurel-LEC. The combined annual production capacity of the steel 
mesh facilities is approximately 248,000 tons.

GRATING
Fisher & Ludlow, an operation of Harris Steel, fabricates steel and aluminum bar grating, safety grating and expanded metal products at facilities 
located in North America. Fisher & Ludlow serves the new construction and maintenance-related markets with annual production capacity of 
approximately 103,000 tons.

FASTENERs
Nucor Fastener’s bolt-making facility in Indiana produces carbon and alloy steel hex head cap screws, hex bolts, structural bolts, nuts 
and washers, finished hex nuts and custom-engineered fasteners. Nucor fasteners are used in a broad range of markets, including 
demanding automotive, machine tool, farm implement, construction and military applications. Annual capacity is more than 75,000 
tons. Nucor Fastener obtains much of its steel from the Nucor bar mills.
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VULCRAFT/VERCO Group is the nation’s largest producer and leading 

innovator of open-web steel joists, joist girders and steel deck, which are 

used primarily for nonresidential building construction.

operations 
Steel joists and joist girders are produced and marketed nationally through seven Vulcraft facilities located across the United States. 
The current annual joist production capacity is approximately 715,000 tons. In 2011, Vulcraft produced 288,000 tons of steel joists 
and joist girders, an increase of 4% from the 276,000 tons produced in 2010. Material costs, primarily steel, were approximately 
66% of the joist sales dollar in both 2011 and 2010. Vulcraft obtained more than 99% of its steel requirements for joists and joist 
girders from the Nucor bar mills in both 2011 and 2010. Freight costs for joists and joist girders were less than 9% of the sales 
dollar in both years.  

Steel decking is produced and marketed nationally through nine deck plants located throughout the United States. Six of these plants 
are adjacent to Vulcraft joist facilities. The current annual deck production capacity is approximately 530,000 tons. In 2011, steel 
deck sales increased 2% to 312,000 tons, compared to 306,000 tons in 2010. Material costs, primarily coiled sheet steel, were 
approximately 78% of the steel deck sales dollar in both 2011 and 2010. Nucor obtained approximately 83% and 81% of its steel 
requirements for steel deck production from the Nucor sheet mills in 2011 and 2010, respectively. In 2011 and 2010, freight costs 
were less than 7% of the sales dollar. 

Vulcraft maintains an extensive fleet of trucks to ensure the on-time delivery of its joist and deck products.

MARKETS AND MARKETING 
The majority of steel joists, joist girders and steel decking are used extensively as part of the roof and floor structural support systems 
in manufacturing buildings, retail stores, shopping centers, warehouses, schools, churches, hospitals and, to a lesser extent, in multi-
story buildings and apartments. 

Steel joists and joist girder sales are made through a competitive bidding process. Vulcraft quotes on a significant percentage of the 
domestic buildings using steel joists and joist girders as part of the support systems. Vulcraft is the largest supplier of steel joists and 
joist girders in the United States. 

Steel deck sales are also made through a competitive bidding process. The majority of steel deck is used to support roofs and is also used 
as concrete floor support in high-rise buildings. Vulcraft and Verco are also the largest suppliers of steel decking in the United States. 

Sales of steel joists, joist girders and steel deck are dependent on the nonresidential building construction market. 
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BUILDINGS GROUP Nucor manufactures custom-engineered and 
standard metal buildings and components.

operations 
Nucor produces metal buildings and components throughout the United States under the following brands: Nucor Building 
Systems, American Buildings Company, Kirby Building Systems, Gulf States Manufacturers and CBC Steel Buildings. In total, the 
Nucor Buildings Group currently has eleven metal buildings plants with an annual capacity of approximately 465,000 tons. 

The Buildings Group sales were 232,000 tons in 2011, a decrease of 3% from 239,000 tons in 2010.

MARKETS AND MARKETING 
The size of the buildings that can be produced ranges from less than 1,000 square feet to more than 1,000,000 square feet. 
Complete metal building packages can be customized and combined with other materials such as glass, wood and masonry to 
produce a cost-effective, aesthetically pleasing building designed to the customers’ special requirements. The buildings are sold 
primarily through an independent builder distribution network in order to provide fast-track, customized solutions for building owners. 

The primary markets served are commercial, industrial and institutional buildings, including distribution centers, automobile 
dealerships, retail centers, schools, warehouses and manufacturing facilities. The Buildings Group obtains a significant portion of its 
steel requirements from the Nucor bar and sheet mills. 
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COLD FINISH Nucor is North America’s largest producer of cold finished 

bar products for a wide range of industrial markets.

operations 
Nucor Cold Finish is the largest producer of cold finished bars in North America and has facilities in Missouri, Nebraska, South 
Carolina, Utah, Wisconsin, and Ontario, Canada. The Missouri facility operates as Nucor-LMP and the Canadian facilities are a part 
of Harris Steel and operate as Laurel Steel. The total capacity of the Nucor cold finished bar and wire facilities is approximately 
860,000 tons per year. In 2011, sales of cold finished steel products were 494,000 tons, an increase of 7% from the 462,000 tons 
sold in 2010.

All of Nucor’s cold finished facilities are among the most modern in the world and most use in-line electronic testing to ensure 
outstanding quality. Nucor Cold Finish obtains most of its steel from the Nucor bar mills. This factor, along with our facilities’ use of 
the latest technology, results in a highly competitive cost structure. 

MARKETS AND MARKETING 
These facilities produce cold-drawn, turned, ground and polished steel bars that are used extensively for shafting and other precision 
machined applications. Nucor Cold Finish produces rounds, hexagons, flats and squares in carbon, alloy and leaded steels. These 
bars, in turn, are purchased by the appliance, automotive, construction equipment, electric motor, farm machinery, and fluid power 
industries, as well as by service centers. Nucor Cold Finish bars are used in tens of thousands of products. A few examples include 
anchor bolts, hydraulic cylinders and shafting for air conditioner compressors, ceiling fan motors, garage door openers, electric 
motors and lawn mowers. 
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RAW MATERIALS SEGMENT

Scrap and scrap substitutes are Nucor’s single largest cost. Nucor 

continues to execute a disciplined raw materials strategy focused on achieving 

greater control over our key metallic inputs consumed at the steel mills.

*Hong Kong and Switzerland offices not shown

 SCRAP PROCESSING  brokerage offices*  Dri Plants  other    DJJ corporate office    nucor corporate office

trinidad
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operations 
The David J. Joseph Company (DJJ) operates over 60 scrap processing facilities; brokers ferrous scrap; internationally sources 
scrap, pig iron and other scrap substitutes; and brokers ferro-alloys and nonferrous metals. The DJJ Mill and Industrial Services 



20 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION and ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION and RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Macroeconomic Conditions 
The sluggish pace of the economic recovery since the worst national recession the United States has experienced in decades 
continues to adversely affect our business. Although the U.S. economy has grown since the second half of 2009, the unemployment 
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raw material surcharge mechanism, which our customers understand is a necessary response by us to the market forces of supply 
and demand for our raw materials. The surcharge mechanism functions to offset changes in prices of our raw materials and is 
based upon widely available market indices for prices of scrap and other raw materials. We monitor changes in those indices closely 
and make adjustments as needed, generally on a monthly basis, to our surcharges and sometimes directly to the selling prices for 
our products. The surcharges are determined from a base scrap price and can differ by product. To help mitigate the scrap price 
risk, we also aim to manage scrap inventory levels at the steel mills to match the anticipated demand over the next several weeks for 
various steel products. Certain scrap substitutes, including pig iron, have longer lead times for delivery than scrap. Our raw material 
surcharge mechanism works best when demand for the affected products ranges from stable to strong. Then, we are generally able 
to pass through relatively quickly the increased costs of ferrous scrap and scrap substitutes and protect our gross margins from 
significant erosion. The surcharge mechanism can be less effective when the demand for our products is weak. 

Although the majority of our steel sales are to spot market customers who place their orders each month based on their business 
needs and our pricing competitiveness compared to both domestic and global producers and trading companies, we also sell 
contract tons, primarily in our sheet operations. Approximately 50% of our sheet sales were to contract customers in 2011 (40% 
and 30% in 2010 and 2009, respectively), with the balance in the spot market at the prevailing prices at the time of sale. Steel 
contract sales outside of our sheet operations are not significant. The amount of tons sold to contract customers depends on the 
overall market conditions at the time, how the end-use customers see the market moving forward, and the strategy that Nucor 
management believes is appropriate to the upcoming period. Nucor management considerations include maintaining an appropriate 
balance of spot and contract tons based on market projections and appropriately supporting our diversified customer base. The 
percentage of tons that is placed under contract also depends on the overall market dynamics and customer negotiations. In years 
of strengthening demand, we typically see an increase in the percentage of sheet sales sold under contract as our customers have 
an expectation that transaction prices will rapidly rise and available capacity will quickly be sold out. To mitigate this risk, customers 
prefer to enter into contracts in order to obtain committed volumes of supply from the mills. Our contracts include a method of 
adjusting prices on a periodic basis to reflect changes in the market pricing for steel and/or scrap. Market indices for steel generally 
trend with scrap pricing changes. Since the selling price adjustments are not immediate, however, there will always be a timing 
difference between changes in the prices we pay for raw materials and the adjustments we make to our contract selling prices. 
Generally, in periods of increasing scrap prices, we experience a short-term margin contraction on contract tons. Conversely, in 
periods of decreasing scrap prices, we typically experience a short-term margin expansion. Contract sales typically have terms 
ranging from six to twelve months. 

Another significant uncertainty we face is the cost of energy. The availability and prices of electricity and natural gas are influenced 
today by many factors including changes in supply and demand, advances in drilling technology and, increasingly, by changes in 
public policy relating to energy production and use. Proposed regulation of greenhouse gas emissions from new and refurbished 
power plants could increase our cost of electricity in future years, particularly if they are adopted in a form that requires deep 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. Adopting these regulations in an onerous form could lead to foreign producers that are not 
affected by them gaining a competitive advantage over us. We are monitoring these regulatory developments closely and will seek to 
educate public policy makers during the adoption process about their potential impact on our business.

Our Strengths and Opportunities  
We are North America’s most diversified steel producer. As a result, our short-term performance is not tied to any one market. The 
pie chart below shows the diversity of our product mix by total tons sold to outside customers in 2011. 

DIVERSIFIED PRODUCT MIX
Total Tons Sold to Outside Customers in 2011

Sheet
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Our highly variable cost structure, combined with our financial strength and liquidity, has allowed us to succeed in cyclical severely 
depressed steel industry market conditions in the past. In such times, our incentive-based pay system reduces our payroll costs, 
both hourly and salary, which helps to offset lower selling prices. Our pay-for-performance system that is closely tied to our levels of 
production also allows us to keep our work force intact and to continue operating our facilities when some of our competitors with 
greater fixed costs are forced to shut down some of their facilities. Because we use electric arc furnaces to produce our steel, we 
can easily vary our production levels to match short-term changes in demand, unlike our integrated competitors. We believe these 
strengths have given us opportunities to gain market share during such times. 

Evaluating Our Operating Performance 
We report our results of operations in three segments: steel mills, steel products and raw materials. Most of the steel we produce in our 
mills is sold to outside customers, but a significant percentage is used internally. 

We begin measuring our performance by comparing our net sales, both in total and by individual segment, during a reporting period to our 
net sales in the corresponding period in the prior year. In doing so, we focus on changes in and the reasons for such changes in the two 
key variables that have the greatest influence on our net sales, average sales price per ton and total tons shipped to outside customers. 

We also focus on both dollar and percentage changes in gross margins, which are key drivers of our profitability, and the reasons for 
such changes. There are many factors from period to period that can affect our gross margins. One consistent area of focus for us 
is changes in “metal margins,” which is the difference between the selling price of steel and the cost of scrap and scrap substitutes. 
Increases in the cost of scrap and scrap substitutes that are not offset by increases in the selling price of steel can quickly compress our 
margins and reduce our profitability. 

Another factor affecting our gross margins in any given period is the application of the LIFO method of accounting to a substantial 
portion of our inventory (47% of total inventories as of December 31, 2011). LIFO charges or credits for interim periods are based 
on management’s interim period-end estimates, after considering current and anticipated market conditions, of both inventory costs 
and quantities at fiscal year end. The actual year end amounts of inventory costs and/or quantities may differ significantly from 
these estimated interim amounts. Annual LIFO charges or credits are largely based on the relative changes in cost and quantities 
year over year, primarily with raw material inventory in the steel mills segment. 

Because we are such a large user of energy, material changes in energy costs per ton can also significantly affect our gross margins. 
Lower energy costs per ton increase our gross margins. Generally, our energy costs per ton are lower when the average utilization rates 
of all operating facilities in our steel mills segment are higher. 

Changes in marketing, administrative and other expenses, particularly freight and profit sharing costs, can also have a material effect 
on our results of operations for a reporting period. Profit sharing costs vary significantly from period to period as they are based upon 
changes in our pre-tax earnings and are a reflection of our pay-for-performance system that is closely tied to our levels of production.

Evaluating our Financial Condition
We evaluate our financial condition each reporting period by focusing primarily on cash provided by operating activities, our current ratio, the 
turnover rate of our accounts receivable and inventories, the amount and reasons for changes in cash used in investing activities, the amount 
and reasons for changes in cash provided by financing activities and our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments position 
at period end. Our conservative financial practices have served us well in the past and are serving us well today. As a result, our financial 
position remains strong despite the negative effects on our business of the current downturn in the economic cycle. 

Comparison of 2011 to 2010  
results of operations 

NET SALES 
Net sales to external customers by segment for 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 % Change

Steel mills $13,960,245 $10,860,760 29%
Steel products 3,431,490 2,831,209 21%
Raw materials 2,128,391 1,814,329 17%
All other 503,438 338,329 49%
Total net sales to external customers $20,023,564 $15,844,627 26%
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Net sales for 2011 increased 26% from the prior year. The average sales price per ton increased 21% from $720 in 2010 to 
$869 in 2011, while total tons shipped to outside customers increased 5%. The average sales price per ton of $850 in the 
fourth quarter of 2011 decreased 6% from $908 in the third quarter of 2011 due to lower average sales price per ton in our 
steel mills. 

In the steel mills segment, production and sales tons were as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 % Change

Steel production 19,561 18,258 7%

Outside steel shipments 16,796 15,821 6%
Inside steel shipments 3,329 2,752 21%
Total steel shipments 20,125 18,573 8%

Net sales to external customers in the steel mills segment increased 29% due to a 6% increase in tons sold to outside customers 
and a 21% increase in the average sales price per ton from $689 in 2010 to $832 in 2011. Total production levels at the steel 
mills increased 7% due to an increase in outside shipments as well as an increase of more than 500,000 tons supplied to other 
Nucor businesses.

While average selling prices increased from the prior year, the average sales price per ton declined during the last three quarters 
of 2011. The average sales price per ton in the fourth quarter of 2011 was $806, a decrease of 10% from $891 in the second 
quarter of 2011. The most significant decreases in average selling prices were for our sheet and plate products, which were 
impacted by increased domestic capacity and imports in the second half of the year. The erosion in the selling prices of our 
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Tonnage data for the steel products segment is as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 % Change

Joist production 288 276 4%
Deck sales 312 306 2%
Cold finished sales 494 462 7%
Fabricated concrete reinforcing steel sales 1,074 981 9%

Net sales to external customers in the steel products segment increased 21% over 2010 due to a 7% increase in tons sold to outside 
customers and a 13% increase in the average sales price per ton from $1,194 to $1,355. While pricing of joists, deck, cold finished bar 
products, and rebar fabricated products improved over the prior year, sales in the steel products segment remain depressed due to the 
low levels of demand in the nonresidential construction market. Net sales to external customers decreased 10% in the fourth quarter of 
2011 from the third quarter because of typical seasonality in the nonresidential construction market.  

Though volumes have decreased each quarter in 2011, average sales prices of cold finished bar products were 7% higher in the fourth 
quarter of 2011 compared to the first quarter. Sales of cold finished bar products contributed most significantly to the year-over-year 
increases in volumes and prices due to improved demand in heavy equipment and transportation markets. 

Sales for the raw materials segment increased 17% over 2010 primarily due to increased prices. Approximately 86% of outside sales in 
the raw materials segment in 2011 were from brokerage operations of DJJ and approximately 13% of the outside sales were from the 
scrap processing facilities (88% and 12%, respectively, in 2010).

The “All other” category includes Nucor’s steel trading businesses. The year-over-year increases in sales are due to increases in both 
volume and price.

GROSS MARGIN 
In 2011, Nucor recorded gross margins of $1.95 billion (10%) compared with $843.7 million (5%) in 2010. The year-over-year 
dollar and percentage gross margin increases were primarily the result of the 21% increase in the average sales price per ton and 
the 5% increase in tons shipped to outside customers. Additionally, gross margins were impacted by the following factors:  

 •  �In the steel mills segment, while the average scrap and scrap substitute cost per ton used increased 25% from $351 in 2010 to 
$439 in 2011, metal margins for the full year 2011 also increased and were at their highest level since 2008. This metal margin 
expansion was consistent with our historical experience of rising scrap prices leading, after a short lag, to higher metal margins.   
While scrap costs and metal margins increased year over year, a decrease in scrap costs at the beginning of the fourth quarter 
was accompanied by a decrease in metal margins. This declining trend in steel margins appears to have bottomed out overall, 
as December was our most profitable month in the fourth quarter. The 
trend is more positive at the bar mills and beam mills, where margins per 
ton improved in the fourth quarter compared with the third quarter of 2011. 
Margins at our plate and sheet mills continued to be impacted by higher 
import levels that began in the second quarter of 2011 and new domestic 
sheet mill supply. Selling prices have recently trended up for both our plate 
and sheet steel mills while scrap prices have been flat to slightly down.   
Scrap prices are driven by changes in global supply and demand. While 
monthly scrap prices remained volatile in 2011, the quarterly average cost 
was less volatile and remained at higher levels than in 2010. In 2012, we 
expect quarterly scrap prices and the level of volatility to be more consistent 
with that experienced in 2011. 

 •  �Nucor’s gross margins are significantly impacted by the application of 
the LIFO method of accounting. LIFO charges or credits are largely based 
on the relative changes in cost and quantities year over year, primarily 
within raw material inventory in the steel mills segment. The average scrap 
and scrap substitute cost per ton in ending inventory within our steel 
mills segment at December 31, 2011 increased 12% as compared with 
December 31, 2010, while quantities included in ending inventory also 
increased. As a result of these factors, Nucor incurred a LIFO charge of 
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$142.8 million in 2011 (a LIFO charge of $164.0 million in 2010). The increases in cost per ton and quantities were driven 
by increases in the demand for steel and the related raw materials.

•  �Pre-operating and start-up costs of new facilities decreased to $97.1 million in 2011, compared with $174.8 million in 2010. 
The decrease in pre-operating and start-up costs was due to several projects coming out of start-up, including the SBQ mill 
in Memphis, Tennessee, the wire rod products mill in Kingman, Arizona, and the galvanizing line in Decatur, Alabama. Nucor 
defines pre-operating and start-up costs, all of which are expensed, as the losses attributable to facilities or major projects that 
are either under construction or in the early stages of operation. Once these facilities or projects have attained a utilization rate 
that is consistent with our similar operating facilities, they are no longer considered by Nucor to be in start-up.

•  �Total energy costs increased $1 per ton from 2010 to 2011 due primarily to higher electricity unit costs. Due to the efficiency of 
Nucor’s steel mills, energy costs remained less than 6% of the sales dollar in 2011 and 2010.

•  �Gross margins were impacted in the fourth quarter of 2011 by a non-cash gain of $29.0 million as a result of the correction of 
an actuarial calculation related to the medical plan covering certain eligible early retirees.

MARKETING, ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES 
Two major components of marketing, administrative and other expenses are freight and profit sharing costs. Although freight  
costs increased 3% over the prior year, unit freight costs increased only 1%. Higher fuel prices were partially offset by efficiencies 
created by increased shipments. Profit sharing costs, which are based upon and fluctuate with pre-tax earnings, increased more 
than fivefold from 2010 to 2011 due to the Company’s increased profitability in 2011. In 2011, profit sharing costs consisted of $117.7 
million of contributions, including the Company’s matching contribution, made to the Company’s Profit Sharing and Retirement 
Savings Plan for qualified employees ($22.1 million in 2010). Other bonus costs also fluctuate based on Nucor’s achievement of 
certain financial performance goals, including comparisons of Nucor’s financial performance to peers in the steel industry and other 
companies. Stock‑based compensation included in marketing, administrative and other expenses increased 56% to $24.7 million in 
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EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS  
Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests by segment for 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010

Steel mills $1,703,933  $778,946
Steel products (60,282) (173,433)
Raw materials 150,029  106,317
All other 4,296 4,344
Corporate/eliminations (546,164) (449,059)
Earnings before income taxes and  
    noncontrolling interests $1,251,812 $267,115

Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests in the steel mills segment for 2011 more than doubled over 2010 because 
of increased utilization rates, increased sales prices and metal margins, decreased pre-operating and start-up costs and decreased 
losses from unconsolidated affiliates. Nucor benefited from our diversified product mix in 2011, in which our sheet, bar, plate and 
beam mills all improved their profitability compared to 2010. Our plate and bar mills had the largest increases in profitability, while 
our sheet and beam mills also contributed solid profitability growth. 

Loss before income taxes and noncontrolling interests in the steel products segment in 2011 decreased from 2010. The strongest 
performer in the steel products segment continues to be the cold finished business due to improved demand in the heavy equipment 
and transportation markets. Our downstream fabricated construction products continued to operate in very depressed markets; 
however, we are seeing small but encouraging signs of improvement in our construction products business.

The profitability of our raw materials segment, particularly DJJ, increased over 2010 as higher selling prices in the scrap market 
allowed for margin enhancement.

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 
Noncontrolling interests represent the income attributable to the minority interest partners of Nucor’s joint ventures, primarily Nucor-
Yamato Steel Company (NYS) and Barker Steel Company, Inc., of which Nucor owns 51% and 90%, respectively. The 15% increase 
in earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests was primarily attributable to the increased earnings of NYS, which were due to 
improvements in the structural steel market. Under the NYS limited partnership agreement, the minimum amount of cash to be 
distributed each year to the partners is the amount needed by each partner to pay applicable U.S. federal and state income taxes. 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
The effective tax rate in 2011 was 31.2% compared with 22.8% in 2010. The change in the rate between 2010 and 2011 was 
primarily due to the changes in relative proportions of net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests, state income tax benefit 
and foreign tax benefit to total pre-tax earnings. Nucor has concluded U.S. federal income tax matters for years through 2006. The 
2008 through 2011 tax years are open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service. The years 2004 and 2007 are open to the 
extent net operating losses were carried back. The Canada Revenue Agency has completed an audit examination for the periods 
2006 to 2008 for Harris Steel Group Inc. and subsidiaries with immaterial adjustments to the income tax returns. The tax years 2008 
through 2011 remain open to examination by other major taxing jurisdictions to which Nucor is subject (primarily Canada and other 
state and local jurisdictions).
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NET EARNINGS AND RETURN ON EQUITY 
Nucor reported net earnings of $778.2 million, or $2.45 per diluted share, in 2011 compared to net earnings of $134.1 million, or 
$0.42 per diluted share, in 2010. Net earnings attributable to Nucor stockholders as a percentage of net sales were 4% in 2011 and 
1% in 2010. Return on average stockholders’ equity was 11% and 2% in 2011 and 2010, respectively.

COMPARISON OF 2010 TO 2009 
results of operations

NET SALES 
Net sales to external customers by segment for 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

 

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 2009 % Change

Steel mills $10,860,760 $  7,159,512 52%
Steel products 2,831,209  2,691,322 5%
Raw materials 1,814,329  1,076,964 68%
All other 338,329 262,498 29%
Total net sales to external customers $15,844,627  $11,190,296 42%

Net sales for 2010 increased 42% from the prior year. The average sales price per ton increased 13% from $637 in 2009 to $720 in 
2010, while total tons shipped to outside customers increased 25%. 

In the steel mills segment, production and sales tons were as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 2009 % Change

Steel production 18,258 13,998 30%

Outside steel shipments 15,821 12,075 31%
Inside steel shipments 2,752 1,961 40%
Total steel shipments 18,573 14,036 32%
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Net sales to external customers in the steel mills segment increased 52% due to a 31% increase in tons sold to outside customers 
and a 16% increase in the average sales price per ton from $593 in 2009 to $689 in 2010. Total production levels at the steel mills 
increased 30% due to significant increases in outside shipments as well as in tons supplied to Nucor’s downstream businesses.

Tonnage data for the steel products segment was as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 2009 % Change

Joist production 276 264 5%
Deck sales 306 310 -1%
Cold finished sales 462 330 40%
Fabricated concrete reinforcing steel sales 981 954 3%

Net sales to external customers in the steel products segment increased 5% from 2009 due to a 12% increase in tons sold to 
outside customers partially offset by a 5% decrease in the average sales price per ton from $1,263 to $1,194.

Sales for the raw materials segment increased 68% from 2009 primarily due to increased prices. Approximately 88% of outside 
sales in the raw materials segment in 2010 were from brokerage operations of DJJ and approximately 12% of the outside sales 
were from the scrap processing facilities (80% and 19%, respectively, in 2009).

The “All other” category includes Nucor’s steel trading businesses. The year-over-year increases in sales are due to increases in 
both volume and price.

GROSS MARGIN
In 2010, Nucor recorded gross margins of $843.7 million (5%) compared with $154.4 million (1%) in 2009. The year-over-year 
dollar and gross margin increases were the result of the 25% increase in total shipments to outside customers and the 13% 
increase in average selling price per ton. Additionally, gross margins were impacted by the following factors:

 •  �In the steel mills segment, the average scrap and scrap substitute cost per ton used increased 16% from $303 in 2009 
to $351 in 2010; however, metal margin dollars also increased. The results of the first nine months of 2009 include a 
substantially greater burden than 2010 from the accelerated consumption of high-cost pig iron inventories, primarily at 
our sheet mills. These inventories were purchased prior to the collapse of both the economy and scrap/pig iron pricing in 
the fourth quarter of 2008. The consumption of the high-cost pig iron inventories was completed by the close of the third 
quarter of 2009 but had a negative impact of approximately $420 million on the 2009 gross margin.

 •  �The average scrap and scrap substitute cost per ton in ending inventory within our steel mills segment at December 31, 2010 
increased 32% as compared with December 31, 2009. At December 31, 2010, the tons on hand of inventory held at locations 
that value inventory using the LIFO method of accounting decreased from December 31, 2009, causing a liquidation of LIFO 
inventory layers in 2010. However, the increases in costs that we experienced more than offset the reduction in tons, and the net 
result was a LIFO charge of $164.0 million in 2010 (a LIFO credit of $466.9 million in 2009). The increase in cost per ton was 
driven by increases in the demand for steel and the related raw materials, while the decrease in tons on hand resulted from the 
Company’s working capital management efforts.

 •  �Pre-operating and start-up costs of new facilities increased to $174.8 million in 2010, compared with $160.0 million in 2009. In 
2010, these costs primarily related to the Memphis SBQ mill and the Decatur galvanizing line. In 2009, these costs primarily 
related to the start-up of the SBQ mill, the construction and start-up of the galvanizing line, the Louisiana ironmaking facility and 
the Castrip project in Blytheville, Arkansas.

•  �Total energy costs decreased $3 per ton from 2009 to 2010 due primarily to increased utilization rates across all product lines. 

MARKETING, ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES  
Total freight costs increased 10% from 2009 to 2010, while unit freight costs increased only 4%. Higher fuel costs were partially 
offset by efficiencies created by increased shipments. Profit sharing costs more than doubled from 2009 to 2010 because of our return 
to profitability after a net loss in 2009. In 2010, profit sharing costs primarily consisted of $22.1 million of contributions made to the 
Company’s Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings Plan for qualified employees (including the Company’s matching contribution). 
In 2009, profit sharing costs primarily consisted of $9.6 million of matching contributions. Stock-based compensation included in 
marketing, administrative and other expenses decreased 19% to $15.8 million in 2010 compared with $19.5 million in 2009. 
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In 2010, Nucor recorded a pre-tax charge of $10.0 million for our share of the estimated closure costs of the HIsmelt facility.

EQUITY IN LOSSES OF UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES  
Nucor incurred equity method investment losses of $32.1 million and $82.3 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. The decrease 
in the equity method investment losses is primarily due to decreased losses at Duferdofin Nucor S.r.l., which included a pre-tax 
charge to write down inventories to the lower of cost or market of $46.8 million in 2009 (none in 2010). 

INTEREST EXPENSE (INCOME)  
Net interest expense is detailed below:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 2009 

Interest expense $161,140  $149,922
Interest income (8,047) (15,170)
Interest expense, net  $153,093 $134,752 

Gross interest expense increased 7% over 2009 primarily because of increased average debt outstanding of approximately 7%. Gross 
interest income decreased 47% because of a significant decrease in the average interest rate earned on investments combined with 
a 21% decrease in average investments.   

EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS  
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and noncontrolling interests by segment for 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 2009

Steel mills $778,946 $(350,372)
Steel products (173,433) (112,800)
Raw materials 106,317 (76,965)
All other 4,344 (14,130)
Corporate/eliminations (449,059) 140,289
Earnings (loss) before income taxes  
   and noncontrolling interests $267,115 $(413,978)

Earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests increased primarily due to increases in average sales price per ton, tons 
shipped to outside customers and metal margins in 2010 as compared to 2009. 

In the steel mills segment, we were able to significantly raise mill selling prices in response to rising raw material costs and some 
improvement in end-use demand. The average utilization rate in our steel mills was 70% in 2010, compared with a historically low 
average utilization rate of 54% in 2009.

In the steel products segment, the market environment for our fabricated construction products was extremely challenging in 2010 
and 2009. Sales of cold finished bar products increased primarily due to improved demand in the heavy equipment and transportation 
markets. The average utilization rate in the steel products segment was 54% in 2010, compared with a utilization rate of 49% in 2009.

Increases in selling prices for scrap contributed to the increase in earnings before income taxes and noncontrolling interests in the 
raw materials segment in 2010 compared with 2009. The average utilization rate in the raw materials segment was 69% in 2010, 
compared with a utilization rate of 53% in 2009.

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 
The 28% increase in earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests was primarily attributable to the increased earnings of NYS, 
which were due to improvements in the structural steel market. In 2009, the amount of cash distributed to noncontrolling interest 
holders exceeded the earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests based on mutual agreement of the general partners; however, 
the cumulative amount of cash distributed to partners was less than the cumulative net earnings of the partnership. 
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PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 
The effective tax rate in 2010 was 22.8% compared with 42.7% in 2009. The change in the rate between 2009 and 2010 was 
primarily due to the changes in relative proportions of net earnings or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests and equity method 
investments to total pre-tax earnings or loss. The change in rate was also caused by changes in the state income tax benefit in 2010 
resulting from reductions in liabilities for uncertain tax positions due to statute closures.  

NET EARNINGS AND RETURN ON EQUITY 
Nucor reported net earnings of $134.1 million, or $0.42 per diluted share, in 2010 compared to a net loss of $293.6 million, or 
$0.94 per diluted share, in 2009. Net earnings (loss) attributable to Nucor stockholders as a percentage of net sales were 1% in 
2010 and (3%) in 2009. Return on average stockholders’ equity was 2% and (4%) in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Cash flows provided by operating activities provide us with a significant source of liquidity. When needed, we also have external short-
term financing sources available including the issuance of commercial paper and borrowings under our bank credit facilities. We also 
issue long-term debt from time to time. 

In the fourth quarter of 2011, Nucor increased its revolving credit facility to $1.5 billion and extended the maturity date to December 2016. 
The revolving credit facility was undrawn and we had no commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2011. We believe our financial 
strength is a key strategic advantage among domestic steel producers, particularly during recessionary business cycles. We currently 
carry the highest credit ratings of any metals and mining company in North America with an A rating from Standard & Poor’s and an A2 
rating from Moody’s. Based upon these ratings, we expect to continue to have adequate access to the capital markets at a reasonable 
cost of funds for liquidity purposes when needed. Our credit ratings are dependent, however, upon a number of factors, both qualitative 
and quantitative, and are subject to change at any time. The disclosure of our credit ratings is made in order to enhance investors’ 
understanding of our sources of liquidity and the impact of our credit ratings on our cost of funds.

Nucor’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments position remains robust at $2.56 billion as of December 31, 2011, and 
an additional $585.8 million of restricted cash and investments is available for use in the construction of the DRI facility in Louisiana. 
Approximately $181.3 million and $189.7 million of the cash and cash equivalents position at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 
2010, respectively, was held by our majority-owned joint ventures.

Selected Measures of Liquidity and Capital Resources:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents $1,200,645 $1,325,406 
Short-term investments $1,362,641 $1,153,623 
Restricted cash and investments $    585,833 $   598,482 
Working capital $4,312,022 $4,356,737 
Current ratio 2.8 3.9

The current ratio decreased from 3.9 at December 31, 2010 to 2.8 at December 31, 2011. Contributing to the decrease in the 
current ratio was the reclassification to a current liability of $650 million of long-term debt that matures in the second half of 
2012. Accounts receivable and inventories increased 19% and 28%, respectively, since 2010, while net sales in the fourth quarter 
increased 25% from the prior year fourth quarter. The increases in accounts receivable and inventories are due to higher sales 
prices and the increased cost of raw materials in the current year as compared with the fourth quarter of 2010, combined with 
increased volumes. In 2011, total accounts receivable turned approximately monthly and inventories turned approximately every 
five weeks. These turnover rates are comparable to Nucor’s historical performance, in contrast to the slower rates experienced in 
2009. The current ratio was also impacted by the 61% increase in salaries, wages and related accruals, which was attributable to 
higher profit sharing and bonus costs driven by our increase in profitability. 

Funds provided by operations, cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and new borrowings under existing credit 
facilities are expected to be adequate to pay maturing debt and to meet future capital expenditure and working capital 
requirements for existing operations for at least the next 24 months. 

We have a simple capital structure and do not have off-balance sheet financing arrangements or relationships with unconsolidated special 
purpose entities that we believe could have a material impact on our financial condition or liquidity.  



31

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Nucor generated cash provided by operating activities of $1.03 
billion in 2011 compared with $873.4 million in 2010, an increase 
of 18%. The increase in net earnings over the prior year was offset 
by changes in operating assets and liabilities of ($535.9) million in 
2011 compared with ($128.9) million in 2010. The funding of working 
capital increased over the prior year due to higher levels of operations 
in 2011 and increases in the costs of raw materials and selling prices.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Our business is capital intensive; therefore, cash used in investing 
activities represents capital expenditures for new facilities, the expansion 
and upgrading of existing facilities, and the acquisition of other companies. 
Nucor invested $440.5 million in new facilities (exclusive of acquisitions) 
and expansion or upgrading of existing facilities in 2011 compared with 
$345.3 million in 2010, an increase of 28%. Nucor’s capital investment 
and maintenance practices give us the flexibility to reduce our current 
spending on our facilities to lower levels during severely depressed market 
conditions such as we experienced in recent years.

Additionally, the cash used in investing activities includes investments 
in joint ventures and purchases of and proceeds from the sale of 
investments. In 2010, cash used in investing activities included the acquisition of a 50% interest in NuMit LLC for $221.3 million and 
the investment of funds received from the issuance of approximately $1.2 billion in long-term debt. These two investing activities account 
for the majority of the decrease from 2010 to 2011.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Cash used in financing activities was $495.0 million in 2011 compared with cash provided by financing activities of $691.8 million 
in 2010. In September 2010, Nucor issued $600.0 million of 4.125% unsecured notes due in 2022 for general corporate purposes, 
including repayment of debt. In November 2010, Nucor issued $600.0 million in 30-year variable rate Gulf Opportunity Zone bonds to 
partially fund the construction of the DRI facility in Louisiana.  

In 2011, Nucor increased its quarterly base dividend resulting in dividends paid of $461.5 million ($457.3 million in 2010).

Although there were no repurchases in 2010 or 2011, approximately 27.2 million shares remain authorized for repurchase under the 
Company’s stock repurchase program. 

Our credit facility includes only one financial covenant, which is a limit of 60% on the ratio of funded debt to total capitalization. In 
addition, the credit facility contains customary non-financial covenants, including a limit on Nucor’s ability to pledge the Company’s 
assets and a limit on consolidations, mergers and sales of assets. Our funded debt to total capital ratio was 36% and 37% at year-end 
2011 and 2010, respectively, and we were in compliance with all other covenants under our credit facility.

MARKET RISK  
Nucor’s largest exposure to market risk is in our steel mills and steel products segments. Our utilization rates for the steel mills and 
steel products facilities for the fourth quarter of 2011 were 71% and 55%, respectively. A significant portion of our steel and steel 
products segments’ sales are in the commercial, industrial and municipal construction markets, which continue to be depressed. 
Our largest single customer in 2011 represented approximately 5% of sales and consistently pays within terms. We have only a small 
exposure to the U.S. automotive industry. In the raw materials segment, we are exposed to price fluctuations related to the purchase 
of scrap steel and iron ore. Our exposure to market risk is mitigated by the fact that our steel mills use a significant portion of the 
products of this segment. 

The majority of Nucor’s tax-exempt industrial revenue bonds (IDRBs), including the Gulf Opportunity Zone bonds, have variable 
interest rates that are adjusted weekly, with the rate of one IDRB adjusted annually. These IDRBs represent 24% of Nucor’s long-term 
debt outstanding at December 31, 2011. The remaining 76% of Nucor’s long-term debt is at fixed rates. Future changes in interest 
rates are not expected to significantly impact earnings. From time to time, Nucor makes use of interest rate swaps to manage interest 
rate risk. As of December 31, 2011, there were no such contracts outstanding. Nucor’s investment practice is to invest in securities 
that are highly liquid with short maturities. As a result, we do not expect changes in interest rates to have a significant impact on the 
value of our investment securities.
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Nucor also uses derivative financial instruments from time to time to partially manage its exposure to price risk related to natural 
gas purchases used in the production process as well as scrap, copper and aluminum purchased for resale to its customers. In 
addition, Nucor uses forward foreign exchange contracts from time to time to hedge cash flows associated with certain assets and 
liabilities, firm commitments and anticipated transactions. Nucor generally does not enter into derivative instruments for any purpose 
other than hedging the cash flows associated with specific volumes of commodities that will be purchased and processed in future 
periods and hedging the exposures related to changes in the fair value of outstanding fixed rate debt instruments and foreign currency 
transactions. Nucor recognizes all derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company is exposed 
to foreign currency risk through its operations in Canada, Europe, Trinidad and Australia. We periodically use derivative contracts to 
mitigate the risk of currency fluctuations.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS 
The following table sets forth our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2011 for the 
periods presented:

(in thousands)

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2012 2013 - 2014 2015 - 2016 2017 and thereafter

Long-term debt  $  4,280,200  $   650,000  $   253,300  $     16,300  $3,360,600 

Estimated interest on long-term debt(1)  1,817,559  170,825  268,739  263,313  1,114,682 

Operating leases  84,618  23,754  31,612  15,806  13,446 

Raw material purchase commitments(2)  6,814,363  1,458,362  2,015,172  2,114,035  1,226,794 

Utility purchase commitments(2)  981,823  207,685  178,362  106,734  489,042 

Other unconditional purchase obligations(3)  943,404  407,083  227,804  236,194  72,323 

Other long-term obligations(4)  337,203  162,986  52,952  12,271  108,994 

Total contractual obligations  $15,259,170  $3,080,695  $3,027,941  $2,764,653  $6,385,881 

	 (1)	� Interest is estimated using applicable rates at December 31, 2011 for Nucor’s outstanding fixed and variable rate debt.
	 (2)	� Nucor enters into contracts for the purchase of scrap and scrap substitutes, iron ore, electricity, natural gas and other raw materials and related 		

	 services. These contracts include multi-year commitments and minimum annual purchase requirements and are valued at prices in effect on 		
	 December 31, 2011, or according to the contract language. These contracts are part of normal operations and are reflected in historical operating 	
	 cash flow trends. We do not believe such commitments will adversely affect our liquidity position.

	 (3)	� Purchase obligations include commitments for capital expenditures on operating machinery and equipment and payments related to the working 	
	 interest natural gas drilling program. 

	 (4)	 Other long-term obligations include amounts associated with Nucor’s early-retiree medical benefits, management compensation and guarantees.
Note: 	�In addition to the amounts shown in the table above, $80.9 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been recorded as liabilities, and we are 

uncertain as to if or when such amounts may be settled. Related to these unrecognized tax benefits, we have also recorded a liability for potential 
penalties and interest of $34.3 million at December 31, 2011.

DIVIDENDS 
Nucor has increased its base cash dividend every year since it began paying dividends in 1973. Nucor paid dividends of $1.45 
per share in 2011 compared with $1.44 per share in 2010. In December 2011, the board of directors increased the base quarterly 
dividend to $0.365 per share. The base quarterly dividend has more than tripled since the end of 2007. In February 2012, the board 
of directors declared Nucor’s 156th consecutive quarterly cash dividend of $0.365 per share payable on May 11, 2012 to stockholders 
of record on March 30, 2012. 

OUTLOOK 
In 2012, we expect to see a continued, albeit slow, growth in sales and earnings. This expected growth will occur in a U.S. economy 
burdened by a challenging regulatory and overall business environment. Uncertainties in Europe’s financial sector will almost certainly 
affect both global and domestic growth in 2012. Utilization rates, which improved slightly during 2011, have continued at a similar pace 
in early 2012 and we expect the trend to continue as we progress through the first quarter. In addition, recent price increases for all 
steel mill products are expected to have a positive impact on earnings in the first quarter. This positive trend in earnings is expected to 
continue as we head into the second quarter. We are therefore cautiously optimistic regarding first half volume, pricing and profitability. 
We believe several end-use markets, such as automotive, heavy equipment, energy and general manufacturing, are experiencing some 
real demand improvement that will continue throughout 2012. However, the effect of this improvement in demand on our operating 
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rates will be challenged by recent increases in domestic sheet steel capacity as well as continued increases in imported steel. We also 
expect quarterly average scrap prices in 2012 to remain at higher levels similar to 2011. The most challenging markets for our products 
continue to be those associated with residential and nonresidential construction. 

We have continued to rely on our strong cash from operations and liquidity to support investments in our facilities that will prepare us 
for increased profitability as we eventually enter into more favorable market conditions. In 2012, we will continue to allocate capital to 
investments that build our long-term earnings power. Capital expenditures are currently projected to be approximately $1.0 billion in 
2012, more than double the levels of 2009 and 2010. Included in this total are expenditures for our Louisiana DRI plant, our natural 
gas working interest program, our planned capacity expansion in SBQ steel as well as other investments in our core operations to 
expand our product offerings and keep them state-of-the-art and globally competitive.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation 
of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at year end, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the year. On an 
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GOODWILL 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and whenever events or circumstances change that would make it more likely than not 
that an impairment may have occurred. We perform our annual impairment analysis as of the first day of the fourth quarter each 
year. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current estimated fair value of each reporting unit with the recorded 
value, including goodwill. 

When appropriate, Nucor performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of 
a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. For certain reporting units it is necessary to perform a quantitative analysis. In 
these instances, a discounted cash flow model is used to determine the current estimated fair value of these reporting units. Key 
assumptions used to determine the fair value of each reporting unit as part of our annual testing (and any required interim testing) 
include: (a) expected cash flow for the five-year period following the testing date (including market share, sales volumes and 
prices, costs to produce and estimated capital needs); (b) an estimated terminal value using a terminal year growth rate based 
on the growth prospects of the reporting unit; (c) a discount rate based on management’s best estimate of the after-tax weighted 
average cost of capital; and (d) a probability-weighted scenario approach by which varying cash flows are assigned to certain 
scenarios based on the likelihood of occurrence. Management considers historical and anticipated future results, general economic 
and market conditions, the impact of planned business and operational strategies and all available information at the time the fair 
values of its reporting units are estimated. 

Our fourth quarter 2011 annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in an impairment charge. The excess of fair value over 
carrying value for the majority of our reporting units improved from 2010 levels. Accordingly, management does not currently 
believe that future impairment of these reporting units is probable. However, the performance of certain businesses that comprise 
our reporting units requires continued improvement.  A 50 basis point increase in the discount rate, a critical assumption in which 
a minor change can have a significant impact on the estimated fair value, would not result in an impairment charge.

Nucor will continue to monitor operating results within all reporting units throughout the upcoming year in an effort to determine 
if events and circumstances warrant further interim impairment testing. Otherwise, all reporting units will again be subject to 
the required annual impairment test during our fourth quarter of 2012. Changes in the judgments and estimates underlying our 
analysis of goodwill for possible impairment, including expected future operating cash flows and discount rate, could decrease the 
estimated fair value of our reporting units in the future and could result in an impairment of goodwill.

EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS 
Investments in joint ventures in which Nucor shares control over the financial and operating decisions but in which Nucor is not the 
primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method. Each of the Company’s equity method investments is subject to a 
review for impairment if, and when, circumstances indicate that the fair value of our investment could be less than carrying value. If the 
results of the review indicate a decline in the carrying value of our investment and that decline is other than temporary, the Company 
would write down the investment to its estimated fair value. An other than temporary decline in carrying value is determined to have 
occurred when, in management’s judgment, a decline in fair value below carrying value is of such length of time and/or severity that it 
is considered permanent.

As a result of the significant decline in the global demand for steel and the losses incurred in the investment during 2010 and 2011, 
we evaluated our investment in Duferdofin Nucor during the fourth quarter of 2011. Nucor determined the estimated fair value of our 
investment in Duferdofin Nucor using a discounted cash flow model based on a weighted-average of multiple discounted cash flow 
scenarios. The discounted cash flow scenarios require the use of unobservable inputs, including assumptions of projected revenues 
(including product volume, product mix and average selling prices), raw material costs and other production expenses, capital 
spending and other costs, as well as a discount rate. Estimates of projected revenues, expenses, capital spending and other costs are 
developed by Duferdofin Nucor and Nucor using historical data and available market data. Based on our analysis, the estimated fair 
value of our investment in Duferdofin Nucor approximated carrying value as of December 31, 2011. As a result, we did not have an 
other-than-temporary impairment of our investment in Duferdofin Nucor in 2011.

We will continue to monitor trends in the global demand for steel, particularly within the European market in which Duferdofin Nucor 
operates, as well as other general economic and currency matters. It is reasonably possible that based on actual performance in the 
near term the estimates used in our valuation as of December 31, 2011 could change and result in an impairment of our investment. 
Changes in management estimates to the unobservable inputs would change the valuation of the investment. The estimates for the 
projected revenue and discount rate are the assumptions that most significantly affect the fair value determination. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION
We are subject to environmental laws and regulations established by federal, state and local authorities, and we make provision 
for the estimated costs related to compliance. Undiscounted remediation liabilities are accrued based on estimates of known 
environmental exposures. The accruals are reviewed periodically and, as investigations and remediation proceed, adjustments 
are made as we believe are necessary. The accruals are not reduced by possible recoveries from insurance carriers or other third 
parties. Our measurement of environmental liabilities is based on currently available facts, present laws and regulations, and 
current technology.

INCOME TAXES
We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on 
the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in 
effect during the years in which the basis differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that 
some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more 
likely than not of being sustained. Potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within operations are 
recognized as a component of earnings before taxes and noncontrolling interests. 

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of new accounting pronouncements adopted by Nucor 
during 2011 and the expected financial impact of accounting pronouncements recently issued or proposed but not yet required 
to be adopted.
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(dollar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

FOR THE YEAR

Net sales  $20,023,564  $15,844,627  $11,190,296  $23,663,324  $16,592,976 

Costs, expenses and other:

Cost of products sold  18,074,967  15,000,962  11,035,903  19,612,283  13,462,927 

Marketing, administrative and other expenses  520,648  391,375  351,278  714,064  553,146 

Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates  10,043 32,082  82,341  36,920  24,618 

Impairment of non-current assets — — —  105,183 —

Interest expense, net 166,094  153,093 134,752  90,483 5,469 

18,771,752  15,577,512  11,604,274  20,558,933  14,046,160 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 
   and noncontrolling interests  1,251,812  267,115  (413,978)  3,104,391  2,546,816 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  390,828  60,792  (176,800)  959,480  781,368 

Net earnings (loss)  860,984  206,323  (237,178)  2,144,911  1,765,448 

Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests  82,796  72,231  56,435  313,921  293,501 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Nucor stockholders  778,188  134,092  (293,613)  1,830,990  1,471,947 

Net earnings (loss) per share:

Basic  2.45  0.42  (0.94) 5.99 4.96

Diluted  2.45  0.42  (0.94) 5.98 4.94

Dividends declared per share 1.4525 1.4425 1.41 1.91 2.44

Percentage of net earnings (loss) to net sales 3.9% 0.8% -2.6% 7.7% 8.9%

Return on average stockholders’ equity 10.7% 1.8% -3.8% 28.1% 29.5%

Capital expenditures  450,627  345,294  390,500  1,018,980  520,353 

Acquisitions (net of cash acquired)  3,959  64,788  32,720  1,826,030  1,542,666 

Depreciation  522,571  512,147  494,035  479,484  403,172 

Sales per employee  974  777  539  1,155  1,085 

AT YEAR END

Current assets  $  6,708,081  $  5,861,175  $  5,182,248  $  6,397,486  $  5,073,249 

Current liabilities  2,396,059  1,504,438  1,227,057  1,854,192  1,582,036 

Working capital  4,312,022  4,356,737  3,955,191  4,543,294  3,491,213 

Cash provided by operating activities  1,032,612  873,404  1,173,194  2,502,063  1,935,306 

Current ratio  2.8  3.9  4.2  3.5  3.2 

Property, plant and equipment, net  3,755,604  3,852,118  4,013,836  4,131,861  3,232,998 

Total assets  14,570,350  13,921,910  12,571,904  13,874,443  9,826,122 

Long-term debt (including current maturities)  4,280,200  4,280,200  3,086,200  3,266,600  2,250,300 

Percentage of debt to capital(1) 35.7% 36.9% 28.9% 28.3% 29.4%

Total Nucor stockholders’ equity  7,474,885  7,120,070  7,390,526  7,929,204  5,112,917 

Per share  23.60  22.55  23.47  25.25  17.75 

Shares outstanding  316,749  315,791  314,856  313,977  287,993 

Employees  20,800  20,500  20,400  21,700  18,000 

(1) Long-term debt divided by total equity plus long-term debt.

Five-year financial review
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Ma n a g e m e n t ’s  Re p o r t  on internal control over financial reporting

Nucor’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Nucor’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011. In making 
this assessment, management used criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework.

Based on its assessment, management concluded that Nucor’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
December 31, 2011. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness 
of Nucor’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Nucor Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity 
and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Nucor Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control 
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our 
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to 
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only 
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Charlotte, NC
February 28, 2012
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 			   		  (in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)  $  1,200,645  $  1,325,406 

Short-term investments (Notes 4 and 15)  1,362,641  1,153,623 

Accounts receivable, net (Note 5)  1,710,773  1,439,828 

Inventories, net (Note 6)  1,987,257  1,557,574 

Other current assets (Notes 10, 14, 15 and 20)  446,765  384,744 

Total current assets  6,708,081  5,861,175 

Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 7)  3,755,604  3,852,118 

Restricted cash and investments (Notes 8 and 15)  585,833  598,482 

Goodwill (Note 9)  1,830,661  1,836,294 

Other intangible assets, net (Note 9)  784,640  856,125 

Other assets (Note 10)  905,531  917,716 

Total assets  $14,570,350  $13,921,910 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Short-term debt (Notes 12 and 15)  $         1,826  $       13,328 

Long-term debt due within one year (Notes 12 and 15)  650,000  — 

Accounts payable (Note 11)  958,645  896,703 

Salaries, wages and related accruals (Notes 17 and 18)  333,341  207,168 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Notes 11, 14, 15 and 16)  452,247  387,239 

Total current liabilities  2,396,059  1,504,438 

Long-term debt due after one year (Notes 12 and 15)  3,630,200  4,280,200 

Deferred credits and other liabilities (Notes 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 20)  837,511  806,578 

Total liabilities  6,863,770  6,591,216 

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6, 14 and 16)

Equity

Nucor stockholders' equity (Notes 13 and 17):

Common stock (800,000 shares authorized;  
   376,239 and 375,451 shares issued, respectively)  150,496  150,181 

Additional paid-in capital  1,756,534  1,711,518 

Retained earnings  7,111,566  6,795,988 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes (Notes 2 and 14)  (38,177)  (27,776)

Treasury stock (59,490 and 59,660 shares, respectively)  (1,505,534)  (1,509,841)

Total Nucor stockholders' equity  7,474,885  7,120,070 

Noncontrolling interests  231,695  210,624 

Total equity  7,706,580  7,330,694 

Total liabilities and equity  $14,570,350  $13,921,910 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS 		  (in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Net sales  $20,023,564  $15,844,627  $11,190,296 

Costs, expenses and other:

Cost of products sold (Notes 14 and 18)  18,074,967  15,000,962  11,035,903 

Marketing, administrative and other expenses (Note 10)  520,648  391,375  351,278 

Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates (Note 10)  10,043  32,082  82,341 

Interest expense, net (Note 19)  166,094  153,093  134,752 

 18,771,752  15,577,512  11,604,274 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes

and noncontrolling interests  1,251,812  267,115  (413,978)

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (Note 20)  390,828  60,792  (176,800)

Net earnings (loss)  860,984  206,323  (237,178)

Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests  82,796  72,231  56,435 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Nucor stockholders  $     778,188  $     134,092  $   (293,613)

Net earnings (loss) per share (Note 21):

Basic $2.45 $0.42 ($0.94)

Diluted $2.45 $0.42 ($0.94)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY	 		  (in thousands, except per share data)

Total
Common Stock   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury Stock   
(at cost)   

Total
Nucor

Stockholders'
Equity

Non- 
controlling

InterestsShares   Amount Shares   Amount

BALANCES, December 31, 2008 $8,256,681  374,069 $149,628 $1,629,981 $7,860,629  $(190,262)  60,092 $(1,520,772) $7,929,204 $327,477 

Comprehensive income:

Net earnings (loss) in 2009  (237,178) (293,613)  (293,613)  56,435 

Net unrealized loss on hedging derivatives,  
net of income taxes  (48,616) (48,616)  (48,616)

Reclassification adjustment for loss on  
settlement of hedging derivatives included  
in net loss, net of income taxes  40,543 40,543  40,543 

Foreign currency translation gain,  
net of income taxes  155,285 155,201  155,201  84 

Adjustment to early retiree medical plan,  
net of income taxes  2,078 2,078  2,078  

Total comprehensive income (loss)  (87,888) (144,407) 56,519 

Stock options exercised  3,740 239 95 3,645  3,740 

Issuance of stock under award plans,  
net of forfeitures  44,883 384 154 38,247 (256) 6,482  44,883 

Amortization of unearned compensation  3,904 3,904  3,904 

Cash dividends ($1.41 per share)  (446,798) (446,798)  (446,798)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests  (190,233)  (190,233)

BALANCES, December 31, 2009  7,584,289  374,692  149,877  1,675,777  7,120,218  (41,056)  59,836  (1,514,290)  7,390,526  193,763 

Comprehensive income:

Net earnings in 2010  206,323  134,092  134,092  72,231 

Net unrealized loss on hedging derivatives, 
net of income taxes  (29,957)  (29,957)  (29,957)

Reclassification adjustment for loss on 
settlement of hedging derivatives included 
in net earnings, net of income taxes  35,141  35,141  35,141 

Foreign currency translation gain,  
net of income taxes  8,182  8,172  8,172  10 

Adjustment to early retiree medical plan, 
net of income taxes  (76)  (76)  (76)   

Total comprehensive income  219,613  147,372  72,241 

Stock options exercised  4,662  319  128  4,534  4,662 

Stock option expense  729  729  729 

Issuance of stock under award plans,  
net of forfeitures  32,777  440  176  28,152  (176)  4,449  32,777 

Amortization of unearned compensation  2,326  2,326  2,326 

Cash dividends ($1.4425 per share)  (458,322)  (458,322)  (458,322)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests  (55,380)  (55,380)

BALANCES, December 31, 2010  7,330,694  375,451  150,181  1,711,518  6,795,988  (27,776)  59,660  (1,509,841)  7,120,070  210,624 

Comprehensive income:

Net earnings in 2011  860,984  778,188  778,188  82,796 

Net unrealized loss on hedging derivatives, 
net of income taxes  (8,454)  (8,454)  (8,454)

Reclassification adjustment for loss on 
settlement of hedging derivatives included 
in net earnings, net of income taxes  37,093  37,093  37,093 

Foreign currency translation loss,  
net of income taxes  (40,210)  (40,205)  (40,205)  (5)

Adjustment to early retiree medical plan, 
net of income taxes  8,789  8,789  8,789 

Correction of error in early retiree medical 
plan, net of income taxes  (7,624)  (7,624)  (7,624)  

Total comprehensive income  850,578  767,787  82,791 

Stock options exercised  8,097  387  155  7,942  8,097 

Stock option expense  9,850  9,850  9,850 

Issuance of stock under award plans,  
net of forfeitures  30,091  401  160  25,624  (170)  4,307  30,091 

Amortization of unearned compensation  1,600  1,600  1,600 

Cash dividends ($1.4525 per share)  (462,610)  (462,610)  (462,610)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests  (61,720)  (61,720)

BALANCES, December 31, 2011  $7,706,580 376,239  $150,496  $1,756,534  $7,111,566  $  (38,177) 59,490  $(1,505,534)  $7,474,885  $231,695 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 		  (in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Operating activities:

Net earnings (loss)  $   860,984  $   206,323  $  (237,178)

Adjustments:

Depreciation  522,571  512,147  494,035 

Amortization  67,829  70,455  72,388 

Stock-based compensation  49,003  43,041  54,665 

Deferred income taxes  58,051  138,262  88,546 

Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates  10,043  32,082  82,341 

Changes in assets and liabilities (exclusive of acquisitions):

Accounts receivable  (274,920)  (310,188)  141,104 

Inventories  (433,696)  (231,913)  1,117,600 

Accounts payable  63,571  186,417  170,229 

Federal income taxes  930  180,821  (422,116)

Salaries, wages and related accruals  129,340  56,641  (419,800)

Other  (21,094)  (10,684)  31,380 

Cash provided by operating activities  1,032,612  873,404  1,173,194 

Investing activities:

Capital expenditures  (440,502)  (345,294)  (390,500)

Investment in and advances to affiliates  (95,950)  (434,006)  (63,563)

Repayment of advances to affiliates  50,000  83,885  —   

Disposition of plant and equipment  25,333  24,944  11,371 

Acquisitions (net of cash acquired)  (3,959)  (64,788)  (32,720)

Purchases of investments  (1,494,782)  (1,323,264)  (261,389)

Proceeds from the sale of investments  1,285,763  394,640  36,389 

Purchases of restricted investments  (564,994)  —    —   

Proceeds from the sale of restricted investments  47,479  —    —   

Changes in restricted cash  530,165  (598,482)  —   

Cash used in investing activities  (661,447)  (2,262,365)  (700,412)

Financing activities:

Net change in short-term debt  (11,450)  11,561  (6,908)

Repayment of long-term debt  —    (6,000)  (180,400)

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount  —    1,198,992  —   

Debt issuance costs  —    (4,050)  —   

Issuance of common stock  8,097  4,687  3,716 

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation  1,000  (700)  (3,100)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests  (61,720)  (55,380)  (190,233)

Cash dividends  (461,518)  (457,282)  (443,109)

Other financing activities  30,569  —    —   

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (495,022)  691,828  (820,034)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (904)  5,558  9,103 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (124,761) (691,575) (338,149)

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year  1,325,406  2,016,981  2,355,130 

Cash and cash equivalents — end of year  $1,200,645  $1,325,406  $2,016,981 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

1.	Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Operations Nucor is principally a manufacturer of steel and steel products, as well as a scrap broker and processor, with 
operating facilities and customers primarily located in North America. 

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include Nucor and its controlled subsidiaries, including Nucor-Yamato 
Steel Company, a limited partnership of which Nucor owns 51%. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated. 

Distributions are made to noncontrolling interest partners in Nucor-Yamato Steel Company in accordance with the limited partnership 
agreement by mutual agreement of the general partners. At a minimum, sufficient cash is distributed so that each partner may pay 
their U.S. federal and state income taxes.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Reclassifications Certain amounts for prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2011 presentation.

2.	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market, and have original 
maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained primarily with a few high-credit 
quality financial institutions.

Short-term Investments Short-term investments are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market. Unrealized 
gains and losses on investments classified as available-for-sale are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss). Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such 
determination at each balance sheet date. 

Inventories Valuation Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventories valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of 
accounting represent approximately 47% of total inventories as of December 31, 2011 (45% as of December 31, 2010). All inventories 
held by the parent company and Nucor-Yamato Steel Company are valued using the LIFO method of accounting except for supplies 
that are consumed indirectly in the production process, which are valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of accounting. All 
inventories held by other subsidiaries of the parent company are valued using the FIFO method of accounting. The Company records 
any amount required to reduce the carrying value of inventory to net realizable value as a charge to cost of products sold.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The costs of planned major maintenance activities are capitalized and amortized over the period 
until the next scheduled major maintenance activity. All other repairs and maintenance activities are expensed when incurred. 

Goodwill and Other Intangibles Goodwill is the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is not 
amortized but is tested annually for impairment and whenever events or circumstances change that would make it more likely than 
not that an impairment may have occurred. We perform our annual impairment analysis as of the first day of the fourth quarter each 
year. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current estimated fair value of each reporting unit, which is a level below the 
reportable segment, to the recorded value, including goodwill. When appropriate, Nucor performs a qualitative assessment to determine 
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. For certain reporting units it 
is necessary to perform a quantitative analysis. In these instances, a discounted cash flow model is used to determine the current 
estimated fair value of these reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in the application of the 
discounted cash flow model to forecast operating cash flows, including market growth and market share, sales volumes and prices, 
costs to produce, discount rate and estimated capital needs. Management considers historical experience and all available information 
at the time the fair values of its reporting units are estimated. Assumptions in estimating future cash flows are subject to a high degree 
of judgment and complexity. Changes in assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of goodwill and could result in 
additional impairment charges in future periods.

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives.
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Long-Lived Asset Impairments We evaluate our property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets for potential 
impairment on an individual asset basis or at the lowest level asset grouping for which cash flows can be separately identified. Asset 
impairments are assessed whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of those productive assets could 
exceed their projected undiscounted cash flows. When it is determined that an impairment exists, the related assets are written down 
to estimated fair market value. 

Equity Method Investments Investments in joint ventures in which Nucor shares control over the financial and operating decisions 
but in which Nucor is not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method. Each of the Company’s equity method 
investments is subject to a review for impairment if, and when, circumstances indicate that a decline in value below its carrying 
amount may have occurred.  If management considers the decline to be other than temporary, the Company would write down the 
investment to its estimated fair market value. 

Derivative Financial Instruments Nucor uses derivative financial instruments from time to time primarily to partially manage its 
exposure to price risk related to natural gas purchases used in the production process as well as scrap, copper and aluminum 
purchased for resale to its customers. In addition, Nucor uses derivatives from time to time to partially manage its exposure to 
changes in interest rates on outstanding debt instruments and uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge cash flows 
associated with certain assets and liabilities, firm commitments and anticipated transactions.

Nucor recognizes all derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Amounts included in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges are reclassified into earnings when the underlying transaction is recognized 
in net ng transaT3(s w)-3(i)5(z)13(e)-15(s a)15(l)13(l d)6(e)3(riv)-1(a)7(t)1(iv)6(e i)14(nd)6(e)3dated balanct(s)-(i)12(r v)-1(a)15(l)14(u)1(e)7(. A)-2(m)1(o)1(u)13(n)6(t)-13(s i)14(n)3(c)9(l)1(c)-4(c)10(u)13(m)14(u)12(l)1(a)7(t)6(e)-5(s on o)11(r)-1(a)153(n)64(a)7(t)l 
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Comprehensive Income (Loss) Nucor reports comprehensive income (loss) and the changes in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) in its consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. Accumulated other comprehensive loss is comprised of the 
following:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Foreign currency translation,  
   net of income taxes when applicable  $(12,311)  $ 27,923 
Early-retiree medical plan adjustments,  
   net of income taxes  14,384  13,190 
Fair market value of derivatives,  
   net of income taxes  (40,250)  (68,889)

 $(38,177)  $(27,776)

 

Foreign Currency Translation For Nucor’s operations where the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities 
have been translated at year-end exchange rates, and income and expenses translated using average exchange rates for the 
respective periods. Adjustments resulting from the process of translating an entity’s financial statements into the U.S. dollar have been 
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are included in net earnings only upon sale or liquidation of the 
underlying investments. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in operations in the period they occur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) amended its guidance on the 
presentation of comprehensive income in financial statements to improve the comparability, consistency and transparency of financial 
reporting and to increase the prominence of items that are recorded in other comprehensive income. The new accounting guidance 
requires entities to report components of comprehensive income in either (1) a continuous statement of comprehensive income or (2) 
two separate but consecutive statements. The provisions of this new guidance are effective for Nucor in the first quarter of 2012. The 
adoption of this guidance is not expected to have an effect on Nucor’s operating results or financial position. 

In September 2011, the FASB issued updated guidance on the assessment of goodwill impairment. This guidance allows companies 
to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its 
carrying amount before performing the two-step goodwill impairment test. We perform an impairment analysis of Nucor’s goodwill at 
the beginning of the fourth quarter of each year, and we early adopted this guidance for our goodwill impairment testing in the fourth 
quarter of 2011. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect on Nucor’s operating results or financial position.

3. Acquisitions

In April 2010, Nucor acquired a 50% economic and voting interest in NuMit LLC for a purchase price of approximately $221.3 million. 
NuMit owns 100% of the equity interest in Steel Technologies LLC, an operator of 25 sheet processing facilities throughout the U.S., 
Canada and Mexico. Nucor accounts for the investment using the equity method (see Note 10). 

Other minor acquisitions, exclusive of purchase price adjustments of acquisitions made in prior years, totaled $4.0 million in 2011 
($64.8 million in 2010 and $8.1 million in 200f 2krior ysT*(n). 
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The following is a summary of the short-term investments held at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Certificates of deposit  $   775,000  $   800,363 
Corporate debt  103,506  —   
Federal Home Loan Bank obligations  185,500  —   
Variable rate demand notes  298,635  353,260 

 $1,362,641  $1,153,623 

Aggregate contractual maturities of Nucor’s short-term investments are $1,064.0 million in 2012 and $298.6 million in 2027 
and thereafter. 

5. Accounts Receivable

An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required 
payments. Accounts receivable are stated net of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $54.3 	million at December 31, 2011 ($61.2 
million at December 31, 2010 and $52.9 million at December 31, 2009).

6. Inventories

Inventories consist of approximately 40% raw materials and supplies and 60% finished and semi-finished products at December 
31, 2011 (41% and 59%, respectively, at December 31, 2010). Nucor’s manufacturing process consists of a continuous, vertically 
integrated process from which products are sold to customers at various stages throughout the process. Since most steel products 
can be classified as either finished or semi-finished products, these two categories of inventory are combined. 

If the FIFO method of accounting had been used, inventories would have been $763.2 million higher at December 31, 2011 ($620.4 
million higher at December 31, 2010). During 2010 and 2009, inventory quantities at locations that value inventory using LIFO 
were reduced, resulting in a liquidation of LIFO inventory layers carried at lower costs that prevailed in prior years. The effect of the 
liquidations was to decrease cost of products sold by $30.4 million in 2010 and $81.5 million in 2009 (there was no liquidation of 
LIFO inventory layers in 2011). Use of the lower of cost or market method reduced inventories by $6.8 million at December 31, 2011 
($2.9 million at December 31, 2010).

Nucor has entered into supply agreements for certain raw materials, utilities and other items in the ordinary course of business. These 
agreements extend into 2028 and total approximately $7.80 billion at December 31, 2011.

7. Property, plant and equipment

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Land and improvements  $   515,674  $   431,765 
Buildings and improvements  841,179  834,661 
Machinery and equipment  7,727,630  7,502,203 
Construction in process and equipment deposits  396,614  323,845 

 9,481,097  9,092,474 
Less accumulated depreciation  (5,725,493)  (5,240,356)

 $3,755,604  $3,852,118 

The estimated useful lives range from 5 to 10 years for land improvements, 9 to 31.5 years for buildings and improvements, and 2 to 
15 years for machinery and equipment.
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8. Restricted Cash and Investments

As of December 31, 2011, restricted cash and investments primarily consisted of net proceeds from $600.0 million 30-year variable 
rate Gulf Opportunity Zone bonds issued in November 2010. The restricted cash and investments are held in a trust account and 
are to be used to partially fund the capital costs associated with the construction of Nucor’s direct reduced ironmaking facility in St. 
James Parish, Louisiana. Funds are disbursed as qualified expenditures for the construction of the facility are made ($43.2 million 
in 2011 and none in 2010). Restricted investments totaled $514.3 million at December 31, 2011 (none at December 31, 2010), 
and are held in similar short-term investment instruments as described in Note 4. Interest earned on these investments is subject 
to the same usage requirements as the bond proceeds. Since the restricted cash, investments and interest on investments must be 
used for the construction of the facility, which is expected to occur through mid-2013, the entire balance has been classified as a 

non-current asset.

9. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The change in the net carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 by segment is as follows:

(in thousands)

Steel Mills
Steel  

Products
Raw  

Materials All Other Total

Balance, December 31, 2009  $268,466  $780,628  $665,075  $88,852  $1,803,021 
Acquisitions  —    —    14,841  —    14,841 
Translation  —    18,432  —    —    18,432 
Balance, December 31, 2010  268,466  799,060  679,916  88,852  1,836,294 
Acquisitions  —    —    2,986  —    2,986 
Translation  —    (8,619)  —    —    (8,619)
Balance, December 31, 2011  $268,466  $790,441  $682,902  $88,852  $1,830,661 

The majority of goodwill is not tax deductible. 

Intangible assets with estimated lives of 5 to 22 years are amortized on a straight-line or accelerated basis and are comprised of 
the following:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010
Gross  

Amount
Accumulated 
Amortization

Gross  
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Customer relationships  $   941,787  $262,841  $   944,920  $203,969 
Trademarks and trade names  123,192  25,628  123,713  19,351 
Other  25,868  17,738  27,869  17,057 

 $1,090,847  $306,207  $1,096,502  $240,377 

Intangible asset amortization expense was $67.8 million in 2011 ($70.5 million in 2010 and $72.4 million in 2009). Annual 
amortization expense is estimated to be $61.4 million in 2012; $57.9 million in 2013; $55.8 million in 2014; $54.0 million in 2015; 
and $52.7 million in 2016.

The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing as of the first day of the fourth quarters of 2011, 2010 and 2009 and 
concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill for any of its reporting units. We do not believe there are currently any reporting 
units at risk of impairment in the near term.  
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10. Equity Investments

The carrying value of our equity investments in domestic and foreign companies was $775.7 million at December 31, 2011 ($797.6 
million at December 31, 2010) and is recorded in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Nucor owns a 50% economic and voting interest in Duferdofin Nucor S.r.l., an Italian steel manufacturer, and accounts for the 
investment (on a one-month lag basis) under the equity method, as control and risk of loss are shared equally between the members.

Nucor’s investment in Duferdofin Nucor at December 31, 2011 was $493.9 million ($531.9 million at December 31, 2010). Nucor’s 
50% share of the total net assets of Duferdofin Nucor was $62.4 million at December 31, 2011, resulting in a basis difference 
of $431.5 million due to the step-up to fair value of certain assets and liabilities attributable to Duferdofin Nucor as well as the 
identification of goodwill ($312.5 million) and finite-lived intangible assets. This basis difference, excluding the portion attributable 
to goodwill, is being amortized based on the remaining estimated useful lives of the various underlying net assets, as appropriate. 
Amortization expense and other purchase accounting adjustments associated with the fair value step-up were $11.5 million in 2011 
($11.5 million in 2010 and $15.4 million in 2009).

As of December 31, 2011, Nucor had outstanding notes receivable of €30 million ($38.8 million) from Duferdofin Nucor (€20 
million as of December 31, 2010). The notes receivable bear interest at 3.08% to 3.12% and will reset annually on September 30 
to the twelve-month Euro Interbank Offered Rate (Euribor) plus 1% per year. The principal amounts are due on January 31, 2016. 
Accordingly, the notes receivable were classified in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2011.

Nucor has issued a guarantee for its ownership percentage (50%) of up to €112.5 million of Duferdofin Nucor’s credit facilities. As 
of December 31, 2011, Duferdofin Nucor had €105.1 million outstanding under these credit facilities. The portion of the amount 
outstanding that was guaranteed by Nucor was €52.6 million ($68.0 million). Nucor has not recorded any liability associated with 
the guarantee.

In April 2010, Nucor acquired a 50% economic and voting interest in NuMit LLC. NuMit owns 100% of the equity interest in Steel 
Technologies LLC, an operator of 25 sheet processing facilities located throughout the U.S., Canada and Mexico. Nucor accounts for 
the investment in NuMit (on a one-month lag basis) under the equity method as control and risk of loss are shared equally between 
the members. The acquisition did not result in a significant amount of goodwill or intangible assets. 

Nucor’s investment in NuMit at December 31, 2011 was $259.3 million ($229.1 million as of December 31, 2010), comprised of 
the purchase price of approximately $221.3 million plus subsequent additional capital contributions and equity method earnings 
since acquisition. Nucor also has recorded a $40.0 million note receivable from Steel Technologies LLC that bears interest at 1.27% 
and resets quarterly to the three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 90 basis points. The principal amount is due 
on October 21, 2014. In addition, Nucor has extended a $120.0 million line of credit (of which $55.0 million was outstanding at 
December 31, 2011) to Steel Technologies. As of December 31, 2011, the amounts outstanding on the line of credit bear interest 
at 1.96% and mature on April 1, 2012. The note receivable was classified in other assets and the amount outstanding on the line of 
credit was classified in other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Nucor reviews its equity investments for impairment if and when circumstances indicate that a decline in value below its carrying 
amount may have occurred. In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company concluded it had a triggering event requiring assessment 
for impairment of its equity investment in Duferdofin Nucor due to the continued declines in the global demand for steel. Diminished 
demand began to significantly impact the financial results of Duferdofin Nucor in 2009 and continued to impact the results of Nucor’s 
equity investment through 2011. After completing its assessment, the Company determined that the estimated fair value approximated 
its carrying amount and that there was no impairment of the Company’s investment in Duferdofin Nucor. Nucor determines the 
estimated fair value of its investment in Duferdofin Nucor using a discounted cash flow model, based on a weighted-average of 
multiple discounted cash flow scenarios. The assumptions that most significantly affect the fair value determination include projected 
revenues and the discount rate. The Company will continue to monitor trends in the global demand for steel, specifically within the 
European market in which Duferdofin Nucor operates, as well as other general economic and currency matters. It is reasonably 
possible that based on actual performance in the near term the estimates used in our valuation as of December 31, 2011 could 
change and result in an impairment of our investment.

In the third quarter of 2011, the Company concluded that an equity investment in a dust recycling project had been impaired, 
resulting in an impairment charge of $13.9 million. This charge is included in marketing, administrative and other expenses in the 
consolidated statements of earnings. 
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In December 2010, Nucor and its joint venture partners agreed to permanently close the HIsmelt plant in Kwinana, Western Australia. 
Nucor has a 25% interest in the joint venture that will be terminated. Nucor recorded a pre-tax charge of $10.0 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2010 (none in 2011 and 2009) in marketing, administrative and other expenses for its portion of the estimated closure costs.

11. Current Liabilities

Book overdrafts, included in accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets, were $53.6 million at December 31, 2011 ($63.0 
million at December 31, 2010). Dividends payable, included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated 
balance sheets, were $116.3 million at December 31, 2011 ($115.2 million at December 31, 2010).

12. Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Industrial revenue bonds:  
   �0.11% to 1.7%, variable,  

due from 2014 to 2040  $1,030,200  $1,030,200 
Notes, 4.875%, due 2012  350,000  350,000 
Notes, 5.0%, due 2012  300,000  300,000 
Notes, 5.0%, due 2013  250,000  250,000 
Notes, 5.75%, due 2017  600,000  600,000 
Notes, 5.85%, due 2018  500,000  500,000 
Notes, 4.125%, due 2022  600,000  600,000 
Notes, 6.40%, due 2037  650,000  650,000 

 4,280,200  4,280,200 
Less current maturities  (650,000)  —   

 $3,630,200  $4,280,200 

Annual aggregate long-term debt maturities are: $650.0 million in 2012; $250.0 million in 2013; $3.3 million in 2014; $16.3 million in 
2015; none in 2016; and $3.361 billion thereafter.

In December 2011, Nucor received increased commitments under the unsecured revolving credit facility to provide for up to $1.50 
billion in revolving loans. The amended multi-year revolving credit agreement matures in December 2016 and allows up to $500.0 
million in additional commitments at Nucor’s election in accordance with the terms set forth in the credit agreement.  Up to the 
equivalent of $850.0 million of the credit facility is available for foreign currency loans, up to $500.0 million is available for the issuance 
of letters of credit, and up to $500.0 million is available for the issuance of revolving loans for Nucor subsidiaries in accordance with 
terms set forth in the credit agreement. The credit facility provides for a pricing grid based upon the credit rating of Nucor’s senior 
unsecured long-term debt and, alternatively, interest rates quoted by lenders in connection with competitive bidding. The credit facility 
includes customary financial and other covenants, including a limit on the ratio of funded debt to capital of 60%, a limit on Nucor’s 
ability to pledge the Company’s assets and a limit on consolidations, mergers and sales of assets. As of December 31, 2011, Nucor’s 
funded debt to total capital ratio was 36%, and Nucor was in compliance with all covenants under the credit facility. No borrowings were 
outstanding under the credit facility as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. 

Harris Steel has credit facilities totaling approximately $33.8 million, with $1.6 million of borrowings outstanding at December 31, 
2011. In addition, the business of Nucor Trading S.A. is financed by trade credit arrangements totaling approximately $25.0 million 
with a number of Swiss-based banking institutions. These arrangements, principally trade finance facilities, are non-recourse to Nucor 
and its other subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2011, Nucor Trading S.A. had outstanding borrowings of $0.3 million and outstanding 
guarantees of $0.1 million. 

Letters of credit totaling $29.8 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2011 related to certain obligations, including workers’ 
compensation, utilities deposits and credit arrangements by Nucor Trading S.A. for commitments to purchase inventories. 

Nucor capitalized $3.5 million of interest expense in 2011 ($0.9 million in 2010 and $16.4 million in 2009) related to the borrowing 
costs associated with various construction projects. 
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13. Capital Stock

The par value of Nucor’s common stock is $0.40 per share and there are 800 million shares authorized. In addition, 250,000 
shares of preferred stock, par value of $4.00 per share, are authorized, with preferences, rights and restrictions as may be fixed by 
Nucor’s board of directors. There are no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.

In 2001, the board of directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan in which one right was distributed as a dividend for each Nucor 
common share outstanding. The rights had no voting power and expired on March 8, 2011. 

14. Derivative Financial Instruments

The following tables summarize information regarding Nucor’s derivative instruments:

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

(in thousands)

Fair Value

December 31, Balance Sheet Location 2011 2010

Asset derivatives not designated  
  as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts Other current assets  $    5,071  $         —   
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets  —    266 

Total asset derivatives not  
   �designated as hedging  

instruments  $    5,071  $      266 

Liability derivatives designated  
  as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $(21,100)  $  (8,900)
Commodity contracts Deferred credits and other liabilities  —    (54,800)

Total liability derivatives  
   �designated as hedging  

instruments  (21,100)  (63,700)

Liability derivatives not designated 
  as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  —  (2,961)
Foreign exchange contracts Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (334)  —   

Total liability derivatives  
   �not designated as hedging 

instruments  (334)  (2,961)

Total liability derivatives  $(21,434)  $(66,661)

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments (in thousands)

Derivatives  
in Cash  

Flow Hedging  
Relationships

Statement of  
Earnings  
Location

Amount of Gain or (Loss)  
Recognized

in OCI on Derivative  
(Effective Portion)

Amount of Gain or (Loss)  
Reclassified from Accumulated  

OCI into Earnings
(Effective Portion)

Amount of Gain or (Loss)  
Recognized

in Earnings on Derivative  
(Ineffective Portion) 

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

Commodity  
contracts

Cost of  
products 
sold  $(8,454)

 
$(29,957)  $(48,616)  $(37,093)  $(35,141)

 
$(40,543)  $600  $600  $(1,700)
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Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments (in thousands)

Derivatives Not Designated
as Hedging Instruments

Statement of Earnings
Location

Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized  
in Earnings on Derivative

2011 2010 2009

Commodity contracts Cost of products sold  $11,757  $(1,417)  $(4,887)
Foreign exchange contracts Cost of products sold  (665) 907  (3,050)
Total  $11,092  $   (510)  $(7,937)

At December 31, 2011, natural gas swaps covering 3.6 million MMBTUs and foreign currency contracts with a notional value of $9.2 million 
were outstanding.

At December 31, 2011, $40.7 million of net deferred losses on cash flow hedges on natural gas forward purchase contracts included in 
accumulated other comprehensive income are expected to be reclassified into earnings, due to the settlement of forecasted transactions, 
during the next twelve months assuming no change in the forward commodity prices from December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, 
Nucor is hedging a portion of its exposure to the variability of future cash flows for forecasted natural gas purchases over the next year.

Nucor has also entered into various natural gas purchase contracts, which effectively commit Nucor to the following purchases of natural gas to 
be used for production: $91.4 million in 2012; $38.6 million in 2013; $29.2 million in 2014; $28.3 million in 2015; $27.9 million in 2016; and 
$373.6 million between 2017 and 2028. These natural gas purchase contracts will primarily supply our direct reduced iron facility in Trinidad.

Nucor does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties in any of these derivative instruments given their current credit ratings, and 
no material loss is expected from non-performance by any one of such counterparties.

15. Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes information regarding Nucor’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value as of 
December 31, 2011. Nucor does not currently have any non-financial assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.                                                    

� (in thousands)

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

December 31,

 Carrying 
 Amount in 

 Consolidated 
 Balance Sheets 

 Quoted Prices  
in Active Markets  
for Identical Assets 

 (Level 1) 

 Significant 
Other Observable 

Inputs 
 (Level 2) 

Significant  
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

2011

Assets: 
Cash equivalents  $1,012,122  $1,012,122  $         —   
Short-term investments  1,362,641  1,362,641  —   
Commodity contracts  5,071  —    5,071 
Restricted cash and investments  585,833  585,833  —  

Total assets  $2,965,667  $2,960,596  $    5,071 —   
Liabilities: 

Foreign exchange and  
commodity contracts  $    (21,434)  —    $(21,434)  —   

2010

 Assets: 
 Cash equivalents  $1,156,240  $1,156,240  $         —   
 Short-term investments  1,153,623  1,153,623  —   
 Foreign exchange contracts  266  —    266 
 Restricted cash   598,482  598,482  —     

 Total assets  $2,908,611  $2,908,345  $      266  —   
 Liabilities: 

 Commodity contracts  $    (66,661)  —    $(66,661)  —   
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Fair value measurements for Nucor’s cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and investments are classified under 
Level 1 because such measurements are based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets. Fair value measurements 
for Nucor’s derivatives are classified under Level 2 because such measurements are based on published market prices for similar assets 
or are estimated based on observable inputs such as interest rates, yield curves, credit risks, spot and future commodity prices and spot 
and future exchange rates.

The fair value of short-term and long-term debt, including current maturities, was approximately $4.76 billion at December 31, 2011 
($4.59 billion at December 31, 2010). The fair value estimates were based on readily available market prices of our debt at December 31, 
2011 and 2010, or similar debt with the same maturities, rating and interest rates.

16. Contingencies

Nucor is subject to environmental laws and regulations established by federal, state and local authorities, and, accordingly, makes 
provision for the estimated costs of compliance. Of the undiscounted total of $31.4 million of accrued environmental costs at 
December 31, 2011 ($35.0 million at December 31, 2010), $14.4 million was classified in accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities ($13.5 million at December 31, 2010) and $17.0 million was classified in deferred credits and other liabilities ($21.5 million 
at December 31, 2010). Inherent uncertainties exist in these estimates primarily due to unknown conditions, evolving remediation 
technology, and changing governmental regulations and legal standards. 

Nucor has been named, along with other major steel producers, as a co-defendant in several related antitrust class-action complaints 
filed by Standard Iron Works and other steel purchasers in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. The 
plaintiffs allege that from January 2005 through 2008, eight steel manufacturers, including Nucor, engaged in anticompetitive 
activities with respect to the production and sale of steel. The plaintiffs seek monetary and other relief. Although we believe the 
plaintiffs’ claims are without merit and will vigorously defend against them, we cannot at this time predict the outcome of this litigation 
or estimate the range of Nucor’s potential exposure. 

Other contingent liabilities with respect to product warranties, legal proceedings and other matters arise in the normal course of 
business. Nucor maintains liability insurance for certain risks that arise that are also subject to certain self-insurance limits. Although 
the outcome of the claims and proceedings against us cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that there are no 
existing claims or proceedings that are likely to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements.

17. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Options Stock options may be granted to Nucor’s key employees, officers and non-employee directors with exercise prices at 
100% of the market value on the date of the grant. The stock options granted prior to 2006 were exercisable six months after grant 
date and have a term of seven years. The stock options granted in 2010 and 2011 are exercisable at the end of three years and have 
a term of ten years. Nucor did not grant any options during 2009. New shares are issued upon exercise of stock options. 

A summary of activity under Nucor’s stock option plans is as follows:

(shares in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Shares

Weighted- 
Average
Exercise

Price Shares

Weighted- 
Average
Exercise

Price Shares

Weighted- 
Average
Exercise

Price

Number of shares under option:

Outstanding at beginning of year  983 $29.14  1,060 $21.95  1,299 $20.80 
Granted  560 $42.34  242 $41.43  —    —   
Exercised (387) $20.96 (319) $14.60  (239) $15.69
Canceled  —    —    —    —    —    —   
Outstanding at end of year  1,156 $38.26  983 $29.14  1,060 $21.95 

Options exercisable at end of year 354 $29.67 741 $25.12  1,060 $21.95 
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The shares reserved for future grants as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are reflected in the restricted stock units table below. 
The total intrinsic value of options (the amount by which the stock price exceeded the exercise price of the option on the date of 
exercise) that were exercised during 2011 was $7.6 million ($8.5 million in 2010 and $7.0 million in 2009).

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2011:

(shares in thousands)

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices
Number  

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
Number  

Exercisable

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price

$25.00 – $30.00  201 0.7 years $28.86  201 $28.86
  30.01 –   35.00  153 0.2 years $30.73  153 $30.73
  35.01 –   40.00  —    —    —    —    —   
  40.01 –   42.34  802 9.1 years $42.07  —    —   
$25.00 – $42.34  1,156 6.5 years $38.26  354 $29.67

As of December 31, 2011, the total aggregate intrinsic value of both options outstanding and options exercisable was $3.5 million. 
Options for which the exercise price exceeded the closing market price of a share of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 
2011 were excluded from the calculation of aggregate intrinsic value.

The grant date fair value of options granted was $15.37 in 2011 ($15.50 in 2010). The fair value was estimated using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

2011 2010

Exercise price $42.34 $41.43

Expected dividend yield 3.42% 3.48%
Expected stock price volatility 49.40% 50.58%
Risk-free interest rate 2.39% 2.75%
Expected life (in years) 6.5 6.5

Compensation expense for stock options was $9.9 million in 2011 ($0.7 in 2010 and none in 2009). As of December 31, 2011, 
unrecognized compensation expense related to options was $1.8 million, which is expected to be recognized over 1.4 years. 

Restricted Stock Units Nucor annually grants restricted stock units (RSUs) to key employees, officers and non-employee directors. 
The RSUs typically vest and are converted to common stock in three equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the 
grant date. A portion of the RSUs awarded to senior officers vest upon the officer’s retirement. Retirement, for purposes of vesting in 
these units only, means termination of employment with approval of the Compensation and Executive Development Committee of the 
Board of Directors after satisfying age and years of service requirements. RSUs granted to non-employee directors are fully vested on 
the grant date and are payable to the non-employee director in the form of common stock after the termination of the director’s service 
on the board of directors. 

RSUs granted to employees who are eligible for retirement on the date of grant are expensed immediately, and RSUs granted to 
employees who will become retirement-eligible prior to the end of the vesting term are expensed over the period through which the 
employee will become retirement-eligible since these awards vest upon retirement from the Company. Compensation expense for RSUs 
granted to employees who are not retirement-eligible is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

Cash dividend equivalents are paid to participants each quarter. Dividend equivalents paid on units expected to vest are recognized as 
a reduction in retained earnings. 

The fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the closing stock price of Nucor’s common stock on the day before the grant.  
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A summary of Nucor’s restricted stock unit activity is as follows:

(shares in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Shares
Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Grant Date
Fair Value

Restricted stock units:
Unvested at beginning of year  1,203 $49.96  1,464 $54.69 1,139 $67.67
Granted  490 $42.34  462 $43.05 1,147 $43.91
Vested  (713) $50.04  (709) $55.24  (805) $57.58
Canceled  (18) $46.06  (14) $49.52  (17) $60.44
Unvested at end of year  962 $46.09  1,203 $49.96  1,464 $54.69

Shares reserved for future grants     
  (stock options and RSUs)  13,695  14,777  15,878 

Compensation expense for RSUs was $31.6 million in 2011 ($37.0 million in 2010 and $47.3 million in 2009). The total fair value 
of shares vested during 2011 was $29.3 million ($30.4 million in 2010 and $37.2 million in 2009). As of December 31, 2011, 
unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $24.0 million, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Restricted Stock Awards Nucor’s Senior Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan (the LTIP) and Annual Incentive Plan (the AIP) authorize 
the award of shares of common stock to officers subject to certain conditions and restrictions. 

The LTIP provides for the award of shares of restricted common stock at the end of each LTIP performance measurement period at 
no cost to officers if certain financial performance goals are met during the period. One-third of the LTIP restricted stock award vests 
upon each of the first three anniversaries of the award date or, if earlier, upon the officer’s attainment of age fifty-five while employed 
by Nucor. Although participants are entitled to cash dividends and may vote such awarded shares, the sale or transfer of such shares 
is limited during the restricted period. 

The AIP provides for the payment of annual cash incentive awards. An AIP participant may elect, however, to defer payment of up to 
one-half of an annual incentive award. In such event, the deferred AIP award is converted into common stock units and credited with 
a deferral incentive, in the form of additional common stock units, equal to 25% of the number of common stock units attributable to 
the deferred AIP award. Common stock units attributable to deferred AIP awards are fully vested. Common stock units credited as a 
deferral incentive vest upon the AIP participant’s attainment of age fifty-five while employed by Nucor. Vested common stock units are 
paid to AIP participants in the form of shares of common stock following their termination of employment with Nucor.

A summary of Nucor’s restricted stock activity under the AIP and LTIP is as follows:

(shares in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Shares
Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Grant Date
Fair Value Shares

Grant Date
Fair Value

Restricted stock awards and units:
Unvested at beginning of year  141 $44.62  240 $50.75  375 $61.57 
Granted  118 $46.41  131 $44.82  256 $32.16 
Vested  (165) $47.13  (230) $51.13  (391) $48.96 
Canceled  —    —    —    —    —    —   
Unvested at end of year  94 $42.46  141 $44.62  240 $50.75 

Shares reserved for future grants  1,482  1,600  1,731 
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Compensation expense for common stock and common stock units awarded under the AIP and LTIP is recorded over the 
performance measurement and vesting periods based on the anticipated number and market value of shares of common stock 
and common stock units to be awarded. Compensation expense for anticipated awards based upon Nucor’s financial performance, 
exclusive of amounts payable in cash, was $7.4 million in 2011 ($5.2 million in 2010 and $7.3 million in 2009). The total fair 
value of shares vested during 2011 was $7.3 million ($10.2 million in 2010 and $13.3 million in 2009). As of December 31, 2011, 
unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock awards was $0.7 million, which is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years. 

18. Employee Benefit Plans

Nucor makes contributions to a Profit Sharing and Retirement Savings Plan for qualified employees based on the profitability of the 
Company. Nucor’s expense for these benefits totaled $117.7 million in 2011 ($22.1 million in 2010 and $9.6 million in 2009). The 
related liability for these benefits is included in salaries, wages and related accruals. 

Nucor also has a medical plan covering certain eligible early retirees. The unfunded obligation, included in deferred credits and other 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, totaled $13.3 million at December 31, 2011 ($45.5 million at December 31, 2010). 
The reduction in the obligation in 2011 was the result of both a change in assumptions primarily due to lower-than-anticipated plan 
participation rates and a correction of an error in the actuarial calculation for the plan. Expense associated with this early retiree 
medical plan totaled $3.5 million in 2011 ($2.7 million in 2010 and $1.9 million in 2009). We also recorded a non-cash gain of $29.0 
million in cost of products sold in the fourth quarter of 2011 as a result of the correction of the error. This error did not have a material 
impact on the current period or any previously reported periods.

The discount rate used was 4.5% in 2011 (5.5% in 2010 and 6.0% in 2009). The health care cost increase trend rate used was 6.7% in 
2011 (6.8% in 2010 and 6.9% in 2009). The health care cost increase in the trend rate is projected to decline gradually to 4.5% by 2027. 

19. Interest Expense (Income)

The components of net interest expense are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Interest expense  $178,812  $ 161,140  $149,922 
Interest income  (12,718)  (8,047)  (15,170)
Interest expense, net  $166,094  $153,093  $134,752 

Interest paid was $177.6 million in 2011 ($151.8 million in 2010 and $158.7 million in 2009).

20. Income Taxes

Components of earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and noncontrolling interests are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

United States  $1,241,465  $260,794  $(353,463)
Foreign 10,347 6,321 (60,515)

 $1,251,812  $267,115  $(413,978)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

 
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Current:
Federal  $329,076  $(66,462)  $(258,683)
State  1,685  (19,297)  (22,274)
Foreign  2,016  8,289  15,611 

Total current  332,777  (77,470)  (265,346)

Deferred:
Federal  55,124  138,662  115,630 
State  10,400  12,223  (10,354)
Foreign  (7,473)  (12,623)  (16,730)

Total deferred  58,051  138,262  88,546 

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes  $390,828  $  60,792  $(176,800)

A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate (35%) to the total provision is as follows:

 

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Taxes computed at statutory rate 35.00% 35.00% 35.00%

State income taxes, net of  
   federal income tax benefit  0.63  (1.72)  5.12 

Federal research credit  (0.28)  (1.19)  0.84 

Domestic manufacturing deduction  (2.21)  —    (0.13)

Equity in losses of foreign  
   joint venture  0.64  3.09  (5.93)

Foreign rate differential  (0.92)  (3.83)  2.79 

Noncontrolling interests  (2.32)  (9.47)  4.77 

Other, net  0.68  0.88  0.25 

Provision for income taxes 31.22% 22.76% 42.71%
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted from the following:

(in thousands)

December 31, 2011 2010

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities and reserves  $ 115,752  $ 115,095 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  14,088  16,809 
Inventory  142,236  140,676 
Post-retirement benefits  8,260  17,889 
Natural gas hedges  22,433  42,469 
Net operating loss carryforward  25,739  50,529 
Cumulative translation adjustments  2,254  506 
Tax credit carryforwards  39,700  24,000 

Total deferred tax assets  370,462  407,973 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Holdbacks and amounts not due    
   under contracts  (9,406)  (13,007)
Intangibles  (236,627)  (250,247)
Property, plant and equipment  (461,915)  (406,889)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (707,948)  (670,143)

Total net deferred tax liabilities  $(337,486)  $(262,170)

Current deferred tax assets were $195.9 million at December 31, 2011 ($186.0 million at December 31, 2010). Non-current deferred 
tax liabilities were $533.4 million at December 31, 2011 ($448.2 million at December 31, 2010). Nucor paid $322.4 million in net 
federal, state and foreign income taxes in 2011 (received $245.0 million in refunds in 2010 and paid $213.2 million in 2009).

Cumulative undistributed foreign earnings for which U.S. taxes have not been provided are included in consolidated retained earnings 
in the amount of $168.0 million at December 31, 2011 ($141.0 million at December 31, 2010). These earnings are considered to 
be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no provisions for U.S. federal and state income taxes are required. It is not practicable to 
determine the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability related to the unremitted earnings.

State net operating loss carryforwards were $490.8 million at December 31, 2011 ($843.0 million at December 31, 2010). If unused, 
they will expire between 2014 and 2031. Foreign net operating loss carryforwards were $66.2 million at December 31, 2011 ($81.2 
million at December 31, 2010). If unused, they will expire between 2027 and 2030.

At December 31, 2011, Nucor had approximately $80.9 million of unrecognized tax benefits, of which $78.5 million would affect 
Nucor’s effective tax rate, if recognized. At December 31, 2010, Nucor had approximately $92.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits, of 
which $85.3 million would affect Nucor’s effective tax rate, if recognized. 
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits recorded in deferred credits and other liabilities is as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year  $92,752  $108,587  $  87,734 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year  6,733  1,983  2,422 
Reductions based on tax positions related to current year  (3,160)  (1,358)  —   
Additions based on tax positions related to prior years  937  5,705  858 
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior years  (2,169)  (4,046)  (15,540)
Additions due to settlements with taxing authorities  —    2,363  36,317 
Reductions due to settlements with taxing authorities  (958)  (3,246)  (1,288)
Reductions due to statute of limitations lapse  (13,238)  (17,236)  (1,916)

Balance at end of year  $80,897  $  92,752  $108,587 

We estimate that in the next twelve months, our gross uncertain tax positions, exclusive of interest, could decrease by as much as 
$15.5 million, as a result of the expiration of the statute of limitations. 

During 2011, Nucor recognized $3.6 million of expense in interest and penalties ($5.3 million of benefit in 2010 and $9.9 million 
of expense in 2009). As of December 31, 2011, Nucor had approximately $34.3 million of accrued interest and penalties related to 
uncertain tax positions ($30.6 at December 31, 2010). 

Nucor has concluded U.S. federal income tax matters for years through 2006. The 2008 to 2011 tax years are open to examination 
by the Internal Revenue Service. The years 2004 and 2007 are open to the extent net operating losses were carried back. In 2011 the 
Canada Revenue Agency completed an audit examination for the periods 2006 to 2008 for Harris Steel Group Inc. and subsidiaries 
with immaterial adjustments to the income tax returns. The tax years 2008 through 2011 remain open to examination by other major 
taxing jurisdictions to which Nucor is subject (primarily Canada and other state and local jurisdictions).
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21. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computations of basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share are as follows: 

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Basic net earnings (loss) per share:

Basic net earnings (loss)  $778,188  $134,092  $(293,613)
Earnings allocated to participating securities  (2,653)  (1,823)  (1,946)
Net earnings (loss) available to common stockholders  $775,535  $132,269  $(295,559)

Average shares outstanding  316,997  315,962  314,873 

Basic net earnings (loss) per share $2.45 $0.42 ($0.94)

Diluted net earnings (loss) per share:

Diluted net earnings (loss)  $778,188  $134,092  $(293,613)
Earnings allocated to participating securities (2,654) (1,823) (1,946)
Net earnings (loss) available to common stockholders  $775,534  $132,269  $(295,559)

Diluted average shares outstanding:

Basic shares outstanding  316,997  315,962  314,873 

Dilutive effect of stock options and other 164 548  —   
 317,161  316,510  314,873 

Diluted net earnings (loss) per share $2.45 $0.42 ($0.94)

Stock options to purchase 0.8 million, 0.2 million and 1.1 million shares of common stock for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, 
were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per common share because their effect would have been antidilutive.

22. Segments

Nucor reports its results in the following segments: steel mills, steel products and raw materials. The steel mills segment includes 
carbon and alloy steel in sheet, bars, structural and plate, and Nucor’s equity method investments in Duferdofin Nucor and NuMit. 
The steel products segment includes steel joists and joist girders, steel deck, fabricated concrete reinforcing steel, cold finished 
steel, steel fasteners, metal building systems, light gauge steel framing, steel grating and expanded metal, and wire and wire mesh. 
The raw materials segment includes DJJ, a scrap broker and processor; Nu-Iron Unlimited, a facility that produces DRI used by 
the steel mills; a DRI facility under construction in Louisiana; and certain equity method investments. The “All other” category 
primarily includes Nucor’s steel trading businesses. The segments are consistent with the way Nucor manages its business, which 
is primarily based upon the similarity of the types of products produced and sold by each segment. 

Net interest expense, other income, profit sharing expense, stock-based compensation and changes in the LIFO reserve are shown 
under Corporate/eliminations. Corporate assets primarily include cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted 
cash and investments, allowances to eliminate intercompany profit in inventory, fair value of natural gas hedges, deferred income 
tax assets, federal income taxes receivable, the LIFO reserve and investments in and advances to affiliates.
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Nucor’s segment results are as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009

Net sales to external customers:
Steel mills  $13,960,245  $10,860,760  $  7,159,512 
Steel products  3,431,490  2,831,209  2,691,322 
Raw materials  2,128,391  1,814,329  1,076,964 
All other  503,438  338,329  262,498 

 $20,023,564  $15,844,627  $11,190,296 

Intercompany sales:
Steel mills  $  2,405,590  $  1,719,937  $  1,027,167 
Steel products  55,646  43,565  27,453 
Raw materials  10,436,379  8,052,986  3,402,084 
All other  24,869  8,616  10,888 
Corporate/eliminations  (12,922,484)  (9,825,104)  (4,467,592)

 $               —    $               —    $               —   

Depreciation expense:
Steel mills  $     371,984  $     370,458  $     357,722 
Steel products  53,272  58,429  57,988 
Raw materials  92,250  78,308  75,699 
All other  56  90  105 
Corporate  5,009  4,862  2,521 

 $     522,571  $     512,147  $     494,035 

Amortization expense:
Steel mills  $               —    $            262  $            400 
Steel products  38,743  40,745  40,705 
Raw materials  28,215  28,577  30,412 
All other  871  871  871 
Corporate  —    —    —   

 $       67,829  $       70,455  $       72,388 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes  
and noncontrolling interests:

Steel mills  $  1,703,933  $     778,946  $    (350,372)
Steel products  (60,282)  (173,433)  (112,800)
Raw materials  150,029  106,317  (76,965)
All other  4,296  4,344  (14,130)
Corporate/eliminations  (546,164)  (449,059)  140,289 

 $   1,251,812  $     267,115  $    (413,978)

Segment assets:
Steel mills  $  6,243,965  $  5,969,846  $  5,446,028 
Steel products  2,903,281  2,835,812  2,707,678 
Raw materials  2,916,226  2,710,544  2,417,649 
All other  152,107  170,174  138,286 
Corporate/eliminations  2,354,771  2,235,534  1,862,263 

 $14,570,350  $13,921,910  $12,571,904 

Capital expenditures:
Steel mills  $     181,178  $     186,236  $     217,690 
Steel products  20,918  21,321  37,601 
Raw materials  245,337  125,536  113,000 
All other  15  24  74 
Corporate  3,179  12,177  22,135 

 $     450,627  $     345,294  $     390,500 
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Net sales by product are as follows. Further product group breakdown is impracticable.
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Our goal is  

to take care of our customers.

We are accomplishing this by being 

the safest, highest quality,  
lowest cost, most productive

and most profitable steel  
and steel products company  

in the world.

We are committed to doing this while being  

cultural and environmental stewards  
in our communities  

where we live and work.

We are succeeding by  
working together. 
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KEITH B GRASS   ERIC GRASSE   DAVID C GRATZ   DAVE GRAU   TED GRAUL   MICHAEL C GRAVAGE   MICHAEL GRAVEL   JEFFREY M GRAVELINE   DAVID GRAVELLE   PAUL GRAVELLE   DAVID A GRAVERHOLT   CORNELIUS D GRAVES   
DONOVAN L GRAVES   ELAINE A GRAVES   FRANCIS STUART GRAVES   JOHN SHANNON GRAVES JR   KENDALL W GRAVES   JOSEPH V GRAVITT   CHAD GRAY   CHRISSIE ANN GRAY   CLAIR B GRAY   DONALD E GRAY   DONNIE G GRAY   EDDRIA L GRAY   
HAYES MORGAN GRAY   JERRY G GRAY   KEVIN GRAY   KEVIN D GRAY   LEON GRAY   LEVENNA D GRAY   ROGER A GRAY   SHAWN MAURICE GRAY   TAYLOR D GRAY   TIMOTHY M GRAY   TROY A GRAY   GEORGE K GRAYSON   JOHN W GRAYSON   
CHAD GREAVES   ALEX J GREEN   ANTHONY L GREEN   BERNARD E GREEN   BRANDON C GREEN   BRANDON I GREEN   BRENDAN GREEN   CASTER D GREEN   DANIEL R GREEN   DAVID GREEN   DONNIE C GREEN   DREW W GREEN   ERIC LEE GREEN   
GREGORY S GREEN   HEATHER L GREEN   HENRY T GREEN   HUNTER R GREEN   JARROD S GREEN   JEFFREY C GREEN   JOANN T GREEN   JOHN T GREEN   JOHNNY E GREEN   KYLE GREEN   LEVIS GREEN   LONNIE F GREEN   LORENZO J GREEN   
MATTHEW WADE GREEN   MAURICE C GREEN   MICHAEL E GREEN   NICHOLAS A GREEN   OZELL GREEN   PAUL R GREEN   PERRY T GREEN   RANDALL D GREEN   RAYMOND J GREEN   RICHARD D GREEN   RYAN J GREEN   SCOTT G GREEN   
STEVEN RAY GREEN   THERESA W GREEN   THOMAS A GREEN   TODD MICHAEL GREEN   TORRENCE GREEN   TROY W GREEN   VICTORIA BROOKE GREEN   WILLIAM GREEN   WILLIAM SCOTT GREEN   ADAM R GREENBERG   AMY GREENE   
ANGELITA GREENE   CHAD A GREENE   DEBORAH B GREENE   GARY E GREENE   KENNETH E GREENE   LANCE W GREENE   MICHAEL JAMES GREENE   RANDALL TRAVIS GREENE   STEVEN A GREENE   TRAVIS GREENE   KERRY GREENHALGH   
STANLEY GREENHAM   LISA GREENIER   JON J GREENLEE   MICHAEL D GREENMYER   ALAN LEE GREENWOOD   KEVIN GREENWOOD   ALEXANDER E GREER   ANTHONY A GREER   EDWARD W GREER   KIP CHARLES GREER   KOLBIE L GREER   
MARCIE J GREER   ROBERT LEE GREER   SCOTT A GREER   SHAMETA W GREER   STEPHEN G GREER   BENJAMIN M GREESON   DEWAYNE GREESON   MARY J GREGER   AARON J GREGG   JOSEPH M GREGG   SHAUN M GREGORICH   
CARLTON G GREGORY   GARY W GREGORY   HAROLD W GREGORY   JONATHAN P GREGORY   KEVIN M GREGORY   LEE T GREGORY   WILLIAM KEITH GREGORY   DONALD M GREISKALNS   MICHAEL J GREITEN JR   ERIC E GRENINGER   
RICHARD A GRENZ   JOSHUA E GRESHAM   DAVID S GRESSANI   ROSANNE L GREVE   TARA FOUST GREY   TIMOTHY E GRIBBLE   DAVID R GRICE   GARY DEWAYNE GRICE   MICHELLE R GRICE   BRANDON N GRIFFIN   BRENDA SUE GRIFFIN   
BRUCE D GRIFFIN   CHRISTOPHER GRIFFIN   CHRISTOPHER S GRIFFIN   CLIVE BRYANT GRIFFIN   DAVID A GRIFFIN   DWIGHT JULIUS GRIFFIN   GLENWOOD M GRIFFIN   JARED DEREK GRIFFIN   JASON ALAN GRIFFIN   JOHN S GRIFFIN   
KEITHRICK DUANE GRIFFIN   ROBERT LEE GRIFFIN   ROBERT S GRIFFIN   RONALD G GRIFFIN   RUSSELL D GRIFFIN   RYAN J GRIFFIN   TIMOTHY P GRIFFIN   TODD HARMON GRIFFIN   WILLIAM C GRIFFIN   DONALD GRIFFIS   BENJAMIN K GRIFFITH   
DARRYL M GRIFFITH JR   ERIK GRIFFITH   JEFFREY A GRIFFITH   JOHN STEPHEN GRIFFITH JR   JUSTIN E GRIFFITH   MICHAEL W GRIFFITH JR   PATRICK M GRIFFITH   RANDON L GRIFFITH   SHERMAN C GRIFFITH   TIMOTHY L GRIFFITH   
WILLIAM J GRIFFITH   SHIRLEY-ANN GRIFFITH-MAYERS   DANIEL P GRIFFITHS   JAYDA G GRIFFITHS   GRAHAM A GRIGELIS   MARY KATHRYN GRIGG   BRYAN E GRIGGS   CALEB G GRIGGS   DAVID B GRIGGS   FRANCIS W GRIGGS   GARY GRIGGS III   
JOHNNY C GRIGGS   JOSEPH L GRIGGS JR   LUKE A GRIGGS   RYAN B GRIGGS   SHANNON K GRIGGS   WILLIAM S GRIGGS   SAMUEL G GRIGSBY   JUAN GRIJALVA ARRIETA   CHARLES GRIM   JASON D GRIMES   JOHN S GRIMES   JAMES L GRIMM   
JOHN J GRIMM   MARGARETTA C GRIMM   JAMES L GRIMMER   KATHLEEN M GRIMMER   GERALD D GRINAGER   SEAN E GRINNELL   RANDY R GRISHAM   HEATHER RENEE GRISSOM   JERRY D GRISSOM   LAWRENCE E GRISSOM   TIMOTHY GRISSOM   
JASON P GRIZZARD   CHARLES E GROCE   WILLIAM M GROEN II   APRIL S GROESCHELL   KATHY GROLL   THOMAS J GROLL   GREGORY P GROMEK   JANE GRONHOLM   DEVIN D GRONLEY   WILLIAM H GRONNIGER   AVA T GROOMS   CHAD W GROOMS   
PHIL D GROOVER   JUSTIN E GROSCHE   ROY ELSON GROSE   FRANK M GROSS   GREG M GROSS   ROBERT M GROSS   ERIC F GROSSMANN   KELCEY M GROTE   LONNIE L GROTHE   JESSE BRYAN GROULX   GARY STEVEN GROUNDS   
BRIAN K GRUBB   TERRY A GRUBB   DARRELL M GRUBBS   JAY A GRUBBS   VICKIE ELAINE GRUBBS   WILLIAM R GRUBBS   MARKUS GRUBE   MICHAEL S GRUBEN   PAUL H GRUBER   JOHN M GRUBICH   MANFRED P GRUENING   SUSAN GRUENING   
COREY GRUHL   ROBERT LEE GRUMBLING   CHARLES A GRUNDY   SUSAN WILCOX GRUNDY   LOUIS R GRUTELL   JASON L GRUVER   STUART GRZENKOWICZ   THOMAS A GRZESIAK   MARIA GUADALUPE RIOS   ALFREDO GUAJARDO   
JUAN V GUAJARDO   HECTOR R GUARDADO   CHUCK A GUBBELS   JERLYN K GUBBELS   LAREE E GUBBELS   CHARLES HENRY GUDGEL   IAN R GUDGEON   DANIEL GUDINO BECERRA   JOSE LUIS GUERECA   TEOBALDO GUERECA-MENDEZ   
FIDEL GUERRA-MORADO   JESUS R GUERRERO   FREDY GUEVARA   JOSE LR GUEVARA   ROBERTO GUEVARA   ANDRE MARQUETTE GUICE   LEONARD GUICE   RONNIE P GUIDRY   BRADLEY T GUILFORD   LEE W GUILTNER   DAVID S GUIMARAES   
DONALD L GUIMOND   JEREMY K GUIN   JOHN M GUIN   M RAYMOND GUINA   NICHOLAS GUINDON   LARRY D GUINN   RAYNOLD GUIRAND   LUTHER A GUISINGER   KRISTEN M GUISTI   KRZYSZTOF GUJA   ERNIE GULACSI   KATIE GULLAND   
ADAM GULLETT   JOHN A GULLEY   JOHN A GULLEY   TREVOR GULLICK   A E GULLION   TODD M GUMMER   RAGAVENDHIRAN GUNASEKARAN   N C GUNAWARDENA   WILLIAM L GUNDER   STEPHEN E GUNDERMAN   MARK S GUNDLING   
CHRISTOPHER M GUNN   COREY GUNNELL   GAYLEN P GUNNELL   DOUGLAS R GUNSON   DARREL B GUNTER   JAMES R GUNTER SR   SYLVESTER E GUNTER   MELVIN H GURGANUS   CHAD J GURICA   AARON P GURLEY   JEREMY F GURLEY   
JUSTIN GURLEY   MICHAEL S GURLEY   STEWART B GURLEY   DOLORES GURNSEY   BRYAN GURR   ROBIN GURRAH   JOSE L GURROLA SILLAS   P GURUSAMY   ERIC C GUSTAFSON   ROSS M GUTHRIE   RYAN J GUTHRIE   STEPHEN F GUTHRIE   
BRENDA A GUTIERREZ   GENARO GUTIERREZ   JESUS S GUTIERREZ   LUIS E GUTIERREZ   ROBERTO GUTIERREZ   SANTOS GUTIERREZ   SANTOS G GUTIERREZ   STANLEY GUTIERREZ   STEPHANIE A GUTIERREZ   ALEXEI GUTIERREZ ESTRADA   
HILARIO GUTIERREZ SANCHEZ   J C GUTIERREZ VERA   DEBRA GUTIERREZ-MYERS   TRACY M GUTMAN   DANIEL GUY   DARRYL F GUY   JOE N GUY   JUSTIN D GUY   REGINALD G GUY   RONALD W GUY   ZACHARY D GUY   RICHARD D GUYER   
TRACY M GUYETTE   WILLIAM J GUYLE   ROGER L GUYNN   JASON L GUYTON   BERNARD P GUZEWICZ JR   PAUL E GUZEWICZ   SHAWN MICHAEL GUZEWICZ   ANSELMO GUZMAN   ANTONIO V GUZMAN   CLAUDIO A GUZMAN   FELIPE GUZMAN   
GUILLERMINO GUZMAN   JULIO GUZMAN   OMAR GUZMAN-CRUZ   CHASE GWILLIAM   KEITH A HAAKER   THOMAS HACH   ROLAND HACHE   BRIAN HACHEY   GERALD HACHEY   JOSEPH HACHEY   KATHLEEN HACHEZ   DAVID W HACKETT   
NADRA D HACKNEY   RONALD D HADAWAY   GREGORY WAYNE HADBERG   ALAN MARVIN HADDAWAY JR   LYALL C HADDEN   RODNEY L HADDEN   BROCK ALAN HADDOCK   MORRIS K HADDOCK   KEITH A HADFIELD   JAMES W HADLEY   
CHRISTOPHER J HAERBIG   ROBERT L HAFER   DIANE J HAFF   SHANE M HAFFKE   CHRISTOPHER HAFNER   JOHN D HAGAMAN   MICHAEL W HAGEMEIER   JORDAN D HAGEMEYER   GARY HAGEN   BEATE I HAGER   DENNIS M HAGER   
CHRIS M HAGGARD   JOHN HAGLER   DAVID W HAGLUND   LANE C HAGOOD    P CRAIG HAGOPIAN   JILL E HAGUE-KADUK   RICHARD J HAHN   SHARON HAHN   DANIEL BLAKE HAHS   EBONY EYVETTE HAIGLER   KAREN M HAIGLER   KEVIN T HAILEY   
JAMES J HAINES   CHRISTOPHER R HAINLINE   DONALD HAYWORD HAIRE   TERRY H HAIRSTON   MARK WILLIAM HAITZ   SHERRY L HAKE   CHARLES M HALBERG   ROBERT L HALBERT   TERESA A HALCOMB   BARRY LYNN HALE   CHRISTOPHER J HALE   
DAVID M HALE   GEORGE ALBERT HALE III   JEFFREY A HALE   RICKEY H HALE   ROGER W HALE   SPENCER S HALE   JOSEPH H HALENKAMP   FRANK HALES   JOHN DAVID HALES   MICHELE HALES   DENNIS A HALFORD   ANAMARIE R HALL   
BRYAN J HALL   CHARLES H HALL II   CHENITA J HALL   CHRISTOPHER M HALL   DANA HALL   DANNY S HALL JR   DAVID W HALL   DENNIS W HALL   DONALD G HALL JR   DONALD W HALL   GREGORY HALL   JAMES N HALL   JAMES THOMAS HALL   
JEFFREY B HALL   JEREMY W HALL   JIMMY B HALL   KEITH HALL   KIM C HALL   LADD R HALL   MATTHEW J HALL   MICHAEL W HALL   MICHAEL W HALL   MICHELLE HALL   NORMAN D HALL   PAUL HALL   RODNEY S HALL   SCOTT M HALL   
SHAUNDA L HALL   STEPHEN W HALL   TIMOTHY JAMES HALL   WILLIAM HALL   WILLIAM L HALL II   WILLIAM V HALL   JAWAD Y HALLAQ   DANE E HALSEY   JIM L HALSEY   KYLE J HALSEY   GREGORY A HALTERMAN   DON L HALTINER   
DENNIS O HALTOM   JASON H HALTOM   ANTHONY B HAM   JAMES E HAM   KEVIN HAM   LINDA G HAM   RICHARD L HAM   WILLIAM N HAM   GARY L HAMAND   DOUGLAS HAMBERGER   JOSEPH C HAMBERLIN   PHILLIP W HAMBERLIN   
CHAD G HAMBLEN   AMANDA HAMBLIN   DAVID C HAMBLIN   DANNY A HAMBY   LUKE A HAMBY   CHRIS S HAMEL   SCOTT E HAMER   JIMMY K HAMES   ANGELA C HAMILTON   BARRY ALAN HAMILTON   BRANDON J HAMILTON   CHARLES A HAMILTON   
COLBY HAMILTON   D CRICKET HAMILTON   DONAVON A HAMILTON   DWAYNE C HAMILTON   JANICE C HAMILTON   JOEL HAMILTON   JOHN R HAMILTON   MARK JASON HAMILTON   ROB S HAMILTON   SALLY HAMILTON   SAMUAL L HAMILTON   
SHAUN H HAMILTON   JEREME JOE HAMLETT   LEROY HAMLIN   WILLIAM C HAMLIN   JULIAN R HAMM   MICKEY L HAMM   JAMES RUSSELL HAMMELL   RONALD B HAMMETT   CLAYTON B HAMMOCK   HUEL D HAMMOCK JR   CARL DANIEL HAMMON   
ALLEN HAMMOND   COREY W HAMMOND   MATTHEW Q HAMMOND   PLEMMON HAMMOND   THOMAS L HAMMOND   CATHY ROSE HAMMONDS   FERRES J HAMMONDS   RONALD HAMMONDS   CRAIG A HAMNER   BRENT A HAMPTON   
DEDRICK D HAMPTON   ERIC T HAMPTON   GUY L HAMPTON   JASON HAMPTON   JEFFREY A HAMPTON   JESSE M HAMPTON   WILLIAM M HAMPTON   MARC C HAMSON   BO HAN   TIMOTHY HAN   JENNIFER HANAKEE   JERRY D HANCE   
DWAYNE HANCOCK   SHAWN T HANCOCK   WAYNE P HANCOCK SR   DANIEL I HANDLER   MITCHELL E HANDLEY   PAULA N HANDLEY   ROGER E HANDLEY   ROGER JARED HANDLEY   BRETT E HANDY   GREGORY W HANEY   RYAN PAUL HANEY   
MIKE V HANK   RYAN M HANK   TONY M HANKERSON   ANTHONY HANKINS   STEVEN W HANKINS   DARNISE HANKS   THOMAS A HANKS   JAMES HANKS JR   JASON K HANLEY   KATHY THERESA HANLEY   THOMAS HANLEY   ROBERT W HANLIN   
STERLING HANN   COLIN P HANNA   DARREN L HANNA   GREG L HANNA   KELVIN A HANNA   KYLE T HANNA   ROBERT C HANNA   HOWARD D HANNAH   ROBERT D HANNAH   IVAN L HANNERS   NOAH HANNERS   CHAD P HANNIGAN   JAMIE T HANNIS   
SARAH K HANNON   MARK H HANSELL   ANITA HANSEN   BLAINE HANSEN   BRUCE N HANSEN   CARMEN N HANSEN   CHRISTIAN N HANSEN   DAVID HANSEN   ERIC E HANSEN   JACOB L HANSEN   JASON HANSEN   JESSE G HANSEN   



JOHN PAUL HANSEN   JUSTIN R HANSEN   KELLY G HANSEN   LAMONT K HANSEN   LYNN J HANSEN   MICHAEL D HANSEN   MICHAEL E HANSEN   RILEY C HANSEN   RONALD HANSEN   SCOTT R HANSEN   STEVEN B HANSEN   TED HANSEN   
TODD L HANSEN   WESLEY HANSEN   CHADLEY E HANSON   CHRISTIAN T HANSON   JASON L HANSON   TERESA C HANSON   TRAVIS J HANSON   SUNIL B HANUMANTE   DANIEL K HARADA   JOSHUA HARAGOS   CHRISTOPHER HARBAUGH   
SHERRILL L HARBER   KENNETH L HARBISON   WAYNE J HARBOUR   JASON A HARDAGE   JOHN G HARDEE   JOHN HARDEN   JOHN W HARDEN   RICKY C HARDEN   RAMESH HARDEO   JESSICA A HARDER   ERIC M HARDIE   LISA D HARDIMAN   
CAMRON ASHLY HARDIN   HEATH HARDIN   HUBERT ANTHONY HARDIN   WESLEY C HARDIN   JACK S HARDING JR   RACHAEL HARDING   RICHARD HARDING   ROBERT A HARDING   RYAN HARDING   MARK HARDMAN   GARY D HARDWICK   
MICHAEL A HARDWICK   SHAUN J HARDWICK   BENJAMIN L HARDY   KURT D HARDY   ROBERT HARDY   RONALD HARDY   SHAWN HARDY   DENNIS L HARE   NANCY HARE   RICHARD LEE HARGRAVE   WILLIAM L HARKCOM   DEAN A HARKEY   
MARVIN HARKINS   ROBERT M HARKINS   HOWARD J HARKNESS   JENNIFER J HARKNESS   P CRAIG HARKNESS   DEAN LEE HARLAMERT   RYAN WALLACE HARLAMERT   MICHAEL G HARLAN   BRADLEY C HARLAND   DAVID HARLAND   
BRIAN K HARLESS   ROBERT T HARLESTON   JEANNE M HARLEY   DAVID C HARLLEE   DOUGLAS W HARLOW   ERNEST M HARLOW   GEORGE W HARLOW III   RICKY HARLOW JR   RICKY HARLOW SR   DENNIS E HARMEIER   BRIAN A HARMES   
DUSTIN A HARMES   JUSTIN A HARMES   STEVE HARMS   MARCUS A HAROLD   JACKIE E HARP   JACK R HARPENAU   BRANDON HARPER   CHASE W HARPER   DEAN SHAUN HARPER   DENISE HARPER   DONOVAN KEITH HARPER   GABRIEL R HARPER   
JARED K HARPER   JEFFREY HARPER   KEITH B HARPER   MARTIN L HARPER   PAUL W HARPER   SAM A HARPER   TIMOTHY M HARPER   ALAN E HARRELL   CHRISTOPHER W HARRELL   CINDY J HARRELL   DONNIE R HARRELL   GREGORY K HARRELL   
HEWITT P HARRELL   JASON B HARRELL   JASON K HARRELL   JEREMY B HARRELL   MICHAEL H HARRELL   ROCHELLE M HARRELL   SHERROD T HARRELL   WILLIAM RAY HARRELL   TERRY P HARRIMAN   HOLLY HARRINGTON   JOHNNY J HARRINGTON   
WALTER P HARRINGTON   WALTER P HARRINGTON   ANDRAE M HARRIS   ANDRE’ HARRIS   ANGELO B HARRIS   ANTHONY E HARRIS   BENNY L HARRIS   BERNARD HARRIS   BRADLEY CHRISTOPHER HARRIS   BRANDON L HARRIS   
BRIAN EDWARD HARRIS   CLINT J HARRIS   CYNTHIA J HARRIS   DARRIN J HARRIS   DERWIN M HARRIS   DON H HARRIS   ERICS L HARRIS   GREGORY HARRIS   HAROLD F HARRIS III   JERRY HARRIS   JESSE L HARRIS   JOHN D HARRIS   
JOHN HARRIS   JONATHON HEATH HARRIS   KENT HARRIS   LYNN R HARRIS   MARK D HARRIS   MARK D HARRIS   MARK W HARRIS   MARVIN E HARRIS   MARY K HARRIS   MICHAEL HARRIS   MICHAEL LEE HARRIS   NICHOLAS L HARRIS   
ROBERT S HARRIS   RODNEY G HARRIS   ROYCE G HARRIS   RYAN J HARRIS   SAMUEL T HARRIS   SCOTT A HARRIS   SCOTT W HARRIS   SEDRICK ARNESS HARRIS   STACEY HARRIS   TERRY L HARRIS   TRAVIS HARRIS   TWANA W HARRIS   
WESLEY PAUL HARRIS   WILLIAM H HARRIS   WILLIE B HARRIS   AARON HARRISON   ALFONSER HARRISON   BRUCE A HARRISON   CHRISTOPHER D HARRISON   D TRENT HARRISON   DANIEL J HARRISON   DAVID E HARRISON   DEVON G HARRISON   
DIANA L HARRISON   EDWARD JEROME HARRISON   GEORGE PERCELL HARRISON   JERRY W HARRISON   JON H HARRISON   JONATHAN DEE HARRISON   KENNETH HARRISON   MICHAEL V HARRISON   RICALDO B HARRISON   RODNEY W HARRISON   
SUZANNE M HARRISON   TERRI HARRISON   TERRI-LYNN HARRISON   TERINI HARRISON-FORD   DOUGLAS E HARROUN   RICK W HARROUN   JOHN W HARRY   BRENDA M HART   CALVIN D HART   DANIEL E HART   GREGORY L HART   KAREN S HART   
LESLIE W HART   LESTER L HART   RICKEY HART   SCOTT A HART   DAVID HARTER   KELLY HARTER   ROBERT A HARTER   ROBERT W HARTER JR   STEPHEN MARTIN HARTER   LARRY NOBLE HARTGRAVES   PAUL JAY HARTGROVE   SEAN HARTIGAN   
DUANE N HARTIN   TERRY A HARTLE   ALVIN E HARTLEY   CHARLES MATTHEW HARTLEY   DANIEL E HARTLEY   STEVEN T HARTLEY   THOMAS L HARTLEY   BRIAN K HARTLIN   ERIC G HARTMAN   JEFFREY M HARTMAN   PENNY G HARTMAN   
STEVEN D HARTNETT   DARWIN D HARTS   BENJAMIN FRANKLIN HARTSFIELD   NATHANIEL A HARTUNG   DALE L HARTWICK   CAROL L HARTWIG   DARREN HARTZ   ROBIN H HARTZELL   ROBERT J HARVEL   DONALD HARVEY   DONALD HARVEY   
KEVIN HARVEY   SAMUEL K HARVEY   JASON SCOTT HARVILLE   MICKY C HARVILLE   WILLIAM S HARVOTH   DERIC L HARWOOD   TERESA A HASEBROOCK   CHAD R HASELDEN   JOSEPH R HASELDEN   LUKE T HASELL   NERMIN HASIFIC   
BRAD J HASKINS   JANICE E HASKINS   KENNETH B HASKINS   WILLIAM N HASKINS   SAMUEL R HASLAM   DOUGLAS W HASLETT   TIAGO HASSAN   



JOHN H JACOBSON   JOSHUA A JACOBSON   RANDY L JACOBSON   DAVID A JACOBUS   JOSEPH L JACQUART   KENNETH JACQUAY   WILLIAM JACQUAY   FILIBERTO JACUINDE   ASHISH S JADHAV   DAVID E JAEGER   SHORON D JAEGER   
ABHINASH JAGAI   TAMILSELVAN JAGANANTHAN   KRISHNA JAGATRAM   JACOB A JAGO   KEVIN JAGODZINSKI   BRUCE P JAHN   SUCHI JAIN   STANLEY R JAKES   ROBERT L JAKWAY   JOSEPH N JALLOW   FRID-ERIC JAMALI   ALAN D JAMES   
BILL JAMES   BRYAN R JAMES   DALLAS L JAMES   DEBRA JAMES   DENNIS JAMES   ERIC JAMES   GEORGE L JAMES JR   GREGORY CEASAR JAMES   JOHN TIMOTHY JAMES   KATHERINE G JAMES   KEITH JAMES   RICHARD B JAMES   
RONNIE D JAMES SR   SARAH G JAMES   SCOTT K JAMES   STANBORN M JAMES   STEVEN M JAMES   JARRED D JAMISON   TERRANCE W JAMISON   SHANE M JAMNIK   DAVID JANAS   JOSE JANDRES   JAGPAL JANDU   SARJIT JANDU   
ANN JANNECK   ERIC N JANNEY   CHRISTOPHER M JANSEN   DEL G JANSEN   WAYNE JANSEN   BARBARA V JANSON   JEFFREY L JANSON   JACOB JARAMILLO   DALLAS N JARRED   DAVID JARRETT   MICHAEL EUGENE JARRETT   RICHARD E JARRETT   
JASON JASCOT   CRAIG ELIOTT JASIN   CHRIS JASPER JR   DAVID JASPER   DAVID L JASPER   JOSEPH J JASTREBOSKI   ALOYSIUS A JAWORSKI   KENNETH M JAY   NICK JAYNES   RICK JAYNES   WILLIAM G JAYROE JR   LOUIS JAZBEC   
EVELYNE ELIE JEANBART   TERCIA F JEANS   NORMAN A JEDLICKA   DAVID J JEDRA   TED JEDRZEJEWICZ   ASA O JEFFCOAT III   ELVIN LEE JEFFCOAT   JUSTIN JEFFCOAT   TERRY E JEFFERS   JACQUELINE A JEFFERSON   



JOHN H JACOBSON   JOSHUA A JACOBSON   RANDY L JACOBSON   DAVID A JACOBUS   JOSEPH L JACQUART   KENNETH JACQUAY   WILLIAM JACQUAY   FILIBERTO JACUINDE   ASHISH S JADHAV   DAVID E JAEGER   SHORON D JAEGER   
ABHINASH JAGAI   TAMILSELVAN JAGANANTHAN   KRISHNA JAGATRAM   JACOB A JAGO   KEVIN JAGODZINSKI   BRUCE P JAHN   SUCHI JAIN   STANLEY R JAKES   ROBERT L JAKWAY   JOSEPH N JALLOW   FRID-ERIC JAMALI   ALAN D JAMES   
BILL JAMES   BRYAN R JAMES   DALLAS L JAMES   DEBRA JAMES   DENNIS JAMES   ERIC JAMES   GEORGE L JAMES JR   GREGORY CEASAR JAMES   JOHN TIMOTHY JAMES   KATHERINE G JAMES   KEITH JAMES   RICHARD B JAMES   
RONNIE D JAMES SR   SARAH G JAMES   SCOTT K JAMES   STANBORN M JAMES   STEVEN M JAMES   JARRED D JAMISON   TERRANCE W JAMISON   SHANE M JAMNIK   DAVID JANAS   JOSE JANDRES   JAGPAL JANDU   SARJIT JANDU   
ANN JANNECK   ERIC N JANNEY   CHRISTOPHER M JANSEN   DEL G JANSEN   WAYNE JANSEN   BARBARA V JANSON   JEFFREY L JANSON   JACOB JARAMILLO   DALLAS N JARRED   DAVID JARRETT   MICHAEL EUGENE JARRETT   RICHARD E JARRETT   
JASON JASCOT   CRAIG ELIOTT JASIN   CHRIS JASPER JR   DAVID JASPER   DAVID L JASPER   JOSEPH J JASTREBOSKI   ALOYSIUS A JAWORSKI   KENNETH M JAY   NICK JAYNES   RICK JAYNES   WILLIAM G JAYROE JR   LOUIS JAZBEC   
EVELYNE ELIE JEANBART   TERCIA F JEANS   NORMAN A JEDLICKA   DAVID J JEDRA   TED JEDRZEJEWICZ   ASA O JEFFCOAT III   ELVIN LEE JEFFCOAT   JUSTIN JEFFCOAT   TERRY E JEFFERS   JACQUELINE A JEFFERSON   JEROME E JEFFERSON SR   
KATHY D JEFFERSON   ROGER C JEFFERSON   TERRY JEFFERSON   MICHAEL D JEFFORDS   SIDNEY F JEFFORDS   WILLIE L JEFFORDS   KYLE J JEFFREY   THOMAS M JEFFREY   SATHISHKUMAR JEGANATHAN   PRABHA JEGANNATHAN   
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CUONG Q TRAN   SEAN M TRANI   BAKARY TRAORE   LASSANA TRAORE   MAMADOU TRAORE   OUSMANE TRAORE   PETER M TRAPANI   CHRISTOPHE MICHAEL TRAPP   CLIFFORD R TRAPP   JOSHUA A TRAPP   LINDA M TRAPP   RUSSELL G TRASK   
IVAN TRAVER   MICHAEL J TRAVIS   RODNEY W TRAVIS   STAN TRAVIS   STANLEY TRAVIS   WADE TRAVIS   BILL RIVES TRAWICK JR   TIM L TRAYLOR   JEFFREY A TREADWAY   CLINT W TREASE   J SCOTT TREECE   LEROY L TREESH   RYAN TREESH   
TODD TREESH   DENIS TREMBLAY   JACQUES TREMBLAY   JEFFREY TREMBLAY   PIERRE TREMBLAY   JERRY E TRENARY   JOHN TRESSA   CHRISTOPHER A TRESSLER   MARTIN G TREVILLIAN   FRANCISCO R TREVINO   JONATHAN D TREVINO   
PAOLO M TREVISAN   JERRY LEE TRIBLE   NICHOLAS TRICE   WILLIAM P TRICE   TRIFON I TRIFONOV   ROY JAMES TRIMBLE   KENNETH TRINIDAD   LUIS RAMON TRINIDAD   MARIO A TRINIDAD   EUGENE TRIPLETT   FORREST JEFFERY TRIPOD   
DARREN TRIPP   BRIAN J TROCANO   ANNA E TROEH   THOMAS P TROLSON   GARRETT J TROMBI   MARCOS A TRONCOSO   ERICA R TROTMAN   JEFFERY L TROTMAN   JOSHUA K TROTMAN   KEVIN D TROUSDALE   ANTHONY M TROUT   
JEFFREY LAVINE TROUT   JEFFRY DAVID TROUT   MELISSA M TROUT   WILLIAM J TROUT   AARON J TROUTMAN   KRISTIE FORD TROUTMAN   TERRY W TROUTMAN   TRACY D TROUTMAN   AUTUMN A TROUTT   DAVID L TROUTT   WESLEY L TROWBRIDGE   
JASON D TRUAX   JACK L TRUDEAU   MELODY J TRUDEAU   TIMOTHY W TRUDELL   BRADFORD G TRUE   JACK D TRUEBLOOD III   MICHAEL A TRUELOVE   MICHAEL G TRUESDELL   DONALD TRUFANT   BENJAMIN TRUJILLO   DAVID TRUJILLO   
MARIE TRUMAN   BRYSON TRUMBLE   MICHAEL P TRUSCHKA   SCOTT A TRUSZKOWSKI   ISABEL G TRYTHALL   CHARLES TSHIKO   JIM M TSIRIKOS   TAUVAO TUALA   TONY R TUBBS   BRAD TUCK   SEAN TUCK   ADAM KYLE TUCKER   
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PETER TUITEL JR   VINCENT A TULACRO   PHILLIP J TULARAKSA   ROBERT R TUNIN   MORRIS LEWIS TUNNELL JR   WILLIAM TUPLIN   DON TUPPER   MATTHEW P TURCOTTE   PATRICK TURCOTTE   FERNAND TURGEON   NORMAN G TURGON   
JOHN TURK   STEPHEN B TURLEY   CHRISTINE TURMAINE   MICHAEL W TURNAGE   JOHN E TURNBOW   ANGELO A TURNER   BOBBY TRAVIS TURNER   BYRON K TURNER   CARLOS EUGENE TURNER   CHARLES L TURNER   CHARLES R TURNER   
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SCOTT A TURNER   STEPHEN L TURNER   TAMMY S TURNER   TERRY AUSTIN TURNER   TIM R TURNER   W MARK TURNER SR   ZACHARY L TURNER SR   JIMMY N TURNER JR   WAYNE D TURNEY   QUINNTON W TURNIPSEED   JOHN C TUROSE   
MICHAEL R TURVEY   DIANE L TUTTLE   LINDA A TUTTLE   SCOTT J TUTTLE   LARRY D TWEEDY   JEFF TWIGG   BENJAMIN D TWINE   BENJAMIN A TYE   DALLAS D TYLER   KEVIN DWIGHT TYLER   OWEN W TYLER   STEPHEN TYLER   ELDON TYMS   
JAMES O TYNER III   JAMES O TYNER JR   DAVID A TYO   TOMMY L TYO   MARY B TYSON   CHRISTOPHER L TYUS   BURKE N UDY   DUSTY UDY   EILEEN D UDY   REESE N UDY   WESLEY D UDY   MONIQUE UELMEN   ALLAN W UETTWILLER   
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ALFRED F URSO JR   WALTER L USREY   JOSHUA ROBERT USSERY   D CHAD UTERMARK   SHERMAN L UTLEY   THOMAS E UTT   LOWELL G UTTECHT   SCOTT M UYEMATSU   SRIDHARAN V   DENNIS VADASZ   CODY J VADEBONCOEUR   
PHILLIP GREGORY VADEN   JAYAPRAKASH VADIVELU   DANIEL VAILLANT   WAYNE VAILLANT   PAUL VAIVAI   NICOLE L VALDEZ   ROBERT J VALDEZ   JOSE G VALDIVIA   JOSE O VALENCIA-ROJAS   ROBERT G VALENTI   JEFFREY VALENTIN   
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GARRY D VARWIG   ALBAR VASQUEZ   DARREN VASQUEZ   FORTINO VASQUEZ   GABRIEL J VASQUEZ   JOSEPH D VASQUEZ   JULIE C VASQUEZ   ALAN EUGENE VASSAR   JERRY WAYNE VASSAR   PHILLIP N VASSAR   JOHN DAVID VASSEL   
VITHUL VASU   BILL M VAUGHAN II   DAVID CHARLES VAUGHAN   JERMAINE MARTISE VAUGHAN   MIKE W VAUGHAN   CHANCE C VAUGHN   DANNY W VAUGHN JR   DARRELL D VAUGHN JR   JEFFREY VAUGHN   JOSHUA R VAUGHN   KEITH B VAUGHN   
PATRICK L VAUGHN   PAUL E VAUGHN   ROBERT L VAUGHN SR   ROBERT WAYNE VAUGHN   ROGER DOYLE VAUGHN   TERRY L VAUGHN   CHRISTOPHER S VAUGHT   KATHY A VAUGHT   MELISSA L VAUGHT   GLEN A VAUSE   EDGAR S VAZQUEZ   
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DONALD VAL VENABLE   GORDON R VENABLE   ROGER L VENABLE   ALEJANDRO VENEGAS   RAVANAIAN VENGATAMUNI   DAVID A VENSEL   LUIS M VERA   ALBERTO VERA-MALDONADO   CRAIG W VERBERNE   JAY VERBURG   DAVID J VERDI   
ARLENE G VEREEN   CHARLES F VERETTE   GUILLERMO VEREZ   SANTIAGO VEREZ   TOMAS VERGARA   LANCE A VERICKER   PETER PHILLIP VERMETTE   RONALD P VERMETTE   MICHAEL A VERMILLION   JUAN VERNAL   KEITH N VERNAREC   
ARMANDO VERNON   BRYAN T VERNON   JEFFERY VERNON   M SHANE VERNON   WILLIAM SHAWN VERNON   RONALD J VESKRNA   DEBRA W VESS   MARK VEST   DANIEL B VESTAL   CANDICE C VETOR   COLIN VEY   BRIAN B VICKERS   
GREGORY ALLEN VICKERS   SHARON LYNN VICKERSON   CHRISTY L VICKNAIR   VINCENT VIDAURRE   JESUS VIERA   CHARLES R VIGIL   ROBERT B VIGNJEVIC   KEITH D VILDERS   ANTHONY VILDOSOLA   LIZETEE VILLA   TONI VILLAFUERTE   
KEITH VILLAGRANA   PABLO VILLAGRANA   DARIO VILLALOBOS   GUADALUPE A VILLALOBOS   GERARDO VILLALPANDO   CEAZAR V VILLANUEVA   EDGAR VILLARREAL   JOSE J VILLARREAL   JOSE R VILLARREAL   U ANTONIO VILLARREAL   
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VICTOR VILLEGAS   JUAN A VILLELA   DAVID VILLESCAS   HOWARD VINCENT   JESSIE S VINCENT   STEVEN L VINCENT   MICHAEL BLANE VINES   AJAI VINOD   JAYMIN G VINSON   JERRELL G VINSON   LYNN A VIOX   DON C VIRGIES   NATHANIEL VIRGIL   
STANLEY D VIRTUE III   PORFIRIO VISAYA   LUIS A VISCARRONDO   CHRISTOPHER VISENTIN   SCOTT J VISGAR   JAYPRAKASH I VISHWAKARMA   EVELYN VISSER   KENNETH L VISSERING   VIJAYKUMAR VISWANATHAN   REFUGIO VITELA   

LUCIANO VITELLO   MARK T VITT   JOHNNY VIVALDO   JAY VIVIER   LORETTA VIZBARAS   THOMAS C VIZENOR   ROBERT VODDEN   KEVIN J VOECKS   GERALD I VOGEL   JAY D VOGEL   LEONARD H VOGEL   ROBERT T VOGEL   STEVEN M VOGEL   
TYRONE J VOGEL   CHRISTOPHER G VOGT   DAVE J VOLK   NICHOLAS W VOLK   RONALD J VOLK   ERNEST M VOLKMAN   CHARLES D VOLQUARDSEN   ANDREW S VON FLUE   GEORGE VON ROTZ   DOUGLAS A VONDERHAAR   ROBIN L VONDRAK   
SONXAY VONGNAKHONE   DOUG E VONHANDORF   WILLIAM G VORDERER   DEANNE L VORNHAGEN   WESTON VOS   BRADLEY ZANE VOSS   GARY D VOSS   JESSIE K VOSS   ZANE TIMOTHY VOSS   LAWRENCE J VOTRUBA   DARIN R VOUGH   DAVID G VOUGHT   
WAYNE ARTHUR VOUT   RICHARD VOYER   DAN VRAKELA   MARK J VRBKA   JOHN VUCKOVICH   JAMES F VUILLEMOT   JELENA VUKAS   RONALD VUMBACK JR   DOUGLAS J VYHLIDAL   RAYMOND VYTLACIL   KYLE A WAAK   NANCY J WABY   
RAY WACHEL   ERIC D WACHHOLTZ   MARK J WACHHOLTZ   JAMES B WACHTER   JASON J WACHTER   JEDIDIAH R WACHTER   BRADLEY S WADDELL   CLAUDE WESLEY WADDELL   J K WADDELL   JASON DOUGLAS WADDELL   PAUL W WADDELL   
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CHARLES W WALLACE   CHARLOTTE H WALLACE   EARL O WALLACE   HOWARD J WALLACE III   JEFFREY TYLER WALLACE   JOHN WALLACE   JOSHUA WALLACE   KEITH WALLACE   LYNN A WALLACE   MICHAEL WALLACE   MICHAEL ERIC WALLACE JR   
QUENCY DEWAYNE WALLACE   REBECCA HOPE WALLACE   ROBERT H WALLACE   ROBERT J WALLACE JR   STEVE M WALLACE   WAYNE WALLACE   WILLIAM D WALLACE   WILLIAM H WALLACE   DOUGLAS M WALLACH JR   JUSTIN DAVID WALLEN   
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DENNIS L WALTERS   JOHN L WALTERS   KELLY B WALTERS   PETER L WALTERS   RUSSELL L WALTERS   TRAVIS G WALTERS   JAMES H WALTON JR   JON DAVID WALTON   LEONARD D WALTON   PHIL WALTON   RANDALL G WALTON   TOMMY L WALTON   
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MARK V WEBB   MICHAEL C WEBB   MICHELLE L WEBB   RAYMOND WEBB   STEVEN W WEBB   MICHAEL E WEBBER   BRIAN R WEBER   COLLEEN T WEBER   DUANE WEBER   GARY D WEBER JR   GLORIA A WEBER   LANE L WEBER   ROBERT WEBER   
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